
fb ) F or the period  com m enc ing  on the date  h e reo f and end ing  at 5:00  p.m . (E aste rn  T im e) on January  24 , 2 0 12 (the  " Due P ilip en ce  Expiration T im e'"! the B u y er shall h av e  the 
r ig h t to  (i) co n d u c t o r cau se  to b e  c o n d u c te d , at the B u y e r 's  so le  cost, risk  and  ex p e n se , th e  in sp ec tio n s , te s ts , ex a m in a tio n s  and  s tu d ie s  in c o n n e c tio n  w ith  the D ilig e n c e  M atte rs  and  to  fu rth e r 
exam ine all ap p lica b le  reco rds re la ting  to the D iligence  M atters and (ii)  rev iew  and  approve the O pen S ch ed u les, including , w ithou t lim ita tion , the rev iew  and  approval o f  the T itle  A ffid av it by  the 
B u y er and the T itte  C o m p an ies . T h e  p ro v is io n s  o f  S ection  7 . 1 ab o v e shatl apply  to any in v estig a tio n s  o r in sp ectio n s  to be m ade by th e  B uyer.

(c) O n o r befo re  the D ue D iligence E xpira tion  T im e, the B u y er m ay notify  the S etters in w riting  that the B uyer o b jec ts  to (i) any D iligence M atters, inc tu d in g , w ithou t 
! im ita tion , o b jec tio n s  to m atters  set forth  in the ap p ticab te  title  reports or the su rveys, zon ing  re p o rts  o r en v iro n m en ta t reports (such  o b jec tio n s  are h e re in  re ferred  to as " Due D itipenrp  
O b je c tio n s" )  o r (ii)  any  o f  the O pen S ch ed u les  deliv ered  to  B u y er (such  o b jec tio n s  are  herein  re ferred  to as "O pen S chedu le  O h ie c tio n s" )  W ith  re sp ec t to any  D ue D ilig en ce  O b je c tio n s , the 
S e tle rsm a y  elec t by  w ritten  no tice  (such  n o tice , a " S etter's  E lec tio n ") to the B uyer w ith in  ten (10) B usiness D ays af te r receip t by the SeH ers o f  the D ue D ilig en ce  O b jec tio n s  (the  " S eller E lection 
R e sp o n s !  P a t s "), to e ith e r  (X ) undertake  a t its ex p en se  all necessary  ac tio n s  to  cu re th e  D ue D ilig en ce  O b jec tio n s , in w h ich  even t th e  S ellers  shatl e n d e a v o r to  cu re  su ch  D ue D ilig en ce  
O b jec tio n s  p rio r to the C tosing , or (Y ) no t to  cure such D ue D iligence O b jec tions. W ith  respect to any O pen Schedu te O b jec tions , S etters  m ay d e liv e r  a S e lle r 's  E lec tio n  to B u y er p rio r to  the 
S e lle r E lec tion  R esponse D ate to  e ither (X ) m odify  such  O pen Schedu le in a m anner accep tab te to  B uyer to cure the O pen S chedu le  O b jec tio n s  o r (Y ) no t m od ify  th e  O pen S chedu le  
O b jec tions, ] f  the S ellers do no t d e liv e r w ritten  no tice o fS e l le r 's  E lec tion  on or befo re  the S e lle r E lec tio n  R esp o n se  D a te , then the S e tte rs  shall be deem ed  to h av e  e lec ted  no t to cu re  su ch  D ue 
D itigcnce O b jec tio n s  or O pen S chedu te  O b jec tio n s , [ f  th e  S etters  elec t (o r are deem ed to have e te c ted ) no t to  cu re  any D ue D itigence O b jec tio n s  or O pen  S ch ed u te  O b jec tio n s , then  th e  B u y er 
m ay elect by w ritten  notice deliv ered  to the S ellers w ith in  five (5) B usiness D ays fo tlow ing  the S etter E lec tion  R esponse D ate (the  " B u y er E lec tion  R esponse  P a te  l  m  to te rm in ate  th is 
A g reem en t, in w h ich  ev e n t the C ash  D ep o sit shall be re tu rn ed  to  the B uyer, th e  G u aran ty  shalt te rm in a te  and the partie s h ere to  shatl hav e  no fu r th e r o b lig a tio n s  u n d er th is A g reem en t, e x c e p t fo r 
the o b lig a tio n s  o f  th is A g reem en t tha t ex p ressly  su rv iv e  the te rm ination  h ereo f; o r (2 ) ind icate to  the S ellers  th a t, no tw ith stan d in g  th e  D ue D ilig en ce  O b jec tio n s  o r O pen  S ch ed u le  O b jec tio n s , the 
B uyer shall n o t te rm inate  th is A g reem en t as a re su tt o f  such D ue D iligence O b jec tio n s  or O pen S ch ed u le  O b jec tio n s , in w h ich  even t alt D ue D itig en ce  O b jec tio n s  and  O pen S ch ed u le  O b jec tio n s  
shall be deem ed  w aived  and  th e  B uyer shall have no fu rth e r righ t to te rm in ate  th is  A g reem en t in connection  w ith  the D ilig en ce  M atters  or O pen  S ch ed u le  O b jec tio n s  (o th e r than  as o th erw ise  
p rov ided  h ere in ), ] f  the B u y er d o es  not d e liv e r w ritten  n o tice  o f  such e le c tio n  on o r be fo re  the B u y er E lec tio n  R esponse  D a le , then  th e  B u y er shall be d ee m ed  to hav e  e tec ted  no t to  te rm in a te  
this A greem en t pu rsu an t to th is Section  7 .2 (c ). ] f  the B u y er d o es  not d e tiv e r any D ue D iligence O b jec tions or O pen Schedu te O b jec tio n s  on o r befo re  the D ue D ilig en ce  E x p ira tio n  T im e , then  
the B u y er shall hav e  no righ t to te rm in a te  th is A g reem en t w ith  resp ect to the D ilig en ce  M atters o r  O pen S ch ed u le  O b jec tio n s  (o th e r  than as o th e rw ise  p ro v id ed  h e re in ). N o tw ith s ta n d in g  the 
B u y er's  righ t to d e liv e r D ue D iligence  O b jec tio n s  o r  O pen S chedu le  O b jec tio n s  o r o th e rw ise  d isap p ro v e o f  th e  D ue D itig en ce  M atters  o r O pen  S ch ed u le s  p u rsu a n t to  th is  S ec tio n  7 .2 (c ), the 
B uyer ex p ress ly  w aives its righ t to te rm in a te  th is  A g reem en t based  so te ty  upon a ch an g e in the B u y e r 's  in terna] in v estm en t g u id e lin es  re su ltin g  in an  in c re ase  in th e  ra te  o f  re tu rn  on a p ro p o se d  
in v estm en t o r the type o f  in v estm en t, and a ch an g e in the g en e ra l m arket co n d itio n s  ( in c lu d in g  capita l m arkets and  o th e r ex te rnal m acro  even ts).

the items set forth on S c h e i e  7 !  hereof (cotlectively, " Dilieencc Matters")  and the Open Schedules. The Sellers and D D R  shall provide Purchaser with Setters and D D R 's *c o m p te tf  versions o f
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re n t; (e ) th e  C o n tra c ts  and  any  o th e r d o cu m e n ts  o r  a g reem e n ts  a f fe c tin g  th e  A sse ts ; and (f) a!! o th e r m atters  o f  s ig n if ican c e  a ffec tin g  th e  A ssets .

Section 7.3 E xam ination: R eteases .

(a ) tn  en te rin g  in to  th is  A g reem en t, th e  B u y er has n o t been  induced  by and  has n o t re tie d  upo n  any  w ritten  o r o ra t rep rese n ta tio n s , w a rra n tie s  o r s ta te m e n ts , w h e th e r

AGREES TH A T T H E  A SSETS W ILLBE*SOLD AN D  CO N V EY ED  TO  (A N D  ACCEPTED BY ) TH E BUYER A T TH E CLOSING IN T H E  THEN EX ISTIN G  C O N D ITIO N  O F TH E A SSE T S, AS IS. 
W H ERE IS. W ITH  ALL FA U LTS, AN D  W ITH O U T ANY W R ITTEN  OR V E R B A L REPRESEN TA TIO N S O R W A RRA N T IES W H A TSO EV ER (IN CLU D IN G  T H E  IM PLIED  W A RR A N T Y  OF 
M E R C H A N T A B IL IT Y ), W H E T H E R  E X PR E SS  O R IM PLIED  O R  A R ISIN G  BY O PER A TIO N  O F LA W , o ther than the S etter G enera t R epresentations, S etter P roperty  R epresentations and D D R



(b) W IT H O U T  L IM IT IN G  T H E  G EN E R A L IT Y  O F  SEC T IO N  7 J(A ), EX C EPT FO R T H E  S E L L E R  G EN ERA L R EPR E SE N T A T IO N S AMD T H E  S E L L E R  P R O PE R T Y  
R E PR E SE N T A T IO N S, E A C H  S E L L E R  SPE C IF IC A L L Y  D ISC LA IM S, AND N E IT H E R  )T  N O R  ANY O T H E R  PE RSO N  (O T H E R  T H A N  D D R W IT H  R E SP E C T  T O  T H E  DDR 
R E PR E S E N T A T !O N S ) )S M A K IN G , ANY R E PR E S E N T A T IO N , W A RR A N T Y  O R  A SSU RA N CE W H A T S O E V E R  T O  T H E  B U Y ER  AN D  N O  W A R R A N T IE S  O R  R E P R E S E N T A T IO N S  O F  
ANY K IND O R  C H A R A C TER , E IT H E R  E X PR ESS O R  IM P L IE D , A R E  M A D E BY T H E  S E L L E R S OR R E L IE D  UPON BY T H E  BU Y ER W IT H  R E SPE C T  T O  T H E  STA TU S O F  T IT L E  T O  O R  
T H E  M A IN TEN A N C E. R E PA IR , C O N D IT IO N , D ESIG N  O R  M A R K E T A B IL IT Y  O F  T H E  PR O PE R T Y , O R  ANY PO R T IO N  T H E R E O F , IN CLU D IN G  BU T N O T L IM IT E D  T O  (A ) ANY 
IM P L IE D  O R  E X PR E SS  W A RR A N T Y  O F  M E R C H A N T A B IL IT Y , (B) ANY IM P L IE D  O R  E X PR ESS W A RR A N T Y  O F  F IT N E S S  F O R  A PA R T IC U L A R  P U R PO S E , (C ) ANY IM P L IE D  O R  
E X PR ESS W A RR A N T Y  O F C O N F O R M IT Y  T O  M O D EL S O R  SA M PLE S O F  M A T E R IA L S, (D) ANY R IG H T S  O F  T H E  B U Y ER  U N D ER A P PR O P R IA T E  S T A T U T E S T O  C L A IM  
D IM IN U TIO N  O F  C O N SID E R A T IO N . (E) ANY C LA IM  BY T H E  BUYER F O R  DAM A GES BECA U SE O F D E FE C T S, W H E T H E R  K N O W N  O R  U N K N O W N , W IT H  R E SP E C T  T O  T H E  
A SSETS, (F ) T H E  F IN A N C IA L  C O N D IT IO N  O R  PR O SP E C T S  O F  T H E  P R O P E R T IE S , (G) T H E  C O M PL IA N C E  O R  L A C K  T H E R E O F  O F  T H E  A SSE TS W IT H  A P PL IC A B L E  L A W  (H ) 
W H E T H E R  T H E  P R O P E R T IE S  C O N T A IN  A SB E ST O S, RA D O N  O R  ANY H A Z A RD O U S SU B STA N CES O R  H A R M F U L  O R  T O X IC  SU B STA N CES, O R  P E R T A IN IN G  T O  T H E  E X T E N T  
LO C A TIO N  O R  N ATURE O F  SAM E, IF  ANY. F U R T H E R , T O  T H E  EX TEN T TH A T  T H E  SE LLER S HAVE PRO V ID ED  T O  T H E  BUYER IN FO R M A T IO N , E X C E PT  F O R  T H E  S E L L E R  
G E N E R A L  R E PR E SE N T A T IO N S AND T H E  S E L L E R  P R O PE R T Y  R E PR E SE N T A T IO N S, T H E  SE LLER S M A K E  NO R E PR E SE N T A T IO N S O R  W A R R A N T IE S  W IT H  R E SP E C T  T O  T H E  
A C C U R A CY  O R  C O M PL E T E N E S S, M E T H O D O L O G Y  O F  P R E P A R A T IO N  O R  O T H E R W IS E  C O N C E R N IN G  T H E  C O N T E N T S O F  SU CH  IN FO R M A T IO N .

(c) W IT H O U T  L IM IT IN G  T H E  G E N E R A L IT Y  O F  S E C T IO N  7.3(A), EX C E PT  FO R  T H E  DDR R E PR E SE N T A T IO N S, DDR S PE C IF IC A L L Y  D ISC L A IM S, AND N E IT H E R  
IT NOR A N Y  O T H E R  PERSO N  (O T H E R  TH A N  T H E  SE L L E R S W IT H  R E SP E C T  T O  T H E  S E L L E R  G EN ERA L R E PR E SE N T A T IO N S AND T H E  S E L L E R  P R O PE R T Y  R E PR E S E N T A T IO N S ) 
IS M A K IN G , ANY R E PR E S E N T A T IO N , W A RR A N T Y  O R  A SSU RA N CE W H A T S O E V E R  T O  T H E  BU Y ER AND NO W A R R A N T IE S  O R  R E PR E S E N T A T IO N S  O F  ANY K IN D  OR 
C H A R A C TER , E IT H E R  EX PRESS OR IM PL IE D , A R E M ADE BY DDR O R  R E L IE D  UPON BY T H E  BUYER W IT H  R E SPE C T  T O  T H E  STATUS O F  T IT L E  T O  O R  T H E  M A IN TEN A N C E 
R EPA IR , C O N D IT IO N , D ESIG N  O R  M A R K ETA B IL ITY  O F  T H E  P R O PE R T Y , O R  ANY PO R T IO N  T H E R E O F , IN CLU D IN G  BUT N O T L IM IT E D  T O  (A) ANY IM P L IE D  O R  E X PR E SS  ' 
W A RR A N T Y  O F  M E R C H A N T A B IL IT Y , (B) ANY IM P L IE D  O R  E X PR E SS  W A RR A N T Y  O F  FITN ESS F O R  A PA R T IC U L A R  P U R PO S E , (C ) ANY IM P L IE D  O R  E X PR E SS  W A R R A N T Y  O F  
C O N F O R M IT Y  T O  M O D EL S O R  SA M PLE S O F M A T E R IA L S, (D) ANY R IG H T S  O F  T H E  BUYER UNDER A P PR O P R IA T E  S T A T U T E S T O  C LA IM  D IM IN U T IO N  O F  C O N S ID E R A T IO N , 
(E) A W  C L A IM  BY T H E  BUY ER FO R  D A M A G ES BECA U SE O F  D E FE C T S, W H E T H E R  K N O W N  O R  U N K N O W N . W IT H  R E SP E C T  T O  T H E  A SSE TS, (F) T H E  F IN A N C IA L  C O N D IT IO N  
O R  PR O SP E C T S  O F  T H E  P R O P E R T IE S , (G ) T H E  C O M PL IA N C E  O R  L A C K  T H E R E O F  O F  T H E  ASSETS W IT H  A PPL IC A B L E  LA W , (H) W H E T H E R  T H E  P R O P E R T IE S  C O N TA IN  
A SB ESTO S, RA D O N  O R  ANY H A Z A RD O U S SU B STA N CES O R  H A R M F U L  O R  T O X IC  SU B STA N CES, O R  P E R T A IN IN G  T O  T H E  E X T E N T , L O C A T IO N  O R  N A T U R E  O F  S A M E  IF  
ANY. F U R T H E R . T O  T H E  E X T E N T  TH A T  D D R HAS PRO V ID E D  T O  T H E  BUY ER IN FO R M A TIO N , E X C E PT  F O R  T H E  DDR R E PR E SE N T A T IO N S, D D R M A K ES NO 
R E PR E SE N T A T IO N S O R  W A R R A N T IE S  W IT H  R E SP E C T  T O  T H E  A C C U R A CY  O R  C O M PL E T E N E S S, M E T H O D O L O G Y  O F  P R E P A R A T IO N  O R  O T H E R W IS E  C O N C E R N IN G  T H E  
C O N T E N T S O F  SUCH IN FO R M A T IO N .
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(6) THE BUYER, W tTH THE B U Y ER 'S  COU N SEL, HAS FULLY REVIEW ED THE DISCLAIM ERS A N D  W A tV ERS SET FORTH IN TH IS A G R EEM EN T, AN D  
UN D ERSTA N D S TH E SIGN IFICA N CE A N D  EFFECT TH EREO F. THE BUYER ACKNO W LED G ES AND AGREES THA T THE DISCLAIM ERS A N D  OTH ER A G R EEM EN TS SET FORTH 
H EREtN  ARE AN IN TEGRAL PART OF THIS A G REEM EN T, AND THA T THE SELLERS W O ULD N O T HAV E AGREED TO  SELL THE A SSETS TO  TH E BU Y ER  FO R TH E PU RCH A SE PRICE 
W ITH O U T TH E D ISCLA IM ERS AND O TH ER A G R EEM EN TS SET FORTH [N THIS A G REEM EN T. THE TERM S AND CO N D ITIO N S O F TH]S SECTION 7 ו  W ILL EXPRESSLY SURVIVF THF 
C LO SIN G , W ILL N O T  M ERGE W tTH THE PRO VISIONS OF AN Y  CLOSING DOCUM EN TS AN D  W tLL N OT BE M ERGED tN TO  TH E DEED.

ARTtCLE V m  

TITLE AND PERM ITTED EXCEPTION S

^  ^ Section 8.1 ^  P e rm itte d .Ex cep tio n s . E ach  P ro p erty  shall be so id  and is to be co n v e y ed , and th e  B u y er ag rees  to p u rc h a se  such P ro p e r ty , su b jec t o n ly  to  the P erm itted

Section 8.2 T itte  R ep o rt. T he B uyer is so le ly  resp o n sib le  fo r o b ta in in g  any updated  title  c o m m itm e n ts , su rv e y s, o r  any o th e r t i tle  re la ted  m atters  th e  B u y er desires
w ith  re sp ect to  the P ropertie s. E x ce p t as ex p ress ly  p e rm itted  pu rsu an t to S ectio n  7 .2 (c ) ab o v e , the B uyer shall no t have th e  righ t to ob jec t to any  such  m atters  ex c ep t fo r R eq u ire d  R em oval 
E x ce p tio n s , V o lu n tary  T itle  E xcep tions, M onetary  T itle  E xcep tions and o ther excep tions  w hich  do no t con stitu te  P erm itted  E xcep tions.

Section 8.3 U s? of B alance  of the Purchase Prj&s to D ischarge T itle  E x cep tio n s , [f, at the C tosing , there are any title  ex cep tio n s  ap p lica b le  to  a P ro p erty  w h ich  are
not P erm itte d  E x ce p tio n s  fo r such  P roperty  and  w h ich  the S e lle rs  are o b lig a ted  by th is  A g reem en t o r elec t to  pay  and d isch arg e , then the S e lle rs , at its so le  and  a b so lu te  d isc re tio n  m ay  use any 
p o rtion  o f  the B a lan c e  o f  th e  P urchase  P rice  to sa tisfy  th e  sam e, p rov ided  tha t the S ellers  shall hav e  deliv ered  to the B uyer a t th e  C lo sin g  in stru m en ts  in form  su ff ic ie n t to s a tis fy  sLch title 
ex c ep tio n s  o f  re co rd , to g e th e r w .th  the c o s t o f  an y  ap p lica b le  re co rd in g  o r filing  fees o r such  o th e r ev idence  the T itle  C om pany  shall deem  n ec essary  fo r th e  T itle  C o m p a n y  to re m o v e  such 
ex c ep tio n  from  the T!tie P olicy . T he ex is ten ce  o f  an y  such liens o r en c u m b ran c es  shall no t be deem ed  o b jec tio n s  to title .

Section 8.4 [p a H tity  to C 0n v !y . E xcep t as ex p ressly  se t fo rth  in Section  8.6, no th in g  con ta ined  in this A g reem en t shall be deem ed  to  req u ire  th e  S e lle rs  to take o r
b rin g  any ac tio n  o r p ro c eed in g  o r any  o th e r step s  to re m o v e  any  title  ex c ep tio n  o r to  expend any  m on ey s th e re fo r, n o r shall the B uyer have any  righ t o f  ac tio n  a g a in st th e  S e lle rs  at law  or in 
eq u ity , fo r the S e lle r 's  in ab ility  to  convey  title  to  th e  P ro p ertie s  su b jec t on ly  to  th e  Perm itted  E xcep tions.
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Section 8.7 T he B u y e r 's  R igh t to  A c cep t T it te . N o tw ith s ta n d in g  the forego ing  p ro v is io n s  o f  th is  A rtic te  V !!!, the B u y er m ay, b y  n o tice  g iv en  to the S e tte rs  at any
tim e  p rio r  to the C to sin g  D ate (a s  it m ay have been  ad jo u rn e d  b y  th e  S e tte rs  p u rsu a n t to th is A rtic te  V !!!), e te c t to ac ce p t such  titte  as th e  S e tte rs  can c o n v e y , n o tw ith sta n d in g  the ex is ten c e  o f  a n y  
V o tu n tary  T itte  E x cep tio n s  w h ich  are not P erm itted  E x ce p tio n s , !n such ev e n t, th is  A greem en t shatt rem ain  in effec t and th e  partie s shatt p ro c eed  to C to sin g , bu t th e  B u y er shatt no t be e n titted  to

P roperty  su b jec t on ty  to the re tev an t Perm itted  E xcep tions . In  fu rth e ran c e  and  no t in )im itation o f  the fo reg o in g , a t o r  p rio r to  the C to sin g , the B u y er and the S etters  shatt d e tiv e r to  th e  T itte  
C o m p a n y  su c h  a f fid a v its , ce r tif ic a te s  and o ther in s tru m en ts  a s  are  re aso n ab )y  re q u es ted  by  the T id e  C om pany  and  c u sto m ariiy  fu rn ish e d  in  c o n n e c tio n  w ith  the is su an ce  o f  o w n e r 's  po )ic ies o f  
titte  in su rance , in c tu d in g , w ith o u t !im ita tion , (i) ev idence  su ff ic ie n t to es tab tish  (x ) the tegat ex is ten ce  o f  the B u y er and  the S etters  and (y ) the a u th o rity  o f  th e  re sp ec tiv e  s ig n a to ries  o f  th e  S etters  
and  the B u y er to b ind  the SeH ers and the B uyer, as th e  case m ay b e , (ii)  a ce rtifica te  o f  good s tand ing  o f  each S etter, (iii) the S e tte rs ' d e tiv ery  o f  the T itte  A ffid av it, and  (iv) w h e re  ap p tica b te  and 
requ ired  by  A p p tica b te  L aw , a p artne rsh ip  or tim ited  tiab itity  co m p a n y  a ffid av it in acco rdance  with app ticab te  statu tes o f  the S ta te o f  F to rid a . F u rther, upon B u y e r 's  w ritten  re q u est, S etters  shatt 
d ire c t D D R  to d e tiv e r a su rv e y  a ffid av it w ith  respect to  th e  P ro p ertie s  s e t fo rth  on S chedute 8 .8 .



Section 8.9 R ights o f  F irst R efu sa ). T he B u y er ac k n o w led g e s th a t att o r ce rta in  po rtions  o f  ce rta in  o f  th e  P ro p ertie s  are su b jec t to  th e  r ig h ts  o f  firs t refusa! o r firs t
o ffe r  set forth  on Schedu te 8 .9 -! ( th e  " E xisting  O p tions"). T h e  S etters  sha!! p ro v id e  th e  B uyer a d ra ft o f  each  n o tice  to  be p ro v id e d  to  a th ird -party  pu rsu an t to  an  E x is tin g  O p tio n  w ith in  ten  (!  0 ) 
B usiness D ays foH ow ing th e  D u e  D itig en ce  E x p ira tio n  T im e, w h ich  shat! b e  in form  a n d  su b s tan ce  reasonab!y  sa tisfac to ry  to  th e  B u y e r (an  " A p p ro v ed  O p tio n  N o tic e " )  an d  w h ich  sha!!, in an y  
e v e n t, o ffe r  to  set! att o r th e  app !icab !e  p o rtio n  o f  the P ro p erty  a t the p rice  as  se t fo rth  on  S chedu te  8.9-2. P ro m p tty  fo tto w in g  th e  ap provat b y  the B u y er o f  th e  A p p ro v ed  O p tio n  N o tic e , the 
ap p tica b te  S e tte r  shat! d e liv e r  th e  A p proved  O p tio n  N o tice  re q u ired  p u rsu a n t to the E x is tin g  O p tio n s an d  shatt p rov ide  a co p y  th e re o f  to  the B uyer. S h o u td  an y  p a rty  to  the E x is tin g  O p tio n s  (an 
" O p tio n ee" )  th e re u n d e r ex e rc ise  its r ig h t to  p u rc h ase  th e  ap p tic a b te  p o rtio n  o f  th e  P ro p erty  (an  " E xctuded  R O FR  A sset"), (a) th e  ap p tica b te  S e tte r shat! n o tify  th e  B u y e r o f  th e  sam e , (b ) th is 
A g reem en t wi!! te rm in a te  bu t on!y  w ith  re sp ect to  su ch  E x clu d e d  R O F R  A sset and  su ch  E xcluded  R O F R  A sse t shall no t be d ee m ed  a "P ro p e rty "  fo r an y  p u rp o se  u n d e r th is  A g re e m e n t (o th e r  
th a n  fo r th e  p u rp o se s  o f  th is  S ec tio n  8 .9  and  w ith  re sp ec t to  an y  term s and  c o n d itio n  th a t ex p re ss ly  su rv iv e  term in a tio n  o f  th is  A g reem en t) , (c )  th e  P u rch a se  P ric e  shall b e  re d u c e d  b y  th e  a m o u n t 
se t fo rth  on S chedu le  8.9-2 ap p lica b le  to  su ch  E x clu d e d  R O F R  A sset an d  (d ) n e ith e r su ch  SeH er n o r the B u y er sha!! hav e  an y  lia b ility  h e reu n d er w ith  re g ard  to  the E x c lu d e d  R O F R  A sse t, ex c ep t 
fo r th e  o b lig a tio n s  h e re u n d e r w h ich  e x p ress ly  su rv iv e  term in a tio n  o f  th is  A g reem en t, !n  th e  ev e n t th a t an y  O p tio n ee  e le c ts  to  p u rc h a se  an  E x c lu d e d  R O F R  A sse t th a t  is  p a r t o f  an  A ssu m ed  
L o an  P ro p erty  p u rsu a n t to  an  E x is tin g  O p tio n  an d  th e  co n su m m atio n  o f  th e  tra n sfe r  o f  su ch  A ssu m ed  L oan  P ro p erty  to  th e  O p tio n e e  d o es  n o t o c c u r at o r  p r io r  to  th e  C lo s in g , th e  S e lle rs  sh a ll 
pay  th e  re q u ired  re le ase  am o u n t a s  se t fo rth  in  th e  A ssu m ed  L o an  D o c u m e n ts  an d  sh a lt o b ta in  a  re te ase  o f  su c h  p o rtio n  o f  th e  A ssu m ed  L oan  P ro p erty  fro m  th e  A ssu m ed  L o an  L e n d e r P a rt ie s  at 
th e  C lo sin g . T h e  B u y er a c k n o w led g e s  th a t th e re  ex is t ce rta in  righ ts o f  firs t re fusa), firs t o ffe r o r o th e r  pu rc h ase  op tio n s  g ran ted  to  th e  D D R -R ela ted  E n titie s  (th e  " D D R  O p tio n s" )  th a t w ilt be 
term inated  in c o n n e c tio n  w ith  th e  D D R  S ide  L e tte r and  no P ro p erty  w h ich  is  su b jec t to  such  D D R  O p tio n s m ay  b e  an  E x c lu d e d  R O F R  A sse t a s  a re su lt o f  su ch  D D R  O ptions.

A R T IC L E D (

TRA N SA C TIO N  CO STS: R ISK  O F LOSS

Section 9.1 T ra n sa c tio n  C o s ts . T h e  B uyer an d  the S ellers  ag ree  to  co m p ly  w ith  all rea! es ta te  tra n sfe r  tax  law s ap p lica b te  to  th e  sa le  o f  th e  A ssets . A t C lo s in g , th e
reat p ro p e rty  tra n s fe r  tax e s, d ee d  s tam p s, c o n v e y an c e  tax es, d o cu m e n ta ry  s ta m p  tax e s  and  o th e r  tax e s  o r ch a rg es  ( " T ra n sfe r T ax e s" )  p a y a b le  as  a r e s u lt  o f  th e  c o n v e y a n c e  o f  th e  A s s e ts  to  th e  
B u y er p u rsu a n t to  th is  A g reem en t shall b e  p a id  b y  th e  B u y er o r  th e  SeH ers in th e  m an n e r as  s e t fo rth  on S ch ed u le  9 .1 . In  ad d itio n  to  th e  fo reg o in g  an d  th e ir  re sp e c tiv e  ap p o r tio n m e n t o b lig a tio n s  
h e reu n d er, (a ) th e  S eH ers an d  th e  B u y er shall each  b e  re sp o n s ib le  fo r (i)  th e  p ay m e n t o f  th e  co s ts  o f  th e ir re sp ec tiv e  lega! co u n se !, a d v iso rs  and  o th e r p ro fe ss io n a ls  em p lo y ed  th e re b y  in 
co n n e c tio n  w ith  th e  sa le  o f  th e  A sse ts , ( ii)  o n e -h a lf  o f  the fees  an d  ex p e n ses  o f  th e  E scrow  A g e n t, and (iii)  o n e -h a lf  o f  al! L o an  A ssu m p tio n  C osts ; an d  (b ) th e  B u y e r sha!! b e  re sp o n s ib le  fo r  a!! 
co s ts  and  e x p e n se s  asso c ia te d  w ith  ( i)  th e  B u y e r 's  d u e  d ilig e n c e , (ii)  title  re p o rts  o r  ab s tra c ts  w ith  re sp ec t to  th e  P ro p ertie s  a s  w e l! a s  all su rv e y  an d  sea rch  c o s ts  and  u p d a te s  re la te d  th e re to  in 
each  ca se  co m m issio n e d  by  th e  B uyer, (iii)  th e  p o lic y  p re m iu m s in  re sp ec t o f  an y  fe e , leaseho ld  o r  m o rtg ag e  title  in su ran ce  o b ta in ed  b y  the B u y er, and  (iv ) any  p re p ay m en t fe es , p en a ltie s  an d  at! 
o th e r  am o u n ts  a sso c ia te d  w ith  the p re p ay m en t o f  th e  R ep a id  L oans (the  " P rep ay m en t F ees"). T h e  SeH ers an d  th e  B uyer ac k n o w led g e  and  a g re e  th a t a n y  T ra n s fe r  T ax e s w h ich  m a y  hav e b ee n  
d u e  in c o n n e c tio n  w ith  an  E D T  S ch ed u led  M atte r (a n d  any  p e n a ltie s  re la tin g  to  an y  su ch  u n p a id  T ra n sfe r  T ax e s) shall b e  th e  so le  re sp o n s ib ility  o f  th e  S eH ers an d  S eH ers sh a ll in d em n ify  th e  
B u y er w ith  re sp e c t to  an y  c la im s  re la te d  there to . T h e  SeH ers an d  the B u y er shall pay  th e ir re sp ec tiv e  o n e -h a lf  o f  alt L oan  A ssu m p tio n  C o s ts  w ith in  ten  ( ! 0 )  d ay s a f te r  n o tice  o f  a n y  L oan  
A ssu m p tio n  C o s ts , a to n g  w ith  re aso n ab te  su p p o rtin g  ev id e n c e  th e re o f , is g iv en  by  o n e  party  to  th e  o th er. E ach  p a rty  to th is  A g re e m e n t shatl in d em n ify  th e  o th e r  p a rtie s  an d  th e ir  re sp e c tiv e  
su cc esso rs  and  a ss ig n s fro m  an d  a g a in st an y  and  a lt lo ss , d a m a g e , c o s t, c h a rg e , liab ility  o r  ex p e n se  ( in c lu d in g  co u rt co s ts  an d  re a so n a b le  a t to rn e y s ' fe e s )  w h ic h  su c h  o th e r  p a r ty  m ay  su s ta in  o r 
in cu r as a  re su tt o f  th e  fa ilu re  o f  e ith e r  p a rty  to  tim e!y  pay  an y  o f  th e  afo rem e n tio n ed  tax es, fees  o r o th e r ch a rg es  fo r w h ich  it has assu m ed  re sp o n s ib ility  u n d er th is  S ec tio n  9 .1 . N o tw ith s ta n d in g  
an y th ing  to the c o n tra ry  c o n ta in e d  h ere in , th e  SeH ers sha!! b e  resp o n sib le  fo r an d  shall pay  a!! E x clu d e d  S e lle r L oan  E xpenses. T h e  o b lig a tio n s  o f  B u y e r an d  S eH ers to  pay  th e  co s ts  s e t fo r th  in



(a) !f, on o r befo re  the C tosing  D a te , any "m ateria! po rtio n "  o f  the P ropertie s sha!! be (i)  d am aged  o r d estro y e d  by fire  o r o th e r casua!ty  o r (ii)  tak e n  as a re su tt o f  any  
co n d e m n atio n  o r em in en t d om ain  p ro ceed in g  (a  "M ateria ) (?$.y,ajty E ven t"), the S etters shatt p rom ptty  no tify  the B uyer, and the B u y er m ay e ith er , w ith in  five (5 ) B u sin e ss  D ays a f te r th e  M ateria) 
C asu atty  E ven t o r the C tosing  D ate, w h ich e v er is e a rtie r, in its so te  d iscre tion :

(i)  te rm in ate  th is  A g reem en t, in w h ich  even t the C ash  D ep o sit shatt be re fu n d ed  to the B u y er and th e  G u a ran ty  shatt te rm in a te , th is  A g reem en t shatt be deem ed  
term in ate d  and  n e ith e r p a rty  shatt hav e  any  fu rth e r r ig h ts  o r  o b tig a tio n s  to  the o th e r, e x c e p t fo r those ex p ressty  stated  to  su rv iv e  the te rm in a tio n  o f  th is  A g reem en t; o r

( ii)  co n su m m ate  th e  C tosing  as  to a tt P ropertie s, in w hich even t th e  S etters  w it! c red it ag a in st the B atance o f  th e  P urchase  P rice  p ay a b te  by  th e  B u y er a t the 
C tosrng  an  am o u n t equa t to th e  sum  o f  (x ) th e  net p ro ceed s, i f  any , received  by  th e  SeH ers from  such casuatty  o r co n d e m n atio n  and  (y ) the ap p tic a b te  d ed u c tib te , i f  any , w ith  
resp ect to  su ch  ca su a tty . ! f  as o f  th e  C to s in g  D a te , the S e tte rs  hav e  no t re ce iv e d  an y  su ch  in su ran c e  o r  co n d e m n atio n  p ro c eed s , th en  th e  p a r tie s  sh a tt n e v e rth e te ss  
c o n su m m ate  on th e  C to s in g  D a te  th e  c o n v e y an c e  o f  th e  A sse ts  (w ith o u t an y  d e d u c tio n  fo r  su ch  in su ran c e  o r co n d e m n atio n  p ro c e e d s) and th e  S eH ers  wi!! at C to s in g  ass ign  to 
the B u y er at) r ig h ts  o f  th e  S e tte rs , i f  an y , to  th e  in su ran ce  o r  con d em n atio n  p ro c eed s  and to  a!! o th e r r ig h ts  o r  c ta im s ar is in g  ou t o f  or in co n n e c tio n  w ith  such  c a su a tty  or

(b) For pu rp o ses  o f  th is S ection  9 .2 , a "m ateria! p o rtion"  o f  the P ropertie s shatt m ean  d am a g e  to o n e  o r m ore P ro p ertie s  o r an y  p o rtio n  th e re o f  b y  f ire  o r o th e r c a su a tty  o r the 
tak in g  o f  o n e  o r m ore  P ropertie s o r  any  p o rtio n  th e re o f  as a re su tt o f  a con d em n atio n  o r  em inen t d om ain  p ro c eed in g  w h ich  in the agg reg ate  resu tts  in the co st o f  re p a ir  o r  im p airm en t o f  use o r 
v a tu e  o f  th e  P ro p ertie s, as re aso n ab ty  d e te rm ined  by  th e  B uyer, in an am oun t in excess o f  $40 ,0 0 0 ,0 0 0 . F o r pu rposes o f  de te rm in in g  the vatue  o f  a tak ing  o f  a P ro p e r ty , i f  the p rim ary  access to  the 
P ro p erty  ts  taken  and  there is no  o th e r com m erciaH y v iab !e  su b s titu te  p rim ary  acccss to  such P ro p erty , th en  th e  en tire  A H ocated P u rch a se  P rice  fo r such  P ro p erty  shat! b e  co n s id e red  taken .
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ARTICLE X

Section 10.1 F ixed  R en ts . A dd itiona! R en ts and C A M  C h a re e s .
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(c) T en a n t C A M  C harges  and aH expenses  and  ch a rg es  p ay a b te  by or to the ap p ticab te  S e tte r un d er o r in co n n e c tio n  w ith an y  re c ip ro c at ca sem en t a g reem e n ts  e n c u m b erin g  
the P ro p ertie s  (e ach  an  " E M ."  and  such  ch a rg es  to g e th e r w ith  T en a n t C A M  C h a rg e s , co ttec tiv e ty  " CA M  C h arg e s" )  shatt b e  p ro ra ted . T he ap p tica b te  S e tter shatt be resp o n sib te  fo r att CAM

(d) T o th e  ex te n t tha t any  po rtion  o f  A dd itiona! R ent o r C A M  C h arg e s  is  re q u ired  to  be p aid  m on th ty  by  T e n a n ts  o r the o th e r p a rtie s  to  any  REA  ( " REA  Parties" )  on  a c c o u n t 
o f  e sh m ate d  am oun ts  fo r an y  ca te n d a r  y e a r (o r , i f  a p p tica b te , an y  tease y e a r o r  an y  o th e r ap p tica b te  ac co u n tin g  perio d ) , and a t th e  end  o f  such ca te n d a r  y ea r (o r  tease yea r, tax  y e a r o r  o th e r 
ap p tica b te  a c c o u n tin g  p e rio d , a s  th e  ca se  m ay  be), such  es tim a ted  am o u n ts  are to  be re ca tc u ta ted  based  u pon  the ac tuat ex p e n ses  an d  o th e r  re te v a n t fac to rs  fo r th a t ca te n d a r  (o r tea se ) y e a r  o r  
o th e r ap p tica b te  ac co u n tin g  p e r io d , w ith  th e  a p p ro p ria te  ad ju s tm en ts  b e in g  m ade w ith  such  T en a n ts  o r REA  P arties, then such  p o rtio n  o f  the A d d itio n a! R en t or C A M  C h arg e s  sh a tt be p ro ra ted  
b etw een  the SeH ers and th e  B u y er a t the C to sin g  based  on such  estim ated  p ay m e n ts  ac tu atty  p aid  by T en an ts  o r R EA  P arties ( i.e ., w ith  the S e tte rs  e n titted  to  re ta in  att m o n th ty  o r  o th e r p e rio d ic  
m sta ttm e n ts  o f  su ch  am o u n ts  p a id  by T en a n ts  o r REA  P arties  w h ich  re ta te  to p e r io d s  ow ned by such  S e tte r, and th e  S etters  to c re d it to  th e  B u y er at th e  C to s in g  a!! m on th ty  o r  o th e r p eriod ic  
m sta!!m ents o f  such  am o u n ts  th ere to fo re  received  by the S e tte rs  w h ich  re ta te  to  p erio d s  foH ow ing the C tosing ). A t the tim e(s) o f  finat c a p t a t i o n  and co ttec tio n  from  (o r re fu n d  to ) each  T en a n t 
and  each R EA  P arty  o f  th e  a m o u n ts  m  re co n c ih a tio n  o f  ac tuat A d d itio n a) R ent o r  C A M  C h arg e s  fo r a period  fo r w hich  es tim ated  am o u n ts  p a id  by such  T en a n t have been  p ro ra te d , th e re  sh a tt be 
a re p ro ra tion  b e tw e en  the S eH ers and the B u y er based  on th e  period  o f  tim e  each  p a rty  ow ned  th e  re tev an t A sse ts  and the p ay m e n ts  ac tu atty  paid . T h e  S e tte rs  shatt co m p tete  and  b itt a tt 2 0 ! !  
reconcitia tions fo r C A M  C h arg e s  and A dditiona) R ent prio r to A pri) 3 0 ,2 0 !2 .

(e) A t C to sin g , B uyer shatt either, at B u y e r 's  etection , re im b u rse  o r cred it S etters fo r the cost fo r N ew  C ap Ex E xpend itu res property  perfo rm ed  and  paid  fo r by  S etters  B u y er 
shatt assum e the ob tig a tio n  to  perfo rm  and pay fo r N ew  C ap Ex E xpend itu re  af te r the C tosing  D ate.

Section !0 .2  T a x e s and A sse s sm e n ts . R ea! e s ta te  (a d  v a to re m ) and  persona! p ro p e rty  T ax e s and  asse ssm e n ts  a sse sse d  (o th e r  th an  an y  su c h  rea! e s ta te  (ad
v a to re m ) an d  p erso n a! p ro p e rty  tax e s  an d  asse ssm e n ts  a sse sse d  and d irec tty  p ay a b te  by  T e n a n ts  o f  th e  P ro p ertie s  to  the re te v a n t ta x in g  a u th o rity  p u rsu a n t to  such  T e n a n ts ' S p ace  L ea ses  fo r 
w h tch  no ad ju s tm en t shatt b e  m ad e  a t C to s in g , bu t shat! be su b je c t to  ad ju s tm en t p u rsu a n t to  S ec tio n  !0 . !2  i f  no t paid  by  such  T e n a n ts )  sha!! be ad ju s ted  an d  p ro ra ted  on a da i!y  b as is  b a se d  on 
(a ) th e  p erio d s  o f  o w n ersh ip  by th e  SeH ers and  th e  B uyer an d  (b ) the m ost cu rren t o ff ic ia t rea! p ro p e rty  T ax in fo rm ation  avai!ab!e from  the c o u n ty  as se s so r 's  o ff ic e  w here ea ch  P ro p erty  is !o c ated  
o r  o th e r asse ssin g  au th o ritie s , ! f  rea! p ro p e rty  T ax and  asse ssm e n t fig u re s  fo r th e  T ax e s o r  asse ssm e n ts  to  be ap p o rtio n ed  b e tw e en  th e  B u y er and  th e  S eH ers p u rsu a n t to  th is  S ec tio n  !0 .2  are  no t 
av a ita b te , reat p ro p e rty  T ax e s shatt be p ro ra ted  based  on the m o st re cen t a sse ssm e n t, su b je c t to  fu rth e r and finat ad ju stm en t w hen  th e  tax  ra te  an d /o r a sse sse d  v a tu a tio n  fo r su ch  T ax e s and  
^ 0 (M ^ b ^ B ^  ^  P ro p erty  is  fix ed . A n y  sa te s  tax  (e x c lu d in g  T ra n sfe r T a x e s)  p ay a b te  as  a re su tt o f  th e  co n v e y an c e  o f  th e  A sse ts  to  the B u y er p u rsu a n t to  th is  A g re e m e n t sh a tt b e  b o rne
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Section !0.3 A c co u n t R e c e iv a b te s . S ub ject to  the p ro v is io n s  o f  S ec tio n  !0 .! ( a )  (in c tu d in g  the a p p tica tio n  o f  R en ts th e re u n d er), th e  B u y er a c k n o w ted g e s  and  ag rees
that att a c co u n t re ce iv a b te s  re ta ted  to the period  p rio r to  the C to sin g , in c tu d in g , w ith o u t !im ita tion , att acco u n t re ceiv a b te s  a sso c ia ted  w ith  th e  b a n k ru p tc y  o f  B o rd ers , shatt ac cru e  to th e  so te  
b enefit o f  the app!icab!e SeH ers. !n  ad d itio n , the accoun t receiv ab te  in the am o u n t o f  $ ! 96 ,! 50 a ttribu tab!e to the JoA nn P taza 2006 con d em n atio n  aw ard  sha!! ac c ru e  to the so te  b en e fit o f  the 
app ticab te Setter.

Section !0.4 U tility  C harges. W a te r ra tes, w a te r m e te r  ch a rg es , sew er re n ts , vau !t ch a rg es , g as , s team , e!ec tr ic ity  and  o th e r p u b tic  u titity  ch a rg es  (o th e r  than  any
su ch  ch a rg es  w h ich  are p ay a b te  b y  T e n a n ts  o f  th e  P ro p er ty  p u rsu a n t to  su ch  T e n a n ts ' S p ace  L eases , for w hich  no ad justm en t wi!! be m ade) wi!! be paid  by the Se!!ers to  the u titity  com pany  
th ro u g h  th e  C to s in g  D a te . T he SeH ers ag ree  tha t th e y  shatt a t th e  C tosing  fu m ish  a re ad in g  o f  su ch  u ti!itie s  app!icab!e to  each  P ro p erty  to  a d a te  no t m o re  than  th ir ty  (3 0 )  days p rio r  to  th e  C to sin g  
and  the u n fixed  m ete r ch a rg es  thereon  fo r th e  tim e in te rv e n in g  from  th e  date  o f  the tast re ad in g  shatt b e  ap p o rtio n ed  on the basis  o f  such  tas t re a d in g , an d  shatt be a p p r o p r ia te ^  read ju s ted  af te r 
th e  C to s in g  on  th e  b a s is  o f  th e  n ex t su b se q u e n t b it ts , e x c e p t m eters  th e  ch a rg es  o f  w h ich  are p ay a b te  by  T en a n ts  o f  th e  P ro p e r tie s  p u rsu a n t to  su ch  T e n a n ts ' S p ace  L eases. N o tw ith s ta n d in g  
th e  fo reg o in g  to  the co n tra ry , the S e tte rs  m ay e te c t to  d o s e  th e ir  ow n  ap p tica b te  a c co u n ts , in w h ich  even t th e  B u y er sha!! o p en  its o w n  ac co u n ts  and  th e  re sp e c tiv e  ch a rg e s  sha!! n o t be 
p ro ra ted , ! f  re q u ested  by  SeH ers o r  the B uyer, the SeH ers and  the B u y er shatt jo in tty  ex e cu te  a te tte r to  each  o f  such u titity  co m p a n ie s  ad v is in g  such  u titity  co m p a n ie s  o f  the te rm in a tio n  o f  the 
S e tte rs ' re sp o n s ib itity  fo r such  ch a rg es  fo r u tititie s  fu rn ish e d  to  the P roperty  as o f  th e  date  o f  th e  C to sin g  and  com m en cem en t o f  th e  B u y e r 's  re sp o n sib ilitie s  th e re fo r  from  and a f te r such  d ate , ! f  
a bit! is o b ta in ed  from  any  such  u ti!ity  co m p an y  as o f  the C to s in g , the S etters  shatt p a y  such  b itt on or be fo re  the C tosing . ! f  su ch  bit! sha!! n o t have b ee n  o b ta in ed  on o r befo re  the C to s in g , the 
S e tte rs  sh att, u pon  receip t o f  such  biH , pay  att such  u titity  ch a rg es  as ev id en ced  by such  bit) o r b itts  perta in in g  to the period  p rio r to the C to sin g , and the B u y er sh a tt p ay  att such  u titity  ch a rg es  
p e rta in in g  to th e  period  thereafte r. A ny b i)) w h ich  shaH b e  re ndered  w hich  sha)) co v e r a period  bo th  b e fo re  and af te r the date  o f  O o s in g  sha)) be a p p o rtio n e d  b e tw e en  the B u y er and the S e tte rs  
a s  o f  the C to sin g .

Section !0.5 C o n tra c ts . C harges  and  pay m en ts  u n d e r a!! A ssu m ed  C on trac ts .

Section !0.6 M!SS.6!19n$Qvs R ?v5nv?5 R ev en u e s, i f  any , ar is in g  ou t o f  te )ephone boo th s , v e n d in g  m ac h in e s , p a rk in g , o r  o th e r  in co m e p ro d u c in g  ag reem e n ts .

Section !0 .7  S ecu rity  D e p o sits . T h e  ac tua! am o u n ts  o f  th e  sec u rity  d ep o s its  p ro v id ed  fo r u n d er th e  S p ace  L eases  w h ich  are  bein g  he!d  by  th e  S e tte rs  as se t fo rth  on
S ch ed u te 3 .7 (k ) (as u p d ated  to  re flec t any  c h a n g es in the am o u n t o f  such  se c u rity  d ep o s its ).
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Section !0.8 LcaSLHg Cp$t$. T he S e!!er sha!! be resp o n sib te  for a!! L easing  C o sts  re ta tin g  to S p ace  L eases  th a t firs t becam e b in d in g  on a Se!!er and  th e  T en a n t th e re to
p rio r  to the E ffec tiv e  D ate, in d u d in g  w ithou t !im ita tio n , th e  L easin g  C o sts  set forth  on Schcdutc t0 .8 (i) (th e  "S e t te rs 'L e a s in g  C o s ts ' ! .  T he  B u y er sha!! be re s p o n s iv e  fo r a!! L ea s in g  C o sts  w ith  
resp ect to N ew  L ea ses  en te red  in to  from and afte r th e  E ffec tiv e  D ate in ac co rd a n ce  w ith  Section  3.3 and att L easin g  C osts re ta tin g  to re n ew a ts , am e n d m e n ts, e x p a n s io n s  and  e x te n sio n s  o f  S p ace  
L ea ses , in each  ca se  to  th e  e x te n t such  L easing  C o s ts  re ta te  to  re n ew a t, e x p a n sio n  o r ex ten sio n  r ig h ts  o f  T en a n ts  u n d e r such  S p ace  L eases tha t a re  ex e rc ise d  o r am e n d m e n ts  th a t a re  en te red  in to , 
a f te r th e  E ffec tiv e  D ate in acco rd an ce  w ith Section  3.3 (the  " B u y e r 's  L e a s in g  C o s ts "). F u rth erm o re  and w ith o u t tim itin g  th e  g cn e ra tity  o f  th e  preced ing  sen ten c e  (b u t su b jec t to  S ec tio n  3 .3 (d )), 
B u y e r sh a tt a ssu m e, and  ag rees  th a t B u y er shatt no t b e  en titted  re ce iv e  any  c red its  for, the ec o n o m ic  effec t o f  any  " free  re n t"  o r  o th e r  s im ita r c o n c e ss io n s  th a t re su tt  in re d u ced  p a y m e n ts  by 
T en a n ts  p e rta in in g  to  the period  from  and afte r th e  C to sin g  D a te . T o  the e x te n t any  S e tte rs ' L ea sin g  C osts hav e  no t been  fu tty  paid  as  o f  th e  C !osing  D a te , th e  B u y e r sha!! re ce iv e  a c re d it a t th e  
C !o sin g  ag a in st th e  P urchase  P rice  in the a m o u n t o f  th e  b a ta n c e  o f  th e  S e tte rs ' L easing  C osts rem ain in g  to be p aid  and  th e  B u y er shatt a ssu m e att o b tig a tio n s  o f  th e  S e tte r  to  pay  th e  b a ta n ce  o f  
the S e tte rs ' L ea s in g  C osts as to  w h ich  the B u y er sh a tt hav e  re c e iv e d  such  c re d it and  to  perform  th e  o b tig a tio n s  asso c ia ted  w ith th e  sam e.

Section !0 .9  !n ten tionaH v D e te ted .

Section !0 .!0  A ssu m ed  LpanS- T he S etters  shatt assign  to the B uyer at the C to sin g  and  receive a c red it from  th e  B u y er fo r th e  S e tte rs ' r ig h t, t itte  and  in te re s t in and  to
an y  ca sh  re se rv e s  o r esc ro w  ac co u n ts  h e td  by  A ssu m ed  L o an  L e n d e r P artie s  in c o n n e c tio n  w ith  th e  A ssu m ed  L o an s  w h ich  are no t re tu rn ed  to  th e  S etters  on  the C to s in g  D ate.

Section !0  ! t G round Ren!. G ro u n d  re n t and  a!! o th e r pay m en ts  and  ch a rg es  d u e  u n d e r  th e  G ro u n d  L eases  w ith  re sp ec t to  the y e a r  in w h ich  th e  C to s in g  o c c u rs  sh a tt
be a d ju s te d  and  p ro ra ted  b ase d  on  th e  perio d s  o f  o w n e rsh ip  by th e  G ro u n d  L esse es  and  th e  B u y er d u rin g  su ch  year.

Section !0. t2  R e-A djustm en t- ! f  an y  item s to  b e  ad ju s ted  p u rsu a n t to  th is  A r tic te  X are  no t d e t e r m in a t e  at the C to s in g , the a d ju s tm e n t sh a tt be m ad e  su b seq u e n t to
the C to sin g  w hen  th e  charge  is d e te rm in ed . A ny e rro rs  o r o m iss io n s  in  co m p u tin g  ad ju stm en ts  o r re ad ju stm e n ts  a t th e  C to sin g  o r th e re a f te r  shat! be p ro m p t!y  c o rre c te d , and  an y  co rre c tiv e  
p ay m e n ts  sha!! be prom pt!y  m ade , p ro v id ed  tha t th e  party  see k in g  to  co rrec t such  e r ro r  or o m issio n  o r to  m ake su ch  read ju s tm e n t sha!! hav e  n o tified  th e  o th e r  p a r ty  o f  su ch  e r ro r  o r o m iss io n  o r  
read ju s tm e n t on  o r p rio r to the !ast da te  o f  the S urv iva! P erio d . T he p ro v is io n s  o f  th is  A rtic te  X and the o b tig a tio n s  o f  the S e tte rs  an d  the B u y er h e reu n d er shat! su rv iv e  the C to s in g  on ty  fo r th e  
S u rv iv at P eriod , ! f  n e ith e r S etters  no r the B uyer h av e  received  w ritten  re q u est from  the o ther p rio r  to the ex p ira tio n  o f  the S urv iva! P eriod  to reapportion  such  item s, th e n  the B u y er an d  S etters  
shatt each  be d ee m ed  to have w a ived  any rig h t to  seek  such  reap p o rtio n m en t.

A R TICLE XI 

IN DEM N!FICAT!O N

Section ! ! .!  In dem nifica tion  bv th e  S etters. FoH ow ing the C tosing  and  subject to S ections t t . 4 ,  ! ! .5  and ! ! .6 ,  each  S e!!e r,jo in t!y  and  severa!!y , sha!! ind em n ify  and
ho!d the B u y er, its  d irec t and  in d irec t a ffilia tes , m em b ers , m an a g ers , o w n e rs  and partne rs , and  the p artn e rs , sh a reh o td ers , o ff ic e rs , d irec to rs , em p to y ee s , re p rese n ta tiv e s  and ag e n ts  o f  each  o f  the 
forego ing  (co ttec tiv e ty , "B uyer-R e ta ted  E n titie s") h arm tess  from  and ag a in st any  an d  at! co sts , fees, ex p e n ses , d am a g es, d e fic ien c ie s, in terest and  pena!ties ( in d u d in g , w ith o u t !im ita tio n , 
re a so n a b te  a t to rn e y s ' fees and d isb u rsem en ts) su ffe re d  o r  in cu rred  by  o r to  b e  incu rred  o r su ffered  a t C to sin g  by , o r in cu rred  o r  su ffere d  th e re a f te r  by , an y  su ch  in d em n ified  p a r ty  in  c o n n e c tio n  
w ith  an y  and  att to sses, tiab itities , cta im s, d am ages an d  ex p e n ses  ( " L o s s e s " ), a r is in g  ou t of, o r in any  w ay re ta tin g  to , (i) any  b reach  o f  any o f  th e  S e tte r G e n era t R ep re sen ta tio n s  an d  S e tter 
P roperty  R ep resen ta tio n s  (e ach , as quatified  by  S ection  3.8 ab o v e ) o r any b reach  by SeHers o f  S ection  !4 .3 (a), o r  (ii) any  b reach  by  SeHers o f  S ectio n  9 .1 , A rtic te  X o r  A rtic te  X II (a n y  such  b reach ,
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Section ! ! .2  Indem nification  bv D D R . FoH ow ing the C tosing  and  sub ject to S ectio n s  ! ! .4 ,  ! ! .5  and ) !  .6 , D D R shatt indem nify  and hotd  the B u y er and th e  B uyer-
R etated  E n titie s  ha rm te ss  from  and ag a in st an y  and  a tt L osses , ar is in g  ou t o f, o r in any  w ay re ta tin g  to , any  b reach  o f  any  o f  th e  D D R  R ep re sen ta tio n s  (e ach , as q u alified  by  S ec tio n  3 .8  ab o v e ) 
(a n y  su ch  b re a c h , a " DDR indem nity  B reach '! .

Section 11.3 In d em n ifica tio n  bv the B u y er. F o tto w in g  th e  C tosing  and  subject to  S ections  t !.4 , I ! .5  and  11.6, the B uyer shatt indem nify  and  ho td  the S e tte rs , its d irec t
an d  in d irec t a ffilia te s , m em b ers , m an a g ers , ow n e rs  and p a rtn e rs , and th e  p artn e rs , sh areh o td ers , o ff ic e rs , d irec to rs , em p to y ee s , re p rese n ta tiv e s  and ag en ts  o f  each  o f  th e  fo reg o in g  (c o tte c tiv e ty , 
th e  " Setter-R eta ted  E n titie s ' !  harm te ss  from  any and  att L o sses  ar is in g  o u t o f, o r  in any w ay re ta tin g  to , (i) an y  b reach  o f  any  th e  B u y er R epresen ta tions  o r  S ec tio n  !4 .3 (b )  o r  (ii) an y  b reach  b y  the 
B uyer o f  Section  9 . ! ,  A r tid e  X or A rticte X !I.

Section !!  .4 S u rv iv at. T he fo ttow ing  p rov isions (the  " Surv ivat P ro v is io n s ' !  o f  th is  A greem en t shat! su rv ive unti! M arch  30, 2 0 ! 3 (th e  " S urv iva! P eriod ' !  un !ess
o th erw ise  ind ica ted  betow : (i) th e  S etter G enera t R epresen ta tions; ( ii)  the S e tte r  P roperty  R epresen ta tions; (iii) th e  DDR R ep re sen ta tio n s; (iv ) the B uyer R e p re sen ta tio n s; (v ) th e  in d em n ity  by  the 
B uyer set forth in Section 7 .! ;  (vi) Section 7 .3 ; (v ii) Section 9 ! (v iii) A rticte X ; (ix) th is A rticte X I; (x) A rticte X !I; (xi) Section !4 .3(a); (x ii) Section !4 .3(b); and (xiii) Section  ]4 .8 . E xcept fo r the 
S urv ivat P ro v is io n s  w h ich  ex p ressty  su rv iv e  C to sin g  as set fo rth  herein  (and  in the ca se  o f  A rtic te  X II, shatt su rv iv e  bey o n d  the S u rv iv at Period  as m ore p artic u ta rty  s e t fo rth  in  S ec tio n  !2 .3 ) , th is  
A g reem en t, in c tu d in g  att re p rese n ta tio n s , w a rra n tie s , co v e n an ts  and ag reem e n ts , shatt te rm in a te  on C tosing .

Section ! !  .5 Indem nification  as So!e R em edy . I f  the C to sin g  has occurred , a b reach  by the o th e r p a r ty  o f  th e  S u rv iv a t P ro v is io n s  o r any  C to sin g  D o c u m e n t w hich
su rv iv es  th e  C to sin g , then , the so te and  e x c tu siv e  rem edy , shatt be the in d em n ifica tio n s  p rov ided  fo r un d er th is A rtic te  X!.
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A ssu m ed  L oan  P ro p erty  P u rch a se rs  w ith  re sp e c t to  th is  A g reem en t and  D e p o s it G u a ran to r w ith  re sp ec t to th e  G u a ran ty , w h ich  sha!! n o t be re te ase d  and  sha!! be su b je c t  to such  !iab i!ities in 
acco rd a n ce  w ith  th is  A g reem en t o r the G u a ran ty , as ap p tica b te ) o r re p rese n ta tiv e s  o f  the B u y er (c o tte c tiv e ty , the " B uver N o n -R e co u rse  P artie s") o r  any  o f  th e ir  re sp e c tiv e  asse ts  (o th e r  th an  the 
A ssets) fo r p ay m e n t o r co ttec tio n  o f  any  am o u n t, ju d g m e n t, ju d ic ia l  p ro cess , a rb itra t aw ard , fee o r co st o r fo r  an y  o th e r ob tig a tio n  o r cta im  a ris in g  ou t o f  or b ase d  u p o n  th is A g reem en t. T he

presen t o r  fu tu re , d irec t o r in d irec t, sh areh o td ers , p artn e rs , m em b ers , m anagers , p rinc ipa ts , d irec to rs , o ff ic e rs , ag e n ts, in co rp o ra to rs , a ffitia tes  (o th e r than  D D R  in ac co rd a n ce  w ith  th is  A g reem en t) 
o r re p rese n ta tiv e s  o f  DD R (co ttec tiv e ty , th e  " D D R N o n -R e co u rse  P artie s") o r any  o f  th e ir re sp ec tiv e  asse ts  fo r p ay m e n t o r co ttec tio n  o f  any am oun t, ju d g m e n t, ju d ic ia l p ro c ess , a rb itra l aw ard , fee 
o r co s t o r  fo r an y  o th e r o b lig a tio n  o r cla im  aris in g  ou t o f  o r b ase d  upon th is  A g reem en t. T he D D R  N o n -R e co u rse  P arties  shat! no t be su b jec t to  levy , lien , e x e c u tio n , a ttac h m en t o r  o th e r 
en fo rce m en t p ro c ed u re  fo r th e  sa tisfac tio n  o f  an y  o f  th e  B u y e r 's  righ ts o r re m e d ies  u n d er o r  w ith  re sp ec t to  th is  A g reem en t, in equ ity  o r o th e rw ise . T he B u y er sh a tt no t seek  en fo rce m en t o f  any

(j) A ny  ind em n ifica tio n  p ay m e n t m ade p u rsu a n t to  th is  A g reem en t shalt be trea ted  as an ad justm en t to  the P urchase P rice , excep t a s  o th e rw ise  re q u ired  by A p p tica b te  L aw .

Section ! ! .7  Setters Escrow  H o td b ac k . !n connection  w ith  S e tte rs ' liab i!ity  fo r an y  SeHer !ndem nity  B reaches, sub ject to  the !im ita tions set forth  in th is  A rtic te  X !,
SeH ers ag ree  to  d ep o sit, at the C to sin g , in esc row  w ith  th e  E scrow  A gen t, th e  am oun t o f  th e  te sse r o f  1% o f  the P urchase P rice o r $ !4 ,2 8 0 ,0 0 0 .0 0  (sa id  !esser am o u n t, th e  " SeHer Escrow  
H otdback"). w h ich  S e tter E scrow  H otdback  shatl b e  held  b y  E scrow  A gen t fo r the S urv ival P eriod  in acco rd a n ce  w ith  the E scrow  A g reem en t attached  h e re to  as  E xhibit M and  m ad e  a p a rt h e re o f  
(the  " E scrow  H otdback  A g reem en t"): p ro v id ed , th a t, i f  th e  B u y er no tifies S etters  o f  a cta im  fo r a SeH er !ndem nity  B reach u n d er th is  A g reem en t during  the S u rv iv a l P eriod , then  th e  p o rtion  o f  the
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TAX REFU NDS AN D  CRED ITS: TAX CERTIORARI PRO CEED INGS
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Section ! 2.2 A p p tic a tio p & f R efu n d s o r S ay ings. A ny re fu n d s o r  sav in g s (in c tu d in g  c red its) in th e  p ay m e n t o f  rea! p ro p e rty  taxes (w h e th e r  o r n o t resum ing from  such
tax  re d u ctio n  p ro c eed in g s) ap p tica b te  to tax e s  p ay a b te  du rin g  th e  period  (o r p o rtio n  th e re o f) p r io r  to the date  o f  the C to sin g  shatt b e to n g  to  and  be th e  p ro p e rty  o f  the SeH ers, and  any  re fu n d s  o r 
sa v in g s  in the p ay m e n t o f  tax e s  ap p tic a b te  to  tax e s  pay ab te  from  and afte r th e  d a te  o f  th e  C to sin g  shat! beto n g  to and  be the p ro p e rty  o f  the B u y er; p ro v id e d , ho w e v er, th a t i f  an y  re fu n d  re ce iv e d  
by any  o f  the S eH ers pu rsu an t to  th is  S ection  !2  .2 c rea te s  an o b tig a tio n  to re im b u rse  any  T en a n ts  un d er S p ace  L eases  fo r an y  re n ts  o r  ad d itio n a l re n ts  paid  o r to  b e  p a id , th a t p o rtio n  o f  such  
re fu n d  equat to  th e  am o u n t o f  su ch  req u ired  re im b u rse m en t (a f te r  ded u c tio n  o f  a tto ca b te  expenses  as m ay b e  p ro v id ed  in th e  S p ace  L ea se  to su ch  T en a n t) sh a tt, e ith e r  (a ) be p aid  to  th e  B u y er 
an d  th e  B u y er sh a tt d isb u rse  th e  sam e  to su ch  T en a n ts  o r (b ) b e  paid  by  th e  S e tte rs  d irec tty  to  the T en an ts  e n titted  th e re to . AH a tto rn e y s ' fees  an d  o th e r ex p e n se s  in cu rred  in o b ta in in g  such  
re fu n d s  o r  sav in g s shatt be a p p o r tio n e d  b e tw e en  th e  S e tte rs  a n d  the B u y er in p ro p o rtio n  to  the g ro ss  am oun t o f  such re fu n d s  o r  sav in g s p ay a b te  to  the S eH ers an d  th e  B u y er, re sp ec tiv e ty  
(w ith o u t re g ard  to  an y  am o u n ts  re im b u rsa b te  to  T en a n ts ); p ro v id ed , ho w e v er, tha t n e ith e r th e  SeH ers n o r th e  B u y er shatt have an y  tiab itity  fo r  an y  such  fees o r ex p e n ses  in e x c e ss  o f  th e  re fu n d  
o r sa v in g s p aid  to such  party  u n tess  such  p a r ty  in itia te d  such  p ro c eed in g . AH am o u n ts  pay ab te  to  th e  B u y er shatt be paid  by the S e tte r w ith in  ten  ( ! 0 )  B u sin e ss  D a y s a f te r re ce ip t by  th e  S e tte r  o r 
its su c c e sso rs  o r  ass igns o f  su ch  re fu n d  o r sav in g s . A tt am o u n ts  pay ab te  to  th e  S e tte rs  shatt b e  p aid  by  the B u y er w ith in  ten  ( ! 0 )  B u s in e ss  D a y s a f te r re c e ip t by  th e  B u y e r o r  its su c c e sso rs  o r 
a s s ig n s  o f  su c h  re fu n d  o r  s av in g s .

Section !2.3 Surv iva!. T h e  p ro v is io n s  o f  th is A r t id e  XH shaH su rv iv e  the C tosing  fo r the S urv iva) P erio d , p ro v id ed  tha t the p artie s  ag ree  th a t th e  B u y er sh a tt hav e
th e  so te rig h t to  p ro se cu te  a n d /o r  se ttte  an y  tax  re d u ctio n  p ro c eed in g s  a f te r th e  S urv ivat P eriod .

ARTICLE XH!

DEFAULT

Section t3 .) B uver D efau tt.

(a ) ! f  on the C tosing  D ate (o r an y  date on w h ich  th is A g reem en t is te rm inated  ea rtie r in acco rdance  w ith  S ection  2 .3 (c ) o r S ection  2 .3(d)) (i)  th ere  e x is ts  a m ateria ) b reach  o r 
d e fau tt by  the B u y er in th e  p e rfo rm an c e  o f  its o b tig a tio n  to p u rc h ase  th e  A sse ts  u n d er th is A g reem en t o r ( ii)  one o r m ore L oan  A ssu m p tio n  C o n sen ts  hav e  n o t b ee n  o b ta in e d  an d  su ch  fa itu re  
w as cau sed  by  a m ateria t b reach  o f  the B u y e r 's  o b tig a tio n s  u n d er S ection  4 .2 (a ), (b), (c ), (d ) o r (f) (any  such ev e n t, a " B uver E ven t o f  D efau tt"). then  th is A g reem en t m ay be te rm in a te d  by  th e  
S etters: p ro v id ed  th a t , the S etters  m ay not te rm in ate  th is A g reem en t pu rsuan t to  th is Section  ) 3 .! ( a )  if, on th e  O o s in g  D a te , th ere  ex ists a SeHer E v en t o f  D efau!t.
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( J g  S 8 P d  P r e o f h . c h b y h e  erm s expressty surv.ve the term .nat.on o f th.s Agreement and ( .. )a s  set forth m S ect.on  !3.!

(c) IN  T H E  EV EN T T H E  SE L L E R S  TE R M IN A T E  TH !S  A G R EEM EN T AS A R E SU L T  O F  A BUYER EV EN T O F  DEFA U LT, T H E  D E PO SIT  G U A R A N T O R  SH A L L  
IM M E D IA T E L Y  FUND T O  T H E  ESCR O W  A G E N T T H E  L IQ U ID A TED  DAM A GES A M OU NT IN  IM M E D IA T E L Y  AVA ILA BLE FUNDS PURSUANT T O  T H E  G U A RA N TY  W H IC H  SH A LL 
C O N S T IT U T E  A PO R T IO N  O F  T H E  CASH D E P O S IT , AND T H E  E SC R O W  A G E N T SH A LL IM M E D IA T E L Y  D ISBURSE T H E  CASH D E P O S IT  T O  T H E  S E L L E R S  IN  A C C O R D A N C E  W IT H  
S E C T IO N  14.5 A N D  UPON PA Y M EN T O F  T H E  CASH D E P O S IT  AND T H E  LIQ U ID A TED  D A M A G ES A M O U N T T O  T H E  SE L L E R S, T H E  S E L L E R S AND T H E  B U Y ER  SH A L L  H A V E NO 
FU R T H E R  O B L IG A T IO N S U N D ER TH IS  A G R E E M E N T , EX C E PT  T H O SE  W H IC H  EX PRESSLY  SU R V IV E SUCH T E R M IN A T IO N . T H E  BUYER AND T H E  S E L L E R S  H E R EB Y  
A C K N O W L E D G E  AND A G R E E  TH A T IT  W O U L D  BE IM P R A C T IC A L  AN D /O R EX T R E M E L Y  D IFF IC U L T  T O  FIX  O R  ESTA B LISH  T H E  A C TU A L D A M A G ES SU ST A IN ED  BY T H E  
SE L L E R S  AS A R E SU L T  O F  A BUYER E V E N T  O F  D EFA U LT , AND A G R E E  T H A T  T H E  CASH D E P O S IT  PLU S T H E  L IQ U ID A TED  DAM A G ES A M O U N T IS  A R E A SO N A B L E  
A P PR O X IM A T IO N  T H E R E O F . SE LLER S AND BUY ER A C K N O W L E D G E  AND A G R EE T H A T  T H E  A M O U N TS O F  T H E  CASH D E P O S IT  AND L IQ U ID A T E D  D A M A G ES A M O U N T ARE 
R EA SO N A B LE. A C C O R D IN G L Y , T H E  C A SH  D E P O S IT  AND T H E  L IQ U ID A TED  DAM A GES A M O U N T SH A L L  C O N ST IT U T E  AND BE D EEM ED  T O  BE T H E  A G R E E D  AND L IQ U ID A T E D  
DA M A G ES O F  T H E  S E L L E R S, AND SH A LL BE PA ID  BY T H E  E SC R O W  A G E N T AND T H E  D E P O S IT  G U A R A N T O R , AS T H E  CA SE M A Y  BE, T O  T H E  S E L L E R S  AS T H E  S E L L E R S '
SO L E  AND EXCLUSIVE R EM ED Y  HEREUN DER.

Section !3.2 SeHer D efautt.
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(d) EX CEPT AS EXPRESSLY PRO VIDED IN THIS SECTION !3.2, BUYER EXPRESSLY W A IVES ITS RIGHT TO  SEEK ANY OTHER D A M A G ES. CLA IM S, RIG H TS OR 
OTH ER R EM EDIES UPON TH E OCCURREN CE OF A SELLER EVEN T OF DEFAULT.

ARTICLE XIV 

M ISCELLANEOUS

(a) E ach  S e tte r re p rese n ts  and  w a rra n ts  to  the B u y er th a t it has d ea tt w ith  no  b ro k e r, sa lesm a n , finder o r co n su ttan t w ith  re sp ec t to  th is  A g re e m e n t o r  th e  tran sa c tio n s  
co n te m p ta te d  h e reb y  o th e r th an  JP  M organ  R ea! E sta te  A d v iso rs , In c . (th e  " S etters ' C o n su tta n t"). A t th e  C to sin g , the S etters  shatt p ay  the S e tte rs ' C o n su tta n t a fe e  in co n n e c tio n  w ith  this 
tran sa c tio n  in ac co rd a n ce  w ith  a sep a ra te  ag reem e n t b e tw een  th e  SeH ers and th e  S e tte rs ' C o n su tta n t and  upon the o cc u rre n ce  o f  th e  C to sin g . E ach  S e tte r a g rees  to  in d em n ify , p ro te c t, defen d  and 
hotd  th e  B u y e r an d  th e  B u y er-R e ta ted  E n titie s harm te ss  from  an d  ag a in st a tt c ta im s, to sses, d am a g es , tiab itities , co s ts , expenses  ( in d u d in g  re aso n ab te  a tto rn e y s ' fe es  an d  d isb u rse m e n ts )  and 
ch a rg es  resu h in g  from  such S e tte r 's  b reach  o f  the forego ing  re p rese n ta tio n  in th is Section  !4 .3 (a). T h e  p ro v is io n s  o f  th is  S ection  !4 .3 (a )  sha!! su rv iv e  th e  C !osing  an d  an y  te rm in a tio n  o f  th is
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(b ) T h e  B u y er re p rese n ts  and w a rra n ts  to  th e  S e tte rs  th a t it has d ea tt w ith  no  b roker, sa tesm a n , fin d er o r c o n su tta n t w ith  re sp ec t to th is A g re e m e n t o r th e  tran sa c tio n s  
c o n te m p ta te d  he reb y . T h e  B u y er ag rees to in d em n ify , p ro tec t, defen d  and  hotd  th e  S etters  and  the S etter-R e ta ted  E ntities h arm tess  from  and ag a in st at! c ta im s, to sses , d am a g es, tiab itities , co sts , 
ex p e n ses  ( in c tu d in g  re a so n a b te  a t to rn e y s ' fees  and  d isb u rsem en ts ) an d  ch a rg es  re su ttin g  from  su ch  th e  B u y e r 's  b reach  o f  th e  fo reg o in g  re p rese n ta tio n  in th is  S ec tio n  !4 .3 (b ). T h e  p ro v is io n s  o f

Section !4 .4  CpofidentjaljtYL P ress  R etease ; IRS R ep o rtin e  R eq u ire m e n ts .

(a ) T h e  B u y er and  th e  S e tte rs  shatt ho td  as co n fid en tia t at! in fo rm atio n  d isc to sed  in co nnection  w ith  th e  tran sa c tio n  co n te m p ta te d  h e reb y  and  co n c ern in g  each  o th e r , th e  
A sse ts , th is  A g re e m e n t and  th e  tra n sa c tio n s  c o n te m p ta te d  h e re b y  and shat! n o t re !ease  any  such  in fo rm atio n  to  th ird  p artie s  w ith o u t th e  p rio r  w ritten  c o n se n t o f  the o th e r  p a r tie s  h e re to , ex c ep t 
(i) an y  in fo rm ation  w h ich  w a s p re v io u sty  o r  is h ereafter p u b tic ty  d isctosed  (o th e r  th an  in v io la tio n  o f  th is A greem en t) , (ii) to  th e ir p artn e rs , ad v ise rs , u n d erw rite rs , an a ty sts , em p to y ee s , a ffitia te s , 
o ff ic e rs , d ire c to rs , c o n su tta n ts , ten d e rs , ac co u n tan ts , tegat c o u n se t, t itte  co m p a n ie s  o r o th e r a d v iso rs  o f  any  o f  th e  fo reg o in g , p ro v id e d  th a t th e y  are ad v ised  as to  the co n f id e n tia t n a tu re  o f  such  
in form ation  and  are in s tru cted  to  m ain tain  such  co n fid e n tia tity  and  (iii) to  com pty  w ith  any  A p p tica b te  Law . W ith o u t tim iting  th e  g en e ra tity  o f  the p reced in g  sen ten c e , th e  B u y er a c k n o w led g e s  
that S etters  m ay be req u ired  to  a ttach  th is A g reem en t to  fitings w ith  the S ecu rities  and  E xchange C om m ission  as a resu tt o f  ce rta in  a ffitia te s  o f  S e tte rs  b e in g  fo re ig n  e n titie s  tha t tha t a re  p u b tic ty  
traded  co m p a n ie s  in th e  U n ite d  S ta tes  and th a t such d isc to su res  m ay b e  m ade by  S e tte rs  (and  th e ir  a ffitia te s ) w ith o u t the B u y e r 's  p r io r  w ritten  co n se n t. T h e  fo reg o in g  shatt c o n s titu te  a 
m o d ifica tion  o f  any  p rio r c o n fid e n tia tity  ag reem en t tha t m ay hav e been  en te red  in to  by the p a rtie s . T he S etters  shat! no t d isc to se  Schedu te 4 .2 (d ) to any A ssu m ed  L oan L en d er P arty  w ith o u t firs t 
ob ta in ing  the p rio r w ritten  c o n se n t o f  the B u y er (no t to  be u n re aso n ab ty  w ith h e td , co n d itio n ed  o r d e tayed). T he p ro v is io n s  o f  th is  S ec tio n  !4 .4 (a )  shat! su rv ive  th e  C to sin g  fo r th e  S urv iva)
Period  or th e  te rm ination  o f  th is  A g reem en t fo r a period  o f  six  (6 ) m onths.

(b ) T h e  S e tte rs  o r th e  B u y er (o r  the m em b ers  o f  the B uyer) m ay  issue a p re ss  re tease w ith  re sp ec t to  th is A g reem en t and th e  tra n sa c tio n s  co n te m p ta te d  h e reb y , p ro v id ed  th a t 
the c o n te n t o f  an y  su ch  p re s s  re te ase  sh a tt b e  su b jec t to  th e  p rio r  w ritten  c o n se n t o f  th e  o th e r p a r ty  hereto  u n tess  such  p re ss  re te ase  is re q u ired  to be m ade to  co m p ty  w ith  an y  A p p tic a b te  L aw , 
in w h ich  e v e n t no c o n se n t shat! be re q u ired ; p ro v id ed  tha t th e  B uyer is p ro v id ed  a re aso n ab te  o p p o rtu n ity  to rev iew  and co m m en t on  such  re te ase  to  th e  ex te n t re a so n a b ty  p ra c ticab te  g iv e n  th e  
re q u irem en t to m ake su ch  d isc to su re . W ith o u t tim iting  th e  g en e ra tity  o f  th e  p re ced in g  sen ten c e , th e  B uyer acknow tedges th a t S e tte rs  a re  re q u ired  to  issu e  ce rta in  p re ss  re te ase s  w ith  re sp ec t to 
this A g reem en t as a re su !t o f  ce rta in  a ffitia te s  o f  S etters  b e in g  p u b tic ty  trad e d  c o m p a n ie s  and  th a t such  p ress re teases m ay be m ad e  by  S etters  (a n d  th e ir a f f itia te s )  w ith o u t the B u y e r 's  p rio r 
w ritten  c o n se n t; p ro v id ed  th a t th e  B u y er is p ro v id ed  a reaso n ab te  o p p o rtu n ity  to re v ie w  and co m m en t on such  re te ase  to  the e x te n t re a so n a b ty  p ra c ticab te  g iv en  th e  re q u irem en t to  m ake su ch
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d esig n a tio n  and  ap p o in tm en t and ag rees to  fuHy com pty  w ith  any  !RS R ep o rtin g  R eq u irem en ts  tha t arc or m ay beco m e ap p tica b te  as  a re su it o f  o r in c o n n e c tio n  w ith  th e  tran sa ctio n  
c o n te m p ta te d  by  th is  A g reem en t. W ith o u t tim itin g  th e  resp o n s ib itity  and  o b tig a tio n s  o f  the E scrow  A gen t a s  the R eporting  P erson , th e  S e tte rs  and  the B u y er h e reb y  ag ree  to  co m p ty  w ith  any 
p ro v is io n s  o f  th e  !R S R eporting  R eq u ire m e n ts  tha t are n o t id en tified  there in  as the re sp o n s ib itity  o f  the R ep o rtin g  Person.

Section !4 .5  E sc ro w  P ro v is io n s .

(a ) T he E scrow  A gen t sha!! ho!d the C ash  D ep o sit in e sc ro w  in an in tere st-b earin g  bank  ac co u n t a t JP M o rg an  C hase B ank , N .A . (th e  " E scro w  A c c o u n t"). A!! fu n d s  he!d  by  
th e  E sc ro w  A g en t h e re u n d e r sha!! b e  in a s e g re g a te d  (non -co m m in g !ed ) a c co u n t e s tab !ished  on b e h a !f  o f  and  in tru st fo r th e  B u y er an d  S etters , as th e ir  in te re s ts  m a y  ap p ear. T h e  C a sh  D e p o sit
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(c ) T he p artie s  ac k n o w ted g e  th a t th e  E scrow  A g e n t is ac tin g  so !e ty  as a s ta k e h o td e r  at th e ir  re q u es t and  fo r th e ir  co n v e n ien ce , that the E scro w  A g e n t sha!! n o t be dee m ed  to 
be th e  ag e n t o f  e i th e r  o f  the p a rtie s , and the E scrow  A g en t shall no t be tiab te  to e ith e r o f  the p a rtie s  fo r any  ac t o r  om issio n  on its  p art, o ther th an  fo r its n eg iig en c e  o r  wiHfu! m isc o n d u c t.

(d ) T h e  E scro w  A gen t has ack n o w !ed g ed  its  ag reem e n t to  th ese  p ro v is io n s  by  sig n in g  th is  A g reem en t in th e  p tace  in d ica te d  fo tto w in g  th e  s ig n a tu re s  o f  th e  S eH ers and  the 
B u y er. T h is A g reem en t shat! be fu tty  en fo rceab!e  upon ex e cu tio n  h e re o f  by th e  B u y er and  SeH ers. T he fa itu re o f  E sc ro w  A gen t to ex e cu te  th is  A g reem en t sha!! n o t a f fe c t  th e  c n fo rcc ab i!ity  o f  
th is  A greem en t.

(e ) T h e  B u y er and the S e tte rs  ack n o w !ed g e and ag ree  th a t (i) th e  E scrow  A g en t sha!! n o t b e  re sp o n s ib te  fo r !ev ies by tax in g  a u th o ritie s  b ase d  u pon  the ta x p a y e r 
id en tifica tio n  n u m b er used  to  es tab !ish  th is  in te re st b ea rin g  ac co u n t and  (ii) th e  E scrow  A gent has no !iabi!ity  in th e  even! o f  fa i!u re, in so tv e n cy , or inab i!ity  o f  th e  d e p o s ita ry  to  p ay  th e  C ash

Section !4 .6  S u c c e sso rs  and  A ss ig n s ;  N o  T h ird -P arty  B eneficiarie s. T h e  s tip u !a tio n s , te rm s , c o v e n a n ts  and  ag reem e n ts  co n ta in e d  in th is  A g re e m e n t sha!! inu re  to
th e  b en e fit o f, an d  sha!! b e  b in d in g  u p o n , th e  p a rtie s  h ere to  and  th e ir re sp ec tiv e  p e rm itted  su cc esso rs  and  a ss ig n s (in c tu d in g  any  su c c e sso r  e n tity  a f te r  a p u b tic  o ffe r in g  o f  s to ck , m erg e r,

p a r t i e s h e r e to a n d s u c h a s s ig n s .a n y te g a to r e q u i ta b te r ig h ts h e r e u n d e r .

Section )4 .7  A ss ig n m e n t. T h is  A g reem en t m ay no t be ass ig n ed  by  the B uyer w ith o u t th e  p rio r w ritten  co n sen t o f  the SeH ers. N o tw ith s ta n d in g  th e  fo re g o in g , th e
p artie s  ack n o w )ed g e and agree tha t the B u y er sha!! b e  p e rm itted  to d esig n a te , in w riting  to SeH ers g iv en  no !a ter than  fifteen  ( ! 5 )  B u s in e ss  D ays p rio r  to the C !o sin g  D a te  o r such  e a rtie r  tim e as  
re q u ired  by  th e  A ssum ed  Loan L en d er P arties , one o r  m ore  a ffilia te s  to  w h ich  o n e  o r m ore o f  the A sse ts  wiH be ass ig n ed  a t C to sin g  (e ach , a " B uver A ffilia te  A c a u iro r ' l .  w ith  su ch  app !icab !e  the 
B u y e r A ffitia te  A c q u iro r ass ig n ed  the ap p tica b te  o b tig a tio n s  u n d er at! S pace  L ea ses , A ssum ed  C o n trac ts  and  A ssu m ed  L oans re ta ted  to the ap p tica b te  P ro p erty , p ro v id e d  tha t th e  B u y er and  att

c o n su m m a te  th e  tran sa c tio n s  co n te m p ta te d  by th is  A g re e m e n t, so  tong  as su ch  ad d itio n a) d o cu m e n ts , in s tru m en ts  an d  a c tio n s  are  tak e n  at th e  c o s t and  e x p e n se  o f  th e  re q u e s tin g  p a r ty  and  do 
no t increase  o r  crea te  )iabi)ity  o f  the n o n -requesting  party , !t is the in ten t o f  the SeH ers that the co n v e y an c es  at C to sin g  w itt inc tude  att o f  S e tte rs ' in terest in at! !and, bu ild in g s an d  im pro v em en ts  
th a t are u sed  in the o p era tio n  o f  the P ro p ertie s. W ith o u t ! im itin g  the g en e ra lity  o f  th e  p re ced in g  sen ten c e , i f  th e re  are any  p a rce ls  o f  v acan t o r  u n d ev e lo p ed  lan d  th a t a re  a d ja c e n t, co n tig u o u s  or
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$250 0 !d  O rchard R oad, Suite 300 
Skokie, !Hinois 60077 
A tten tion : WiMiam B. C ohen 
Facsim ile: (3)2 )915-069!
Te!ephone: (3 !2 ) 9 !5-0688

E!bit !m aging  Ltd.
2 W eitzm an S treet 
Te! A vviv  64239, !srae!
A tten tion : A m it S h iff 
Te!ephone: 972 (3) 608-6035

w ith  co p ie s  th e re o f  to:

D D R Corp.

B eachw ood ,O H  44 !22

Facsimi!e: (2 )6 ) 755-)650 
T e!ephone: (2 )6 )7 5 5 -5 6 5 0

Fu)bright &  Jaw orski L .L.P.
98 San Jac in to  B oulevard , Suite ! !00  
A ustin , T exas 7870!

Facsim ite: (512)536-4598 
T elephone: (512)536-5238

64



(b) To  the Buyer;

c/0 B lackstone  Rea! E state P artners V ll  L.P. 

32nd F!oor
N ew  York, N ew  York !0 !54

Facsim ile: ( 2 1 2 ) 5 8 3 -5 7 ^ ^
T elephone: (212)583-5293

D D R Corp.

B eachw ood, OH 44122

Facsimile: (216)755-1650 
T elephone: (216)755-5650

N ew  York, N ew  York 10017

Facsimile: (212) 455-2502 
T elephone: (212)455-2459

(c) T o  DDR:

DDR Corp.
3300 E nterprise Parkw ay 
B eachw ood, OH 44122

Facsimile: (216) 755-1650 
T elephone: (216)755-5650

901 L akeside A venue 
C leveland , O hio 44114 
A ttn: Z achary  T . P aris, E sq.
Facsim ile: (216) 579-0212 
T elephone: (216)586-7275

F ide lity  N a tiona l T itle  Insurance C om pany 
1 Park A venue, S u ite  1402 
N ew  Y ork, New  York 10016

Facsimile: (646)742-0733 
T elephone: (212) 845-3135
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Section !4. !5  W A !V ER OF TRIA L BY JU R Y . EACH OF THE PARTIES H ERETO  HEREBY IRREVOCABLY W A IVES ANY A N D  A LL RIG H T TO TRIA L BY JU R Y  IN
ANY LEGAL PRO CEED ING ARISING O U T OF OR RELATED TO TH IS AGREEM EN T, THE CLOSING DOCUM EN TS OR THE TRA N SA CTIO N S C O N TEM PLA TED  HEREBY OR THEREBY.
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Section !4. !6  S$ygrah)l)ty. ! f a n y  term  o r  p rov ision  o f  th is  A g reem en t o r  the ap p tica tio n  th e re o f  to  an y  p erso n  o r c irc u m sta n ces  sh a tt, to  an y  ex te n t, be in v a tid  or
u n en fo rce ab te , th e  re m a in d er o f  th is  A g reem en t o r the ap p tica tio n  o f  such te rm  o r p rov is ion  to  perso n s o r circ u m sta n ces  o th e r than  th o se  as to  w h ich  it is  hetd  in v atid  o r u n e n fo rc e a b te  shatt n o t 
be affec ted  th e re b y , and  ea ch  term  and  p ro v is io n  o f  th is  A g reem en t shat! be vatid  and  en fo rceab te  to  th e  fu ttest ex ten t perm itted  by  !aw.

A g reem en t and shat! n o t be deem ed  in any m an n e r to  m od ify , ex p !a in , expand  o r  re s tr ic t any  o f  th e  p ro v is io n s  o f  th is A g reem en t.

Section )4. !8  C9unt?n??!־t$- T h is A g reem en t m ay b e  execu ted  in tw o o r m ore co u n te rp arts , inc tud ing  by  e te c tro n ic  m ean s, each  o f  w h ich  shatt b e  d ee m ed  an o rig in at,
and  a)) o f  w h ich  wi)t b e  d ee m ed  th e  sam e in s tru m en t, and it shat) not be n ec essary  in m ak in g  p ro o f  o f  th is  A g reem en t to  p ro d u c e  o r a c co u n t fo r m ore than  one su ch  co u n te rp art.

Section )4 .)9  C o n s tru c tio n . T he p artie s  ack n o w )ed g e th a t the partie s and  th e ir co u n se t have re v ie w ed  and  re v ise d  th is  A g reem en t an d  th a t the no rm a! ru!e o f
c o n stru c tio n  to  th e  effec t th a t any  am b ig u itie s  are to be reso !ved  ag a in st th e  d ra ftin g  party  sha)) no t be em p to y ed  in th e  in te rp re ta tio n  o f  th is  A g reem en t o r an y  e x h ib its  o r am e n d m e n ts  here to .

Section )4 .20  R eco rd a tio n . N e ith e r th is  A g reem en t n o r  any m em orandum  o r  no tice o f  th is A g reem en t m ay  be re co rded  by a n y  p a rty  h e re to  w ith o u t th e  p rio r  w ritten
co n se n t o f  th e  o th e r  p a rty  h e re to . T h e  p ro v is io n s  o f  th is  S ec tio n  shat! su rv iv e  the C to sin g  o r an y  te rm in atio n  o f  th is A g reem en t.

Section !4.2! L m s  9f  Essen??. T im e is o f  th e  esse n ce  to th is A g reem en t and to a!! d a te s  and tim e perio d s set fo rth  h ere in , ! f  p e rfo rm an c e  o f  an y  o b !ig a tio n s  u nder
th is  A g re e m e n t is sch e d u le d  o r re q u ired  to  o cc u r on a day tha t is  no t a B u s in e ss  D a y , then  th e  sch e d u !ed  o r requ ired  d a te  shatt b e  th e  n ex t B u sin e ss  D ay.

Section )4.22 Exctusivitv. E xcept as perm itted  here in , during  the term  o f  th is A greem en t, n e ith e r th e  SeH ers n o r th e ir  a ffitia te s  sha!! so!icit, au th o rize  th e  so !ic ita tion  of,
o r  en te r in to  any  a g re e m e n t o r d iscu ss io n s  w ith  any  th ird  p a rty  co n c ern in g  any  o ffe r  or p o ssib te  o ffe r fo r a th ird  party  to ac q u ire  th e  A sse ts  o r an y  in terest th e re in  (w h e th e r d eb t o r eq u ity , 
d irec tty  or in d irec tty ) o r  w ith  respect to  any  s im ita r transaction .
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!N W !T N E S S  W H E R E O F ,  this Agreement has been duty executed by the parties hereto as o f the day and year first above written.

SELLERS:

D D R M D T  W O O D F IE L D  V IL L A G E  LLC ,
D D R M D T  FA IR FA X  T O W N  C E N T E R  L L C ,
D D R  M D T  C A R IL L O N  P L A C E  L L C ,
D D R R IV E R C H A S E  L L C ,
DDR R IV E R C H A SE  II L L C ,
D D R M D T  P A R K E R  PA V IL IO N S II  L L C ,
D D R M D T  U N IO N  R O A D  PLA ZA  L L C , 
each  a  D e]aw are lim ited  iiabi!ity  com pany

By: E D T  Fund LLC , a  D eiaw are !im ited !!ability com pany, 
Each such  S e lle r 's  so le m em ber

By: E D T  M anagem ent LLC , a  D e)aw are )im ited liability  
co m p a n y , its m anager

By: /s /  A tex a n d er B erm an 
N am e: A )exander Berm an

BG T R A N S IT  JA  I, L L C ,

By: /s/ Alexander Berman



D D R M D T  S H O P P E R S  W O R L D  L L C ,

By: D D R M D T  SW  H otdings LLC , a D elaw are !im ited !iabi!ity

tts  so!e m em ber

By: ED T M anagem ent LLC , a D etaw are !im ited !iabi!ity 
co m p a n y , its m an a g er



D D R M D T  H A R B ISO N  C O U R T  L L C ,
DDR M D T  P IO N E E R  H IL L S  L L C ,
each a D elaw are !im ited !iabi!ity com pany

By: D D R  M acquarie L onghom  H o!dings L L C , a  D e!aw are !im ited 
!iab i!ity  co m p a n y , each  su ch  S e!!e r 's  its so!e m em ber

By: E D T  F und LLC , a  D elaw are lim ited liabi!ity  com pany,
Its so le m em ber

By: E D T  M anagem ent LL C , a D elaw are !im ited liability 
co m p a n y , its m anager

N am e: A lexander Berm an 
T itle: V ice President

D D R M D T M A C A R TH U R  M A R K E T PL A C E  LP,

By: D D R M D T  M acA rthur G P LLC , a D elaw are lim ited liability 
co m p a n y , its  genera! p a r tn e r

By: D D R  M acquarie L onghom  H otd ings L L C , a  D elaw are lim ited 
liab ility  com p an y , its so le m em ber

By: ED T Fund LLC , a  D elaw are lim ited liability  com pany,
Its so le m em ber

By: ED T M anagem ent LLC , a D elaw are !im ited liability 
co m p a n y , its m anager

By: /s/ Alexander Berman



D D R M D T B R O O K F IE L D  L L C ,
D D R M D T  LA K E  BRA NDON V IL L A G E  L L C ,
D D R M D T  C O N N E C T IC U T  C O M M O N S L L C ,
DDR M D T B R O W N  D E E R  C E N T E R  L L C ,
DDR M D T B R O W N  D E E R  M A R K E T  L L C ,
DDR M DT R IV ER D A L E V IL L A G E  IN N E R  R IN G  LLC , 
DDR M DT R IV ER D A L E V IL L A G E  O U T E R  R IN G  LLC ,

By: /$/ A le xander.B erm an



DDR M D T G R A N D V ILLE M A R K E T PL A C E  L L C , 
D D R M D T  P A R K E R  PA V ILIO N S L L C ,



DDR M D T BELD EN  PA R K  L L C ,
DDR M D T BELD EN  P A R K  I!  L L C ,
DDR M D T  G R E A T  N O R T H E R N  L L C ,
D D R M D T M ID W A Y  M A R K E T P L A C E  LLC ,
DD R M D T M E R R !A M  T O W N  C E N T E R  L L C ,
DDR M D T  M O N A CA  T O W N S H IP  M A R K E T P L A C E  L L C , 
D D R  M D T  C O O L  S P R IN G S  P O IN T E  L L C ,
DDR M D T LA K E W A LD EN  S Q U A R E  L L C ,
DDR M D T P IE D M O N T  PL A Z A  L L C ,
DDR M D T  W IN T E R  P A R K  PA L M S L L C ,

By: D D R M D T  R evolver H old ings LLC , a D elaw are limited

Its so le  m em ber

By: ED T M anagem ent LLC , a  D elaw are lim ited liability 
com pany , its m an a g er



DDR M D T C H E E K T O W A G A  W A LD EN  PL A C E  LLC , 
DDR M D T  A SH E V IL L E  R IV E R  H !L L S  LLC ,
DDR M D T  W A L D E N  A V E N U E B O O K S T O R E  L L C , 
D D R M D T  W A L D E N  C O N S U M E R  SQ U A R E L L C , 
D D R M D T  B A TA V IA  C O M M O N S  L L C ,
D D R M D T  B A T A V tA  S JB  PL A Z A  L L C ,
DDR M D T FA Y E T T E V IL L E  SPR IN G  C R E E K  LLC, 
DDR M D T  W IL L IA M S V IL L E  P R E M IE R  P L A C E  L L C , 
DDR M D T FA Y E T T E V IL L E  ST E E L E  C RO SSIN G  LLC , 
DDR M D T  U N IO N  C O N SU M E R  SQ U A R E LLC ,
DDR M D T  M U R FR E E S B O R O  T O W N E  C E N T E R  L L C , 
DDR M D T E R IE  M A R K E T PL A C E  LLC,

By: D D R M D T Bison Hotdings LLC, a D elaware limited
liab ility  com p an y , each  such S e lle r 's  so le  m em ber

By: ED T  Fund LLC , a  D elaw are limited liability com pany.
Its so le m em ber

By: E D T  M anagem ent LL C , a D elaw are lim ited liability
co m p a n y , its m anager

By: /s /  A tex a n d er B erm an



DD R M D T  S H O P S  A T T U R N E R  H IL L  LLC ,
DDR M D T  T U R N E R  H IL L  M A R K E T PL A C E  LLC ,
DDR M D T  F L A T A C R E S M A R K E T C E N T E R  L L C ,
DD R M D T  O V E RLA N D  P O IN T E  M A R K E T P L A C E  L L C ,

By: D D R  M D T  PS L L C , a  D elaw are lim ited  liability com pany, 
ea ch  su ch  S e l le r 's  so le  m em ber

By: E D T  M anagem ent L L C , a  D elaw are lim ited liability 
co m p a n y , its  m an a g er

By: /s /  A lex a n d er B erm an 
N am e: A lexander Berm an 
T itle : V ice  President

DDR M D T M C K IN N EY  M A R K E T PL A C E  LP,
A D elaw are  lim ited  partne rsh ip

By: D D R  M D T  M cK inney M arketp lace G P L L C , a D elaw are lim ited 
liab ility  co m p a n y , its genera l p artn e r

By: D D R M D T  PS LLC , a D elaw are lim ited liability com pany,
Its so le m em ber

By: E D T  M anagem ent LLC , a D elaw are lim ited liability 
co m pany , its m an a g er

By: / s /  A lex a n d er B erm an 
N am e: A lexander Berm an 
T itle : V ice  President



DDR M D T  F R ISC O  M A R K E T P L A C E  LP

By: D D R M D T Frisco M arketp!ace G P  LLC , a D etaw are !imited

By: DDR M D T  PS LLC , a De!aw are !im ited !iabi!ity com pany,
!ts so!e m em ber

By: /$/ A!.SX.an d er B $rm an

DDR M D T  M A R K E T PL A C E  A T T O W N E  C E N T E R  L P

By: D D R  M D T  M arketp lace a t Tow ne C en ter G P  LLC , a  D e!aw are

By: D D R M D T  PS L L C , a D e!aw are !im ited !iabi!ity com pany,

By: /s/A le x ander  B erm an 
N am e: A !exander Berm an 
T itte: V ice  President



BUYER:

BRE DDR RETAIL HOLDtNGS LLC



JO fN DER  B Y  D D R

DDR CORP.

By: /s /  D aniet B. H urw itz
N am e: Daniet B. Hurw itz 
T itte: P resident and CEO

DDR M D T HOLD IN G S I! TRU ST

By: /s / D aniet B. H urw itz

Titte: P resident and CEO



J O IN D E R  B Y  T H E  E SC R O W  A G E N T

Fidelity  N a tio n a l T itle  Insurance C om pany, referred  to in th is A g reem en t as  th e  "E scro w  A g e n t,"  h e reb y  a c k n o w led g e s  th a t it re ce iv e d  th is  A g reem en t e x e c u te d  by  the S eH ers an d  the 
B u y e r as  o f  the —  day  o f  Jan u a ry , 2012 , a n d  ac ce p ts  the o b lig a tio n s  o f  th e  E sc ro w  A gen t as se t fo rth  h ere in . T h e  E sc ro w  A g e n t fu r th e r a c k n o w led g e s  tha t it  re c e iv e d  th e  C ash  D e p o s it on 
—  d ay  o f  Ja n u a ry , 20  !2 . T h e  E scrow  A g en t hereb y  a g rees  to  ho ld  and  d is tr ib u te  th e  C ash D e p o sit in ac c o rd a n c e  w ith  th e  te rm s  and  p ro v is io n s  o f  th e  A g reem en t.

FID ELITY  N A T IO N A L TITL E IN SU R A N C E CO M PA NY

By: ^ .K $ ! 1n!h,C , C ohen



G U A R A N T Y  O F B L A C K S T O N E

B tackstone Rea) Estate P artners V!! L .P ., a D elaw are lim ited partnersh ip  ( " B tack sto n e"). hereb y  irre v o ca b ly  an d  u n co n d itio n a lly  g u a ra n te e s  to the S e lle rs  th e  due and  p u n c tu a l fu n d in g  o f  th e  
L iq u id ated  D a m a g es A m oun t u n d e r A g reem en t o f  P u rchase an d  S ale to  w h ich  th is  G u aran ty  is  a ttach ed  (th e  " A greem en t" : c a p ita liz ed  te rm s  used  h e re in  b u t n o t d e f in e d  sh a ll hav e  the sam e 
m ean in g s a sc rib ed  to sa id  te rm s  in the A g reem en t) , to  the ex te n t th e  sam e is requ ired  to  be fu n d e d  p u rsu a n t to  the A g reem en t. U p o n  th e  re q u irem en t to  fund  the L iq u id a ted  D a m a g es A m o u n t 
p u rsu a n t to  the A g reem en t, B la ck sto n e  ag rees tha t it shall pay  the L iq u id ated  D am ages A m oun t to E scrow  A g en t in im m e d ia te ly  a v a ila b le  fu n d s w ith in  fiv e  (5 ) B u sin e ss  D ays a f te r w ritten  
dem and from  th e  SeH ers is sen t to B u y er to  fund  the L iqu idated  D am ages A m o u n t. T he liab ility  o f  B lackstone  u nder th is  G u aran ty  fo r fun d in g  o f  the L iq u id a ted  D am ag es A m o u n t, i f  req u ired  to 
be p aid  p u rsu a n t to  th e  A g reem en t, is co n tin u in g  and  shall on ly  be d isch arg ed  by th e  fu ll fun d in g  by B la ck sto n e  o f  the L iq u id a ted  D am ag es A m o u n t u n d e r th e  A g reem en t o r the te rm in a tio n  o f  
the A g reem en t (o th e r  than  p u rsu a n t to  a te rm in a tio n  o f  th e  A g reem en t tha t re q u ires  th e  pay m en t o f  th e  C ash  D e p o sit to  SeH ers).

T h is  is a g u aran ty  o f  pay m en t and  no t o f  co llec tio n . T he liab ility  o f  B lack sto n e  u n d er th is  G u a ran ty  shall be d irec t and  im m e d ia te  and  n o t co n d itio n a l o r c o n tin g e n t upon th e  p u rsu it o f  any  
rem ed ies  ag a in st^ B u y er o r an y  o th e r  perso n . SeH ers, in th e ir sole d isc re tio n , m ay p roceed  d irec tly  ag a in st B lackstone  u nder th is  G u a ran ty  w ith o u t f irs t p ro c eed in g  ag a in st the B u y er o r

B lack sto n e  re p rese n ts , w a rra n ts  an d  ac k n o w led g e s tha t B lack sto n e  h as  re ce iv e d  g o o d , v a lu a b le  and  su ff ic ie n t c o n sid e ra tio n  fo r th e  m ak in g  o f  th is  G u a ran ty  and  e x p ress ly  a g rees  tha t re co u rse  
m ay be had a g a in st B la c k s to n e 's  p ro p e rty  fo r all o b lig a tio n s  u n d er th is  G u a ran ty , and  fu r th e r a g rees  th a t an y  an d  all o f  B la c k s to n e 's  p ro p e rtie s  shall b e  su b jec t to  e x e cu tio n  fo r an y  ju d g m e n t

B lackstone  ab so lu te ly  and  u n co n d itio n a lly  g u aran tee s  the p ro m p t and full p ay m e n t o f  all co s ts  and  expenses o f  w h a te v er n a tu re  o r  k in d , in c lu d in g , w ith o u t l im ita tio n , re aso n ab le  a t to rn e y s ' fees, 
in cu rred  by S eH ers in e n fo rc in g  th e  p ro v is io n s  o f  th is  G u aran ty  and in c o llec tin g  the o b lig a tio n s  g u aran tied  he reu n d er, w h e th e r o r no t legal ac tio n  is b ro u g h t a g a in st th e  B u y er, B la ck sto n e  or 
e ith e r o f  th em , inc lu d in g , bu t n o t lim ited  to , those incu rred  in co nnection  w ith  court p ro ceed in g s at trial and ap p e lla te  leve ls , in c lu d in g , w ith o u t lim ita tio n , b a n k ru p tc y  and  p ro b a te  p ro c eed in g s.

B lackstone hereby  w aives: (i)  no tice o f  ac ce p ta n ce  o f  th is G uaran ty ; (ii)  no tice  o f  crea tion  o f  an y  ob ligation  g uaran teed  hereby ; (iii) d ilig e n ce  in co llec tio n  and  in rea liza tio n  o f  re covery  from  the 
sec u rity  fo r the g u aran tee d  o b tig a tio n s; and  ( iv )  p re sen tm en t, d em and , p ro tes t, n o tice  o f  d ish o n o r and  a ll o th e r n o tices .



BLA CK STO N E REA L ESTA TE PA RTN ERS VH L .P., 

By: B REA  VH L .L.C ., its generat partner



Exh ib it  4.11

T h is  F ir s t  A m e n d m e n t to A g re e m e n t o f  P u rc h a se  a n d  Sa!e ( th e  "A g re e m e n t" )  h as  been  in d u d e d  to  p ro v id e  in v esto rs  w ith  in fo rm a tio n  re g a rd in g  its  te rm s , ! t  is n o t  in te n d e d  to  p ro v id e  an y  
o th e r  fa c tu a ! in fo rm a tio n  a b o u t th e  R e g is tra n t . T h e  re p re se n ta tio n s , w a rra n tie s  a n d  co v e n an ts  co n ta in e d  in  th e  A g re e m e n t w e re  m a d e  on!y fo r  p u rp o se s  o f  su ch  a g re e m e n t a n d  as o f th e  
specific  d a te s  th e re in , w e re  so!e!y fo r  th e  b en e fit o f  th e  p a r tie s  to  su ch  a g re e m e n t, an d  m ay  be s u b je c t  to  ! im ita tio n s  a g re e d  u p o n  by  th e  c o n tra c tin g  p a r tie s ,  in d u d in g  b e in g  q u a lifie d  by 
co n fid e n tia ! d is d o s u re s  ex ch an g ed  betw een  th e  p a r tie s  in  connection  w ith  th e  execu tion  o f  th e  A g reem en t. T h e  re p re s e n ta tio n s  a n d  w a rra n tie s  m ay  h av e  been  m a d e  fo r th e  p u rp o s e s  o f 
a llo ca tin g  c o n tra c tu a !  r is k  b e tw e en  th e  p a r tie s  to  th e  a g re e m e n t in s te a d  o f  e s tab !ish in g  th o se  m a tte rs  a s  fa c ts , a n d  m ay  b e  s u b je c t  to s ta n d a r d s  o f m a te r ia l ity  ap p !ic ab !e  to th e  c o n tra c tin g  
p a r tie s  th a t  d iffe r  from  th o se  app!icab !e  to  in v es to rs . In v e s to rs  a re  n o t th i rd  p a r ty  b en e fic iar ie s  u n d e r  the A g reem en t a n d  sh o u ld  n o t re!y  on th e  re p re s e n ta tio n s , w a rra n tie s  a n d  co v e n a n ts  o r 
an y  d e sc rip tio n s  th e re o f  as c h a ra c te r iz a tio n s  o f th e  ac tu a ! s ta te  o f  fa c ts  o r  co n d itio n  o f th e  R e g is tra n t  o r  an y  o th e r  p a r ty  to th e  A g re e m e n t. M o re o v e r, in fo rm a tio n  c o n c e rn in g  th e  su b je c t  
m a t te r  o f  th e  re p re se n ta tio n s  an d  w a rra n tie s  m ay  c h a n g e  a f te r  th e  d a te  o f  th e  A g reem en t, w h ich  su b seq u e n t in fo rm a tio n  m ay  o r  m a y  n o t b e  fu!!y re flec te d  in  th e  R e g is t r a n t 's  p u b tic  
d is d o s u re s .

F IR ST  A M EN D M EN T T O  

A G R E E M E N T  O F PU R CH A SE AND SALE

This F!R ST A M E N D M E N T  TO  A G R E E M E N T  OF PU R CH A SE A N D  SA LE (this ("A m en d m en t") is en te red  into as  o f  Jan u a ry  24 , 2 0 1 2 , by  and b e tw e en  ea ch  o f  the en titie s  !isted  as 
"SeH ers" on th e  s ig n a tu re  p ag e s  h ere to  (co H ec tiv e ly , "S5H 32"), and B R E  D D R Retail H oldings LLC, a D elaw are limited liability  com pany f ' B u v cr"). AH c a p ita liz ed  te rm s  used  bu t n o t o th e rw ise  
d efined  h ere in  shall have the re sp ectiv e  m ean in g s asc rib ed  th e re to  in the A g reem en t (as defined  below ).

W H E R E A S , S ellers  and B u y er are partie s to tha t ce rta in  A g reem en t o f  P u rchase and  S ate, dated  as o f  January  ! 0 ,2 0 ) 2  (the  " A e re e m e n t"). pu rsu an t to w h ich  B uyer w ilt ac q u ire  the 
A ssets  and  assu m e th e  A ssu m ed  L oans from  SeH ers in ac co rd a n ce  w ith  te rm s  th e re in ; and

W H E R E A S , the p a rtie s  hereto  desire  to  am end  th e  A g reem en t a s  se t fo rth  betow .

N O W , T H E R E F O R E , in co n sid era tio n  o f  the fo rego ing  and  fo r o th e r good and  valuab te consid era tio n , th e  receip t and su ff ic ie n cy  o f  w hich  arc hereby  a c k n o w ted g e d , B u y er an d  S etters

(b ) Scction  t . 1 o f  the A g reem en t is hereby  am ended  by inserting  the foH ow ing defined  term s:

" B u v er O b jection  N o tice"  sha!l have the m ean ing  ass ig n ed  there to  in Section  7 .2 (c )."

"E xtended  D ue D itigence Expiration T im e" shatt have the m ean ing  ass ig n ed  th e re to  in Section  7 .2 (b ) ."









)ח( S ectio n  8.6 o f  the A g reem en t is hereby  am ended  by dete tin g  the w ords "D u e D itigence Expiration T im e" th e re in  an d  in se rtin g  the w o rd s  "!n itia t D ue D itigence E xpiration T im e'

in its place.

(0) S ection  8 .9  o f  th e  A greem en t is hereby  am ended  by dete tin g  the w ords "D u e D itigence Expiration T im e" th e re in  an d  in se rtin g  the w o rd s "E x ten d ed  D ue D itigence Expira tion

Tim e " in its  place.

(P) S ection  )4 .9  o f  the A greem en t is hereby  am ended by  in serting  the w ords " o r  sen t by em a it tran sm iss io n "  foH ow ing the w ord  " te te c o p ie d "  th ere in .

(q) S ch ed u te  7 2 (h ) shatt be added  to th e  A g reem en t as a ttach ed  as  Exhibit A here to .

2 . R iv e rc h ase  P ro p erty  M a tte rs . P u rsuan t to  S ection  3 .6 (b ) o f  th e  A g reem en t, th e  SeH ers h av e  no tified  th e  B u y er th a t th e  SeH ers hav e  agreed  to  use com m erciaH y  re aso n ab te  e f fo rts  to 
ca u se  th e  P ro p erty  kn o w n  as  "R iv e rch a se  P ro m en ad e "  ( " R iv erch ase" !  to b e  enroH ed in the A D E R T F . in  fu rthe rance  th e re o f, the B u y er and the S etters  ac k n o w ted g e  and  ag ree  as fo ttow s:

(a) T he B uyer shatt retain EM G C orp . ("EM G") in co n n e ctio n  w ith  the enroH m ent o f  R iv erch ase  in the A D E R T F  p u rsu a n t to a c o n tra c t (th e  " E M G  C on trac t"), w h ich  p ro v id e s  th a t 
upon te rm in atio n  o f  the A g re e m e n t for any re aso n , th e  E M G  C o n trac t sh att, at th e  etec tion  o f  th e  SeH ers, in th e ir  so te and ab so tu te  d isc re tio n , be term inated  o r  a ss ig n e d  to  th e  S e tte r th a t ow n s 
R iv e rc h ase , in ea ch  ca se  w ith o u t an y  fe es , p en a ttie s  o r o th e r am oun ts  req u ired  to b e  paid .

(b ) T he B u y er shatt subm it to the SeH ers, fo r the S e tte rs ' rev iew  and  re aso n ab te  ap p ro v a), the requ ired  n o tifica tio n  o f  e tec tio n  co v e rag e  fo rm s an d  en ro ttm en t fo rm s n ec essa ry  to 
en ro tt R iverchase  in the A D E R T F  and such  o th e r in fo rm atio n  th a t is req u ired  to  be su b m itted  to  th e  A tabam a D epartm en t o f  E nv iro n m en ta t M an ag em en t (the " A P E M ")  as d e ta ite d  in C h ap te r 
335-!6-4 o f  th e  A tab am a A d m in  C o d e a ttac h ed  h ere to  as Exhibit B (co ttec tive ty . th e  " A D E R T F S ubm issions").

(c) T h e  SeH ers shatt app rove o r d isap p ro v e (w ith  specific  co m m en ts) in its re aso n ab te  d iscre tion  the A D E R T F  S u b m issio n s on or be fo re  the ta te r o f  F eb ru ary  t ,  20 !2  o r the date 
that is  tw o  (2 ) B u sin e ss  D a y s af te r the S etters  re ce iv e  the A D E R T F  S ub m issio n s from  the B uyer.





m atte rs  at R iverchase .

3. G o v ern in g  Law : W a iv er o f  Jury T ria t: S ubm ission  to  Ju risd ic tio n . S ectio n s  !4 . !3  through !4 . !5  o f  th e  A greem en t are hereb y  in co rp o ra ted  by re feren ce  h ere in .

4. C o u n te rp a rts . T h is A m en d m en t m ay be ex e cu ted  in tw o  o r m ore  co u n te rp a rts , inctud ing  by  e te c tro n ic  m ean s, each  o f  w h ich  shatt b e  d eem ed  an o rig in at, and  att o f  w h ich  w itt be deem ed  
the sam e  in s tru m e n t, and it shatt n o t  be n ec essa ry  in m ak in g  p ro o f  o f  th is  A m en d m e n t to  p ro d u ce  o r  ac co u n t fo r  m ore  th an  one such  co u n te rp art.

3. N o  O th er C h an ces: R a tifica tio n . E xcep t a s  ex p ressty  a m e n d ed , m od ified  o r  superseded  by th is A m endm ent, the term s o f  the A g reem en t shatt rem ain in futt fo rc e  an d  e f fec t and  are 
h e reb y  ra tified  by  th e  S etters  and  th e  B uyer.



BUYER:

B RE DDR RETAIL HOLDINGS LLC

N am e: N adeem  M eghji 
T itte: V ice  P resident



SELLERS:

D D R M D T W O O D F IE L D  V IL L A G E  L L C , 
DDR M D T FA IR FA X  T O W N  C E N T E R  L L C , 
DDR M D T  C A R IL L O N  PL A C E  L L C ,
DDR R IV E R C H A SE  L L C ,
DDR R IV E R C H A SE  II  L L C ,
D D R M D T P A R K E R  PA V IL IO N S II L L C , 
DDR M D T  U N IO N  R O A D  PLA ZA  L L C ,

E ach  su ch  S e lle r 's  so le m em ber

T itle : V ice  President 

B C  T R A N S IT  JA  I , L L C .

By: /s/ A.!ex3nd s r  B erm an



D D R  M D T  S H O P P E R S  W O R L D  L L C ,



D D R  M D T  H A R B ISO N  C O U R T  L L C ,
DDR M D T  PIO N E E R  H IL L S  L L C ,

DDR M D T M A C A R TH U R  M A R K E T PL A C E  LP,

By: / $/ A )$xander g en p an



D D R  M D T B R O O K F IE L D  L L C ,
D D R  M D T  LA K E  BRA N D O N  V IL L A G E  L L C ,
D D R  M D T  C O N N E C T IC U T  C O M M O N S  LLC ,
D D R  M D T  B RO W N  D E E R  C E N T E R  L L C ,
D D R M D T  B RO W N  D E E R  M A R K E T  L L C ,
D D R M D T R IV ER D A L E V IL L A G E  IN N E R  RIN G  L L C , 
D D R M DT R IV ER D A L E V IL L A G E  O U T E R  RIN G  LLC ,

By: /$/ A !exand ?r R errnan
N am e: A !exander B erm an 
T it ) e :V ic e  P resident



DDR M D T C R A N D V IL L E  M A R K E T PL A C E  LLC, 
DDR M D T  P A R K E R  PA V IL IO N S L L C ,



DDR M D T  B ELD EN  P A R K  L L C ,
D D R M D T BELD EN  PA R K  !1 L L C ,
D D R M D T  G R E A T  N O R T H E R N  L L C ,
DDR M D T  M ID W A Y  M A R K E T P L A C E  L L C ,
D D R M D T  M E R R IA M  T O W N  C E N T E R  L L C ,
D D R M D T  M O N A CA  T O W N S H IP  M A R K E T P L A C E  L L C ,
DDR M D T  C O O L  S PR IN G S  P O IN T E  L L C ,
DDR M D T  LA K E  W A L D E N  SQ U A R E L L C ,
D D R M D T  P IE D M O N T  PL A Z A  L L C ,
D D R  M D T  W IN T E R  P A R K  PA L M S L L C , 
each  a  D e law are  lim ited  liab ility  com pany

By; D D R  M D T  R evo lver H o ld ings L L C , a  D elaw are lim ited liability  com pany, each  such S eller 's  so le  m em ber 

By: E D T  Fund L L C , a  D elaw are lim ited liability com pany,

By: /$/ A!wM1<i?r 8?! וזד9ח



DDR M D T  C H E E K T O W A C A  W A LD EN  P L A C E  L L C , 
DDR M D T  A SH E V IL L E  R IV E R  H IL L S  LLC ,
D D R M D T  W A LD EN  A V EN U E B O O K S T O R E  L L C , 
D D R M D T  W A LD EN  C O N SU M E R  S Q U A R E  L L C , 
D D R  M D T  B A TA V IA  C O M M O N S  L L C ,
D D R  M D T  B A TA V IA  S JB  PL A Z A  L L C ,
D D R M D T FA Y ETTEV ILLE SPR IN G  C R E E K  LLC , 
DDR M D T  W IL L IA M SV IL L E  P R E M IE R  P L A C E  L L C , 
DDR M D T FA Y ETTEV ILLE S T E E L E  C RO SSIN G  L L C , 
D D R M D T U N IO N  C O N SU M E R  S Q U A R E  L L C ,
D D R M D T  M U R FR E E SB O R O  T O W N E  C E N T E R  L L C , 
DDR M DT E R IE  M A R K E T PL A C E  LLC ,

N am e: A lexander Berm an 
T itle : V ice  P resident



DDR M D T  SH O PS A T T U R N E R  H ]L L  L L C .
DDR M D T TU R N ER  H !L L  M A R K E T PL A C E  LLC ,
DDR M D T PLA TA C R ES M A R K E T C E N T E R  L L c ]
DDR M D T O V E RLA N D  PO )N T E  M A R K E T P L A C E  L L C ,
Each a D ciaw are lim ited liability  com pany

By. D D R  M D T  PS LLC, a D elaw are lim ited liability com pany, 
each  such  S e lle r 's  sole m em ber

By: EDT M anagem ent LLC, a D elaw are lim ited liability 
co m pany , its m an a g er

By: /s /A le x a n d e r Berm an
N am e: A lexander Berm an 
T itle : V ice P resident

DDR M D T M CK IK X EY  M A R K E T PL A C E  LP,
A D elaw are lim ited  partnersh ip

By: DDR M D T  M cK inney M arketp lace G P  LLC, a D elaw are lim ited  liab ility  com p an y , its genera l p a rtn e r 

By: DDR M D T PS LLC, a  D elaw are lim ited liability  com pany,

By: ED T M anagem ent LLC , a  D elaw are lim ited liability

N am e: A lexander B erm an 
T itle : V ice President



[)DR M DT F R !SC O  M A R K E T P L A C E  LP

By: DDR M D T  Frisco M arketp lace C P  L L C , a  D etaw are lim ited liab ility  com p an y , its generat p artn e r

By: DDR M D T  PS L L C , a D etaw are limited liabitity com pany,
Its so le  m em ber

By: E D T M anagem ent L L C , a D elaw are limited liability
co m p a n y , its m an a g er

B y :J s /A i? M D d ? r B erm an

T itle : V ice P resident

DDR M D T M A R K E T PL A C E  A T  T O W N E  C E N T E R  LP

By: DDR M D T  M arketp lace a t T ow ne C enter C P  L L C , a D elaw are lim ited liab itity  com pany, its  genera l partner

By: DDR M D T  PS L L C , a D elaw are limited liabitity com pany,
Its so te m em ber

By: EDT M anagem ent LLC , a D elaw are !imited liabitity
com p an y , its m anager

By: /s /A te x a n d e r  Berm an
N am e: A lexander B erm an
T it!e :V ic e  P resident



D D R  CORP.

By: /s /  D av id  E. W eiss

DDR M DT H O LD IN G S H TRU ST 

By: /s / D avid  E. W eiss

BLACKSTONE REAL ESTATE PARTNERS V!! L.P., 

By: BREA VM L L C . ,  its genera! partner

T itte: SMD



Exhibit 4 , ! 3

This Share Purchase Agreem ent (the "A greem ent") has been included to provide investors with information regarding its term s. It is not intended to provide any o th er factua! inform ation 
about the R egistrant. The representations, w arranties and covenants contained in the Agreement were m ade on!y for purposes of such agreem ent and as of the specific dates therein , were 
so!e!y for the benefit o f the parties to such agreem ent, and may be subject to !imitations agreed upon by the contracting parties, including being qualified by confidential disclosures exchanged 
between the parties in connection with the execution of the Agreement. The representations and w arranties may have been m ade for the purposes of a!!ocating contractua! risk  between the 
parties to the agreem ent instead of establishing those m atters as facts, and m ay be subject to standards of m ateriality applicable to the contracting parties th at differ from  those applicable to 
investors. Investors a re  not th ird  p a rty  beneficiaries under the Agreem ent and should not re!y on the representations, w arranties and covenants o r  any descriptions thereof as 
characterizations of the actua! state of facts o r condition of the Registrant o r  any other p arty  to the Agreement. M oreover, inform ation concerning the subject m atter of the representations 
and w arranties m ay change after the da te  o f the Agreement, which subsequent information may o r m ay not be fully reflected in the R eg istran t's  public disclosures.

SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT
BY

AND
AMONG

B.E.A. HOTELS N.V.
AND

PPHE NETHERLANDS B.V.

AND

PPHE HOTEL GROUP LIMITED
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SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Chamber o f Commerce (Afa/ner van Aoo/7/?ar!(/e/) with nr. 33300462 ("Setter");

2. PPH E N etherlands B.V., a private company with limited liability (Aa$/afgn vfnnaoK cAap 0a w ^ r 0A^/(//rAf/^), incorporated under the laws o f  the Netherlands, w ith a 
statutory seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands having its registered office at Vinoly Tower, Claude Debussylaan 14, 1082 MD Amsterdam the Netherlands and registered with the Dutch 
Trade Register under number 53168100 and a controlled indirect subsidiary (100%) o f PPHE Hotel (the "Buyer"); and

3. PPHE Hotel Group Limited (#k/a Park Plaza Hotels Limited), a company registered in Guernsey (registration no 47131), with a registered office at !*׳ and 2°<* Floors, Elizabeth House, Les 
Ruettes Braycs, St. Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 1EW, Channel Islands ("PPHE Hotel");

(each o f Buyer, PPHE Hotel and Seller, a "P arty"  and collectively, the "Parties").

WHEREAS, PPHE Hotel, indirectly through its wholly owned and controlled (100%) subsidiary(ies) (each, a "PPH E Holding Subsidiary"), and Seller are jointly  the sole shareholders o f  
Victoria M onum ent B.V., a private company with limited liability (A6s/a;fw vcnnoofscAa/y aawspraAf/Z/McM?), incorporated under the laws o f the N etherlands and registered with



WHEREAS, Victoria M onument wholty owns the asset known as art'ote! amsterdam !ocated in the Kadaster bui!ding at Amsterdam, the Netherlands (the "art'o te! am sterdam "); and

WHEREAS, Ama!fa indirectty owns, together w ith a wholty owned subsidiary o f  PPHE Hotel, the asset known as the Park Plaza Amsterdam A irport Hotel located at M elboum estraat 1 
1175 RM Lijnden, the Netherlands (the "A irport Hotel"); and

WHEREAS, Victory Enterprises indirectly owns, together with a wholly-owned subsidiary o f  PPHE Hotel, the assets known as: (i) Park Plaza Victoria Amsterdam  Hotel located at 
Damrak 1-5 , Amsterdam, 1012LC, the Netherlands (the "V ictoria Hotel") and (ii) Park Plaza Utrecht Hotel located at W estplein 50, Utrecht 3531 BL, the Netherlands (the "U trecht Hotel" and 
together w ith art'ote! amsterdam, the Airport Hotel and the Victoria Hotel, the "Hotels", and each one individualty, a "Hotel"); and

WHEREAS, Victory Enterprises sha!l transfer the Astrid Activity in its entirety from Victory Enterprises to the Seller immediatety prior to the C losing (subject to the Aarea! Bank Release 
and Consent) and as a condition to the C losing; and

WHEREAS, subject to the completion o f  the Reorganization (with effect immediately prior to the Closing), the Setter has provided a loan to Victoria M onument, as detailed in Exhibit B 
(the "Intercom pany Loan" as further defined betow); and

this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration o f  the mutua! promises, covenants, terms and conditions and understandings set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration (the 
receipt and adequacy and !ega! sufficiency o f  which are hereby mutua!!y acknow!edged) the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1 The Pream ble. Annexes & Headings

1.1. The Preamble to this Agreement forms an integral part hereof and shat! be binding upon the Parties as the Agreement itsetf.



Definitions and Term s

Restatement Agreement dated Apri! 27, 20!0, by and among Aarea! Bank, as Lender, and Victoria Hote! C.V., Utrecht Victoria Hote! 
C.V., and The Mandarin Hote! B.V., as Borrowers, and Schipho! Victoria Hote! C.V. and Victoria Schipho! Ho!ding B.V., as 
Acceding Ob!igors, and Utrecht Victoria Hote! C.V., Victoria Hote! C.V., The Mandarin Hote! B.V., Victory Enterprises I BV, Victory 
Enterprises II B.V., V ictoria Hote! and Restaurant tnvestment B.V., and Victoria Hote! and Restaurant Management Services B.V. as 
Guarantors in the aggregate amount o f  EUR !!  !,000,000 (EUR One Hundred and Eleven Mi!!ion) re!ating to the refinancing o f  the 
Hote!s and the M andarin Hote! and the acquisition o f  the Airport Hote!.

"Aarea! Bank Re!ease and Consent" -  means the Deed o f  Re!ease and Consent by and between Aarea! Bank, the Purchased Companies, SeHer, PPHE Hote) and Buyer
which upon execution by Aarea! Bank, wi!! be attached hereto as Exhibit C.



has the meaning set forth in the preamb!e.

- means the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the PPHE Deed o f Guarantee, the Elbit Deed o f  Guarantee, the Interna! 
Reimbursement Termination Agreements, and a!! the other documents required to be de!ivered at Ciosing and the Transfer Date

- has the m eaning set forth in Section 3.2.2 hereof.

- Astrid Hote! Holdings B.V., a private company with limited liability (AM/ofen yfnnooKcAap /m?; Aepgr/tyf 
incorporated under the !aws o f the N etherlands, which is a wholty owned subsidiary o f Victory Enterprises.

- means the "Radisson B!u A strid Hote)" !ocated at Koningin Astridp!ein 7, B-2018 Antwerp, Belgium and the "Park inn Hotel, 
Antwerp" located at Koningin Astridplein 14, Antwerp, Belgium, both owned by Astridplaza.

"Amalfa"

A strid"

A strid  Hotels" 

'A strid Activity"



- means any intercompany and shareholders loans made to Astrid and Astridplaza by Victory Enterprises which shall be assigned to 
Seller with effect from Closing, subject to the terms o f that assignm ent and assum ption agreem ent dated on or around the same date 
o f  this Agreement between Victory Enterprises and Astrid and Astridplaza.

- Astridplaza N.V., a company incorporated in Belgium with registered number 0446.394.988, whose registered office is located at 7 
Koningin Astridplein, B-2018 Antwerpen, Belgium, which is a  wholly owned subsidiary o f Astrid.

- means Bank Hapoalim BM, an Israeli bank having its principal place o f  business and Head Office at 23 M enachem Begin Road, Tel- 
Aviv 66183, Israel, and including Bank Hapoalim London Branch.

- means the Credit Facility Agreement between Bank Hapoalim BM and Elbit dated March 31, 2011, as amended from time to time.

September !3,2011.

means Aareal Bank and Bank Hapoalim.

- means the Pledge Agreements dated March !5, 20 !2  (for (i) -  (iii)) issued by: (i) Seller providing a second-ranking lien in favor of 
Bank Hapoalim, subject to Aarea! Bank's rights under the Aareal Facility Agreement over the Seller's shareholdings in Victory

Enterprises' shareholdings in Victoria Hote! and Restaurant B.V. and issued in connection with the Bank Hapoalim Credit Facility 
Agreement; (iii) SeDer providing a first-ranking pledge over Seller's shareholdings in Victoria M onument issued in connection with 
the Bank Hapoalim Credit Facility Agreement; and (iv) SeUer, providing a first-ranking pledge in favor o f  Bank Hapoalim London



means the retease and consent o f  Bank Hapoatim with respect to the Bank Hapoatim Ptedges (save for the Continuing 
Encumbrances) and the consent to the Transaction contemptated hereby, which upon execution by Bank Hapoatim, wit! be attached 
hereto as Exhibit D.

m eans the retease and consent o f  Bank Hapoatim with respect to the termination o f  the Etbit VM  Guarantees, which upon execution 
thereof by Bank Hapoatim, witt be attached hereto as Exhibit E.

means EUR 23,000,000 (twenty three mittion Euros).

"Cat! O ption" 

C!osing"



" d o s in g  Conditions" - means the conditions required to be satisfied in order for the Closing to occur, as set forth in Sections 11.2, 11.3 and 1! .4 hereof.

"Closing D ate" - shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 11.1 hereof

"Completion G uarantee" - means the Completion Guarantee granted by Elbit in favor o f  Bank Hapoalim London Branch in connection with the Bank Hapoalim
Victoria Monument Facility Agreement, dated September 13,2011.

"C onsideration" - means the aggregate consideration to be tendered and/or paid (as applicable) by Buyer and PPHE Hotel hereunder for Seller's
transfer to Buyer o f  the Purchased Shares and the assignment by Seller o f  the Intercom pany Loan, as set out in Clause 4.1.

"C ontinuing Encum brances" - means the Encumbrances in favor o f  Bank Hapoalim London Branch in connection with the Bank Hapoalim  V ictoria M onument
Credit Facility Agreement and in favor o f  Aareal Bank in connection with the Aareal Bank Facility Agreement.

"C ontinuing G uarantee" - means the Continuing G uarantee granted by Elbit in favor o f  Bank Hapoalim London Branch in connection w ith the Bank Hapoalim
Victoria Monument Facility Agreement dated September 13,2011.

"C ontro l" - means the possession, directly or indirectly, o f  the power to direct the m anagement and policies o f  a Person whether through the
ownership o f voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

"CREST"
means the Relevant System (as defined in the CREST Regulations) for the paperless settlem ent o f  share transfers and the holding of 
shares in uncertificated form, in respect o f  which Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited is the Operator (as defined in the CREST 
Regulations).

"C rest R egulations" - means the U n c e r t i f i e d  Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended) (St 2001/3753)

"D C C" - means the Dutch Civil Code.
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"D eterm ining F actor" - m eans, subject to Section 3.5 hereof: ( ! )  if  the PPH Market Price during the M easurement Period is the Target Price or more (as
adjusted for subdivision, combination, capita! reorganization, recapita!ization, reclassification or sim ilar change in the share capita! 
o f  PPHE Hote!) -  the num ber o f  PPH Shares so!d by the Se!!er during the Measurement Period ( if  any). The PPH M arket Price for the 
purposes o f  this part ( ! )  sha!! be deemed to be the Target Price or more, i f  the PPH Market Price during 90 consecutive dealing days 
at the LSE in the M easurement Period is equa! to the Target Price or more; and (2) in all o ther cases -  (A) if  Seller has sold during

(B ) in a l!o th e rc a s e s in u n d e rth is p a r t(2 ) -z e ro .

"Dutch Powers o f A ttorney" - shall have the m eaning ascribed to it in Section 1! .6.1.4 and attached as Schedu!e ! !.6 .1 .4  hereof.

"Etbit Deed of G uarantee" - means the Deed o f Guarantee issued by Elbit on even date herewith guaranteeing for the benefit o f  PPHE Hote! and the Buyer a!! o f
the obligations o f  the SeHer pursuant to this Agreement and the Ancillary A greem ents as set forth on Schedu!e 4 .3 hereof.



-  sha!! have the m eaning ascribed to it in Section 3.3.3 below.

- means the following agreements: (i) !ntemal Reimbursement Agreement dated September 14,2011, by and among PPHE Hotel, Seller 
and Park Plaza Hotels Europe Holdings BV; (ii) Internal Reimbursement Agreement dated December 14, 2010, by and among Victoria 
Hotel C.V., Victoria Hotel and Restaurant Investment B.V., Utrecht Victoria Hotel C.V., The Mandarin Hotel B.V., V ictory Enterprises 
I, B.V., Victory Enterprises, Victoria Hotel and Restaurant Management Services B.V., Schiphol Victoria Hotel C.V., V ictoria Schiphol 
Holding B.V., Amalia and Euro Sea Hotels N.V.; (iii) Internal Reimbursement Agreement by and among Victoria Hotel C.V., Victoria

Enterprises dated October 1, 2004; and (iv) Internal Reimbursement Agreement by and among Victoria Hotel C.V., Victory Hotel and 
Restaurant Investment B.V., Utrecht Victoria Hotel B.V., The Mandarin Hotel B.V., Victory Enterprises I B.V., Victory Enterprises 
and Victory Enterprises III B.V. dated February 7,2000.

"EUR" o r "€"

"G B P" o r"E " 

"Hotel" or "Hotels"



means that certain share purchase agreement dated December 29, 20 !0, by and between Seller. PPHE Hote! and Park Plaza Hote!s 
Europe Holdings B.V.

"London Hotels SPA"

"London Shares" - means the PPHL Shares as such term is defined in the London Hotels SPA, namely, one million ordinary shares o f  nil par value each
o f  PPHE Hotel, that were allotted to Seller under the London Hotels SPA.

"Long Stop Date" - has the m eaning set forth in Section 14.2.

"LSE" - means the London Stock Exchange pic.

"M aterial Adverse Effect" - means an event affecting the Buyer and/or PPHE Hote! on a consolidated basis, which w ould, alone or in the aggregate, have a
material adverse effect on (i) the financial conditions, operating results, assets liabi!ities, operations, condition (financial or 
otherwise) or business prospects o f  PPHE Hote! and/or the Buyer (on a consolidated basis); or (ii) the ability o f  PPHE Hote! and/or 
Buyer to consummate the Transaction and/or fulfil! or perform any o f  its obligations under this Agreement (including paym ent in



- means the notarial third party bank account with BtC Code ABNANL2A, with [BAN NL88ABNA0644 !4! 832, at ABN AM RO Bank 
under the name of Buren van Vetzen Gueten N.V.

PPHE Ho!ding Subsidiary" 

PPHE Hote!"

"PPHE Deed ofG uarantee"

"P P H  M arket Price"

"P P H  Shares"



means the performance o f a!! the foUowing actions: (i) sale and transfer o f a!! the Astrid A ctivity (inc!uding, w ithout !imitation the 
transfer o f a!) Victory Enterprises' ho!dings in Astrid, and the assignm ent and transfer o f  the A strid Intercom pany Loans) to Se!!er; 
and (ii) waiver o f  certain intercompany !oans granted by each o f  Victory Enterprises and Am alfa to Seller; imm ediately prior to 
Closing, subject to Aareal Bank Release and Consent.

means the Seller and its Affiliates excluding the Purchased Companies and their Subsidiaries, 

has the meaning set forth in Section ! H .4.2. 

m eans the fourth anniversary o f  the T ransfer Date.

sha!l have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 3.6 be!ow.

means Victoria Hote! C.V., Victoria HRI B.V., Utrecht C.V., Victoria HRMS B.V., Schiphol Victoria Hote! C.V., Victoria Schiphol 
Holding B.V., Melbourne Holding B.V., M etboume Onroerende Zaken B.V., Me!boume Personee! B.V., each o f  which Subsidiaries 
is owned direct!y or indirectly by PPHE Hote! and Se!!er jointly.

S e l le r "

"S e lle r B re a c h " 

"Seller C o m p an ies"



means a!! taxes o f  any kind (inciuding, without !imitation, excise, stamp, va!ue added, income, gross receipts, sa!es, use, transfer and 
property taxes), withhotdings, assessments, !evies, imposts, duties, govemmenta! fees (inc!uding, without !imitation, !icense, fi!ing 
and registration fees), or other charges, o f any nature whatsoever under any present or future !aws, ru!es or reguiation, together 
with any re!ated pena!ties, fines, additions to tax or interest thereon imposed, withhe!d, !evied or assessed by any country, taxing 
authority or govemm enta! subdivision thereof or therein or by any intem ationa! authority, indud ing  any taxes imposed on any 
natura! or judicia! person(s) as resutt o f  such person(s) being required to co!!ect and pay over w ithho)ding taxes, whatsoever now 
or hereafter imposed.

means the Financia! Services Authority acting in its capacity as the competent authority for !isting pursuant to Part VI o f  the 
Financia! Services and M arkets Act 2000 o f the United Kingdom.

means the transactions contemp!ated hereby as detailed in Section 3 hereof.

"U trecht Hote!" 

"UKLA"



"V ictory E nterprises" - has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

"Victoria Hotel" - has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

reasonably be expected to make enquiry given the subject m atter o f  the relevant provision; and

2.3.2. the knowledge, belief and awareness o f  the Seller shall be deemed to include the knowledge (whether actual, imputed or constructive), be lie f and awareness o f  each such 
Person.

PPHE Deed of Guarantee

Dutch Powers o f  Attorney

PPHE Hotel Board Resolutions 
PPHE Holding Subsidiary's W aiver

Exhibit A 
Exhibit B 
Exhibit C 
Exhibit D 
Exhibit E 
Schedule 3.2.1 
Schedule 3.2.2 
Schedule 3.3.3 
Schedule 3.5 
Schedule 4.2 
Schedule 4.3 
Schedule 6.4 
Schedule 7.5.3 
Schedule 7.6.1 
Schedule 7.7.1 
Schedule l!.6.!.3(a)-(f) 
Schedule 11.6.1.4 
Schedule !!.6.1.5 
Schedule !!.6.!.6(!)-(!6) 
Schedule !!.6.1.7 
Schedule 1!.6. !.8 
Schedute ! 1.6. ! 9 
Schedute !1.6.2.! 
Schedule !!.6.2.2



3.
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3.3.3. The contro! and management o f  the Purchased Companies shat! be transferred from Setter to Buyer upon resignation o f Setter's directors pursuant to Section 3.7 betow 
at Ctosing. Furthermore, Setter shatt detiver to Buyer a power o f  attorney to vote and act on behatf o f Setter by virtue o f  its hotdings o f the Purchased Shares during 
the period commencing at Ctosing and ending at Transfer Date (the "Interim  Period"), provided, however, that Buyer shatt be em itted to act onty in the ordinary 
course o f  such Purchased Com panies (inctuding, for the sake o f ctarity) the ongoing m anagement o f  the Hotets), in the form attached as Schedute 3 .3 .3  hereof.

business; and (ii) not take a resotution for their winding up.

3.3.5. During the Interim  Period Selter undertakes, guarantees and warrants to Buyer that the Purchased Shares shatt be hetd for the risk and benefit o f  Buyer and the Setter 
shatt not conduct any transaction in respect o f  or in connection with the Purchased Shares.

3.4. <?/* F /M 'y  OMgofMy/M K/Mffr f / M  MM Subject to the terms and conditions h e re o f at Transfer Date, pursuant to the Bank Hapoatim  Retease and 
Consent, Elbit shat! be released from alt o f  its obhgations under the E!bit VM Guarantees.

3.5. 7!frm;no%ow o f A t  Closing, Seller, Buyer and PPHE Hote! shall cause the relevant parties to the Interna! Reimbursement Agreements to 
enter into termination agreements in the form attached hereto as Schedule 3.5, terminating the Internal Reimbursement Agreements and a!! rights and obligations amongst such
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Z);r6c;<?ry. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, at Closing, (i) Setter shatt cause B.E.A. Hotets Management B.V., as managing director o־/?> .3.7 f  each o f  the
Setter Companies, to detiver tetters o f resignation pertaining to the resignation o f  B.E.A. Hotets Management B.V. as m anaging director o f  the Setter Companies with immediate 
effect and shat! detiver tetters o f  resignation pertaining to the Setter's resignation as managing director o f  Victoria M onument with immediate effect. Setter hereby represents and 
warrants that each o f  Setter and B.E.A. Hotets Management B.V. has no ctaims or demands in connection with the termination o f  - or o therwise in retation to - its services as 
managing director o f  each o f  the Purchased Companies and Setter shat! futty indemnify and hotd each o f the Purchased Companies, the Buyer and PPHE Hote! harm iess from 
any such ctaim; (ii) each o f  the Purchased Companies shat! adopt a reso!ution in which it accepts the resignation o f  the re!evant m anagement director and granting such

Consideration

4.). !n consideration for Setter's sate and transfer to Buyer o f  the Purchased Shares and the sate and assignment by Setter o f the !ntercom pany Loan to the Buyer, subject to the 
terms and conditions o f  this A greement, Buyer and PPHE Hotet shatt pay (or tender, as the case may be), to Setter the Consideration as fottows:

4 .t.!. By no !ater than the Transfer Date, Buyer sha!! pay the Cash Payment in immediatety avai!ab!e funds by wire transfer into the N otary Third Party Account.

The Cash Payment sha!t be hetd by the Notary in the Notary Third Party Account for the benefit and at the instruction o f  the Buyer untit the execution o f  the Deed of 
Transfer effecting the transfer o f the Purchased Shares from the Setter to the Buyer, in accordance with the Dutch Powers o f Attorney.

!mmediatety fottowing the execution o f  the Deed o f  Transfer, the Cash Payment sha!! be hetd by the Notary in the Notary Third Party Account for the benefit and at 
the instruction o f  the Setter.

4. !.2. By no tater than the Transfer Date, PPHE Hote! sha!! issue to Se!!er the PPH Shares credited as fu!!y paid and free and ctear o f  any and at! Encumbrances and on terms 
that they rank equa!!y in a!! respects with the other ordinary shares o f PPHE Hotct, inctuding the right to receive att dividends or other distributions in respect o f  the
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4.4.3. in the event that the Cat! Option is exercised and consumm ated, the Remaining Cash Payment shatt be reduccd to zero, save that subject to Section 4.4. t in the event 
that during the M easurement Period the PPH M arket Price per share shatt not equat the Target Price or more (as adjusted for subdivision, combination, capita) 
reorganization, recapitatization, redassiflcation or simitar change in the share capita) o f PPHE Hotet), the Remaining Cash Payment wit] be the amount catcutated as the 
number o f shares so)d by Setter prior to the exercise o f the Cat) Option muttiptied by the tower o f  (!) the difference between the Target Price and the Setttement Date 
M arket Price per Share (as adjusted for subdivision, combination, capita) reorganization, recapita)ization, redassiflcation or simitar change in the share capita) o f  PPHE 
Hote)), and (ii) the difference between the Target Price and the Transfer Date M arket Price per Share (as adjusted for subdivision, combination, capita! reorganization, 
recapitatization, redassification or similar change in the share capita! o f PPHE Hotet). The PPH M arket Price for the purposes o f  this Section 4.4.3 shat! be deemed to 
be the Target Price o r more if the PPH M arket Price during 90 consecutive dea!ing days in the M easurement Period sha!! equa! the Target Price o r more.

!n the event that PPHE Hote! (or its assignee) does not exercise the Ca!! Option, then the preceding provisions o f this Section 4.4 sha!! appty.

4.5. Co/cH/3f!on o Dofc Afar&c; P ־/ r/ce  P e r JA ore. The Setttement Date M arket Price Per Share shatt be catcutated as the average o f  the ctosing mid-market PPH Market 
Price over the 60 trading days preceding the Setttement Date.

4.6. o Ac P/־/ /W  In the event that the shares o f  PPHE Hote! are no !onger !isted on the LSE or any other stock exchange due to a tender offer in which the Se!!er 
so!d the PPH Shares he!d by it, then the "Settlement Date M arket Price Per Share" for the purposes o f  this Section 4 sha!! be deemed to be the price per share actually paid 
under the tender offer and the "M easurement Period" for the purpose o f  this Section 4 be deemed to be the period com m encing on the Closing Date and ending on the day on 
which the shares o f  PPHE Hote! are no !onger !isted on the LSE or any other stock exchange, and the o ther provisions o f  this Section 4 sha!! app!y according!y.

!n the event that the shares o f PPHE Hote! are no !onger !isted on the LSE or any other stock exchange due to any reason other than a tender offer in which the Setter sotd the 
PPH Shares hetd by it (subject to Section 5.3 hereof), then the Remaining Cash Payment shatt be set as a fixed amount equat to (i) the Target Price (ii) the Transfer Date 
Market Price per Share, /no/r/p/Zec by the num ber o f  the PPH Shares he!d by Se!ter at the time o f  detisting, which wilt be due and payable at the Settlement Date.

P rovisions Relating tp  ths  PPH  S h a res

5.1. Lock-Up. Selter shat! not se!l, transfer, assign, !end, contract to se!l, se!! any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option o r contract to se!t, grant any option, right 
(other than a ptedge, lien or a sim itar type o f  right), or warrant to  purchase or otherwise dispose o f  the PPH Shares, other than an assignment to an Affiliate o f  the Setter (in 
accordance with Section 5.4) or in connection with the exercise o f  the Call Option, unti! the ear!ier o f  (i) the registration o f  the PPH Shares for trading on main market o f  the LSE 
with premium listing; or (ii) June 30, 20! 2, provided that this sha!l not p redude the Se!!cr from accepting an offer which is made for the whole o f  the share capita! o f  PPHE Hote! 
or which becomes or is declared unconditional as to acceptances.



5.2. Co/; Cpn<?n. PPHE Hotel (or its assignee) shatt have the right to purchase all, but not ]ess than a!], of the PPH Shares then held by SeUer (subject to Section 5.5 hereof) at the 
Target Price per share (as adjusted for subdivision, combination, capita] reorganization, recapitalization, reclassification or sim ilar change in the share capital o f PPHE Hotel) 
(the "Call Option"). The Call Option may be exercised by PPHE Hotel (or its assignee) at any time during the M easurement Period by delivery o f  a written notice to the Setter 
(the "Exercise Notice"). The closing o f  the sa]e o f  the PPH Shares sha]] take place on the tenth Business Day M o w in g  receipt o f  the Exercise Notice and as part o f  such 
closing the Setter shall detiver the PPH Shares free and c lear o f  any Encumbrances against payment o f the purchase price thereof.

3.3. 0/  F irs t R f / tc s /.  [n the event that a third party ("O fferor"), other than an AffiHate o f SeUer, offers to purchase or acquire the PPH Shares or any portion thereof then 
hetd by Setter (subjcct to Section 5.5 hereof; the "O ffered  Shares"), PPHE Hotel (or its assignee, each o f  PPHE Hote] and the assignee, shat! be referred to in this Section as the 
"PPH  P urchaser") shall have a right o f  first refusal to purchase the Offered Shares, but not less than all o f them , at the same price and term s as offered by the Offeror ("R ight 
of F irst Refusal"). Setler shall provide PPHE Hotel with a written notice ("T ran sfer Notice") o f  the Offeror's intent to purchase the Offered Shares, which notice sha]] include 
the num ber o f  PPH Shares to be purchased and the price per share to be paid by theO ffero r and any other term s deemed relevant by SeUer. PPH Purchaser shall have ]O days 
from the date PPHE Hote] receives the Transfer Notice to notify Seller in writing o f its intention to purchase a)i o f  the Offered Shares on the same terms and conditions as those 
offered by the Offeror and the identity o f  the PPH Purchaser. To the extent that the PPH Purchaser notifies Seller o f  its intention to so purchase the Offered Shares in 
accordance with the foregoing w ithin such )0 day period, the PPH Purchaser shal] purchase all o f  the Offered Shares on the same terms and conditions as those o f  the Offeror 
no ]ater than 5 days from the date the PPH Purchaser provides SeUer with its written notice o f  its intent to purchase the Offered Shares, [n the event that the PPH Purchaser 
does not notify Setter within such 10 day period that it intends to purchase the Offered Shares in accordance with the foregoing, or PPHE Hote] notifies Setler in writing that it 
wil] not purchase the Offered Shares within such ]0 day period, then Setler sha]] be entitied to consummate the sa k  and transfer o f the Offered Shares with the Offeror, 
provided that if  Seller does not consummate the sale o f the Offered Shares within 60 days o f  providing the Transfer Notice it witt offer to PPHE Hotel again the Right o f  First 
Refusal. The Right o f First Refusa] hereunder shall not derogate from the right to exercise the Call Option in accordance with the provisions o f  Section 5.1.
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$.4. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein. Setter shatt have a right, in its sote and absotute discretion, to transfer the PPH Shares to any o f  its Affitiates, inctuding Etbit, 
in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Artictes o f Association o f  PPHE Hotet, and the foregoing Right o f First Refusat o f  PPHE Hotet shatt not appty in such case] 
provided that the transferee shat! assume in writing the obtigation o f Setter under Sections 5.2,5.3 and 3.5.

5.5. !t is hereby recorded that under the London Hotets SPA the Setter has been aHotted the London Shares subject to certain price adjustment mechanism , !n !ight o f  the above it is 
hereby agreed that for the purposes o f  this Agreement and the London Hotets SPA (to the extent stitt vatid and/or appticabte), any sa!e or disposition o f PPH Shares and/or 
London Shares shat! be counted as fo!!ows: 60% o f the shares so so!d wit! account and be taken in consideration as a sate o f London Shares under the provisions o f  the 
London Hotets SPA (regardtess whether those share are London Shares or PPH Shares) and 40% o f the shares so sotd wit) account and be taken in consideration as a sate o f 
PPH Shares under the provisions o f  this Agreement (regardtess whether those share are London Shares or PPH Shares). Accordingty, any reference herein to "PPH Shares sotd 
by the Setter" shat! mean such 40% o f  the aggregate num ber o f  the shares o f PPHE Hote! sotd by Setter as aforesaid, and any reference in the London Hotets SPA to "PPHL 
Shares sotd by the Setter" shat! mean such 60% o f the aggregate number o f the shares o f  PPHE Hote! so!d by Setter as aforesaid.

R epresentations and W arranties of PPHE Hotet and the Buyer

(!n this Section 6, each o f Buyer and PPHE Hote! sha!! be referred to a!so as the "Company"; and each such reference, representation or warranty sha!! be read and construed as
app!ying at its fuHest extent both to Buyer and PPHE Hote!).

6.!. Organization



Buyer Subsidiary of PPHE Hote)6.2.

Buyer is a controMed subsidiary o f PPHE Hote) and the shares in the capita) o f the Buyer are indirect)y he)d by PPHE Hote).

6.3. PPH Shares

6.3 ). Each o f  the PPH Shares wi)) be, as o f  the Transfer Date, va)id)y issued to Se!!er, fu))y paid and nonassessabte, and PPHE Hote) sha)) convey to the Buyer good and 
m arketabte tit)e to such PPH Shares, free and d e a r  o f  at) and any Encumbrances and other third party rights whatsoever, other than the Lock-Up in Section 5.) and 
such PPH Shares wit) be issued by PPHE Hote) in comphance with a)) appticabte )aws and stock exchange regdations.

6.3.2. At) the PPH Shares wi)) be, as o f the Transfer Date, admitted for trading and free)y tradabte on the main market o f  the LSE, without any )ock-up or setting restrictions 
imposed pursuant to any agreement o r  taw (other than standard regutatory !ock-up or other restrictions, which are normatty imposed on such registrations by any LSE 
traded companies under the appticabte taw and the restrictions set forth in this Agreement).

6.4. PPHE Hote) Financia) Statements

PPHL has furnished to SeUer its audited, consotidated annua! financia! statements for the financia) year ended 3! December 20)) (the "PPH E Financia! S tatem ents" and are 
attached hereto as Schedute 6.4).

The PPHE Financiat Statements (inctuding the retated notes, where appticabte) so provided are true and accurate in att materia! respects, and fair!y and accuratety present the 
financiat position o f PPHE Hote! and its consolidated group of companies for the respective financia! period.

Each o f PPHE Hote! and Buyer has the fu!! corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the AnciHary Agreements and to perform a!! o f its ob!igations 
hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the Transaction. The execution, de!ivery and performance o f  this Agreement and the Ancittary Agreements by PPHE Hotet and 
Buyer have been duty and vatidty authorized by att necessary corporate action. Each o f this Agreement and the Ancittary Agreements constitutes a )egat, vatid and binding 
obtigation o f PPHE Hotet and Buyer enforceabte in accordance with their terms, and subject to the futfittment and satisfaction of the Ctosing Conditions specified therein. 
Subject to the futfittment and satisfaction o f the Ctosing Conditions and the Transfer Conditions specified therein, no consent, approvat, order, ticense, perm it, action by, or 
authorization o f  or designation, dectaration, or fiting with any govemmenta) authority or any other Persons is required that has not been, or witt not have been, obtained by 
PPHE Hote) and/or Buyer, as appticabte, as o f  the Ctosing in order to effect the vatid execution, detivery and performance o f this Agreement and the Ancittary Agreements and 
the consummation o f  the Transaction by PPHE Hotet and the Buyer as contemp)ated hereby.
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C o m p tia n c e  w ith  o th er  in stru m en ts: N o  B reach6.6.

Neither PPHE Hote! nor Buyer is in viotation o f its A rtid es  o f  A ssociation, the effect o f  which woutd create an o bstade  to or prevent the ctosing o f the Transaction as 
contemptated hereby. Subject to the futfittment o f the Ctosing Conditions and the Transfer Conditions, neither the issuance o f  the PPH Shares to Setter, nor the execution and 
detivery o f this Agreement and/or the AnciHary Agreements, nor the consummation o f  the Transaction contemptated hereby or thereby, witt: (i) conflict with or constitute a 
breach or violation o f  the term s, conditions o r provisions of^ or constitute a default under the A rtides o f  Association o f  PPHE Hote! or Buyer; or (i!) constitute a breach o f  the 
terms, conditions or provisions o f  or default under or violation in any materia! respect o f  any law, statute, stock exchange regu!ations, ru!e, any other regulation, judgm ent, 
order o r decree applicable to PPHE Hote! or Buyer; or (iii) constitute a breach by PPHE Hote! or Buyer o f any contract, agreem ent or undertaking to which PPHE Hote) and/or 
Buyer is a party o r by which any o f  such Party's property is bound, which breach under any o f  (i) to (iii) wou)d have a Materia! Adverse Effect on PPHE Hote! or Buyer.

6.7. Brokers

N o agent, broker, investment banker, person or firm acting in a sim ilar capacity on behalf o f  or under the authority o f  PPHE Hote! and/or Buyer is or wi!! be entitied to any 
broker's or finder's fee or any other commission or similar fee, directly or indirectly, on account o f  any action taken by PPHE Hote! and/or the Buyer in connection with the 
Transaction as contemplated under this Agreement. PPHE Hote! and Buyer, severally and not jointly, will indemnify and ho!d SeUer and any o f  its Affltiates harm)ess from and

6.8. Effectiveness: Survivat

Each representation and warranty herein is deemed to be made on the date o f  this Agreement, at Closing and at the Transfer Date by PPHE Hote! and Buyer and sha!l survive

7.1. Organization



7.2.

Setter has the futt corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Ancittary Agreements and to perform a!! o f  their obtigations hereunder and thereunder 
and to consummate the Transaction. The execution, detivery and performance o f this Agreement and the Ancittary Agreements by Setter and, as appticabte, each o f Amatfa and 
Victory Enterprises, have been duty and vatidty authorized by att necessary corporate action. Each o f this Agreement and the Ancittary Agreements constitutes a tegat, vatid

7.3. Compliance with other Instruments: No Breach

Neither Setter, nor Amatfa, nor Victory Enterprises is in viotation o f  its Artictes o f Association, the effect o f  which woutd create an obstacte to or prevent the Ctosing. Subject to 
the futfittment o f  the Ctosing Conditions, the execution, detivery and o f  this Agreement and/or the Ancittary Agreements, and the consummation o f the Transaction 
contemptated hereby or thereby, wit! not: (!) conflict with or constitute a breach or v iotation o f  the terms, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a defautt under the A rtictes 
o f  Association o f  Se!!er, Amatfa or Victory Enterprises; or (ii) constitute a breach o f the terms, conditions or provisions o f  or defau!t under o r vio!ation in any materia! respect 
o f  any !aw, statute, stock exchange regu!ations, rute, any other regutation, judgment, order or decree appticabte to Setter, Amatfa or Victory Enterprises; or (iii) constitute a 
breach by Setter, Ama!fa or Victory Enterprises o f  any contract, agreement or undertaking to which such entity is a party or by which such entity 's property is bound, which

7.4. Brpkers
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Setter is the sote tegat and beneficiat owner o f  each o f the Purchased Shares and upon sate and transfer o f the Purchased Shares as provided herein, Setter witt convey 
to the Buyer good and marketabie titte to the Purchased Shares. Each o f the Purchased Shares has been vatidty issued, is futty paid, free o f any Encum brance and 
other third party rights, o ther as set forth in Schedute 7.5.1 hereof, and have been issued in comptiance with att appticabte taws.

No Person (other than PPHE Hote! or its Affiliates) has any agreement, option or any right capabte o f  becom ing an agreement o r option for the purchase from the Setter 
o f  any o f  the Purchased Shares, nor have there been issued depositary receipts for any o f  the Purchased Shares.

Ama!fa and Victory Enterprises are the so!e !ega! and beneficiary ho!ders o f the Subsidiary Interests as set out in Schedu!e 7.5.3. The Subsidiary Interests are free of 
any Encumbrance and other third party rights. No Person (other than PPHE Hote! and its Affiliates) has any agreement, option or any right capabte o f  becom ing an 
agreement or option for the purchase from Amatfa or Victory Enterprises o f any o f  these Subsidiary Interests, nor have there been issued depositary receipts for any 
o f  these foregoing Subsidiary Interests.

Setter is the tegat and beneficial ow ner o f  the Intercompany Loan, and upon sate and transfer o f  the Intercompany Loan as provided herein, Se!!er sha!! convey the 
Intercompany Loan, free and clear o f  any and a!! Encumbrances and/or any other third party rights whatsoever. Seiler hereby confirms that subject to the 
Reorganization, there are no other intercompany ioans between Seiler's Group and Seller Companies save for the Intercompany Loan.

Amalfa and Victory Enterprises each solely function as a hoiding company and do not perform any other activity. Exhibit A sets forth the entire !ist o f  com panies held

mediation or similar proceedings, subject to Section 7.5.7 below, save for the Intercompany Loan and sharehoiders agreem ents with respect to the holding o f  the 
Hotets, as well as agreements to which Buyer and/or PPHE Hotel o r any o f their Affiliates are parties.

Subject to the compietion o f  Reorganisation and the transfer the Astrid Activity, the Purchased Com panies shall not have any liability with respect to the Astrid

7.5.1.

7.5.2.

7.5.3.

7.5.4.

7.5.5.

7.5.6.

7.5.7.



7.6. Financia! Statements o f Amatfa and Victory Enterprises

7.6.!. Setter has furnished to Buyer the audited annuat financiat statements for the financia! year ended on December 3 t ,  2 0 )! o f Amatfa and Victory Enterprises (the "Amatfa 
and V ictory E nterprises Financia! S ta tem en ts" and are attached hereto as Schedute 7.6.1).

fairty and accuratety present the resu ttso fand  the financiat position o f Amatfa and Victory Enterprises.

7.6.3. Neither Amatfa nor Victory Enterprises has any tiabitity or obtigation o f any nature exceeding an aggregate amount o f 650,000 (Euro fifty thousands) (whether 
absotute, accrued, contingent or otherwise), inctuding a tiabitity relating to Taxes, except to the extent provided for in the Amatfa and Victory Enterprises Financiat 
Statements.

7.7. M anagement Accounts of Amatfa and Victory Enterprises

7.7.2. The M anagement Accounts: (i) were prepared in accordance with the same accounting poticies as the Amatfa and Victory Enterprises Financia! Statem ents; (ii) were 
prepared on the basis o f  Setter's estimations as for the resutts o f  Amatfa and Victory Enterprises for the period ending on March 3 t ,  2 0 t2 , and, so far as the Setter is 
aware, do not contain any materia) inaccuracies; and/or (iii) fairty state the assets and tiabitities o f each o f  Amatfa and Victory Enterprises at the date to which they are 
made up and the resu!ts o f its operations for the aforementioned period.

7.7.3. There are no tiabitities exceeding an aggregate amount o f  €50,000 (Euro fifty thousands) (inctuding contingent, disputed, unquantified or otherwise but exctuding Tax 
tiabitities) o f  Amatfa and Victory Enterprises except as disctosed in the Management Accounts.

- 2 8 -



7.8. PPH Shares

!n agreeing to accept the PPH Shares Setter has retied onty on pubticty avaitabte information retating to PPHE Hotet and has not retied on any warranty or 
representation m ade by PPHE Hotet, or any o f its directors, cmptoyees, agents o r advisers, att the above, save for any expressty given in this Agreement.

Setter has consented to receiving information which woutd make it an "insider" for the purposes o f  Part V o f  the UK Criminat Justice Act !993 (the "C JA ") and Chapter
5.4. o f  the Dutch Act on the financia! supervision (We? op A c//?nonc/ee/ /oez/cA;) and it is aware of, and has comp!ied with, the ob!igations it has under the CJA and 
Chapter 5.4. o f  the Dutch A ct on the financia! supervision (We; op Ae; /?nonc/ee/ focz/cA/) and section !! 8 o f  the UK Financia! Services and M arkets A ct ("FSM A"), to 
the extent app!icabte to it in retation to PPHE Hotet and the PPH Shares.

Setter agrees to compty with any appticabte rutes and regutations o f  the LSE, the FSMA and any rutes and regutations from the UK Financia) Services Authority and 
the UKLA.

A)! Tax due and payabte, deducted, or withhe!d by any Se!!er Company prior to the date hereof has been paid or, to the extent shou!d have been deducted or withhe!d, 
deducted or withheld. Sufficient provisions have been made for Tax in accordance with the retevant accounting principtes apptied and used in the V ictory Enterprises

7.8.!.

7.8.2.

7.8.3.

7.9. Taxe:

7.9.!.

7.9.2.

7.9.3.

7.9.4.
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7. ] 0. ]n fo rm a tio n  

the Se!!er.

tiabitity which sha!) be incurred by the Purchased Companies under the management of Buyer fo!!owing the d o s in g . Each representation and warranty in this Section 7 (except 
for 7.3.!, 7.5.2,7.5.3,7.3.4 and 7.97.9) sha!! survive for a period o f  24 months after the d o s in g . Each representation and warranty in Sections 7.5.!, 7.5.2, 7.5.3,7.5.4 and 7.8 sha!! 
survive for a period of six months fb!!owing the expiry o f  the app!icab!e statute o f !imitations and in any event for not !ess than seven years after Ctosing.



W ithout prejudice to any other rights or remedies Buyer and PPHE Hote) may have under this Agreement or appticabte taw, subject, however, to Section !0 hereof and 
provided that at) such remedies, either under this Agreement or by taw, shat) be attemative and not cumutative and in no event Buyer and/or PPHE Hote) sha)) be entitted to 
more than its actuat direct damages (vermogen.Mc/!<K/p) as referred to in sections 6:95 and 6:96 DCC and Section !0 betow , Setter hereby undertakes to indem nify and hotd 
harmtess (v r//n w e n  en yc/MM/e/oo.Mfe//en) each o f  the Buyer and PPHE Hote) and their successors and permitted assigns (in accordance with this A greem ent), Ama)fa and 
Victory Enterprises, from and against a)) actions, claims, costs and expenses (inc)uding reasonab)e fees o f  tega) and other advisors) for and in reiation to:

9.).). any Tax )iabi)ity o f  the Se))er Companies and, to the extent a))ocab)e on a pro rata ownership basis, Victoria Hote) CV (so )ong as such Tax Liabi)ity is attributed to 
Se)ter Companies or its hotdings in Victoria Hote! CV (direct and indirect)), as a resutt o f any Event occurring before the Transfer Date, or with respect to any incom e, 
profits or gains which were earned, accrued or received before the Transfer Date, to the extent not provided for in the Amatfa and V ictory Enterprises Financiat 
Statem ents and/or M anagem ent Accounts;

9. !.2. any Tax tiabitity which is primarity a tiabitity o f the Setter's Group, for which a Setter Company is hetd !iab!e as a resu!t o f  the failure by any member o f  the Seiler's Group 
to pay the re!evant Tax Liability pursuant to articles 39 and 43 o f  the Tax Collection Act !990 (/nvorJertngywef /PPO);

9. !.3. any set-off o f any right o f  Buyer and/or its Affiliates to  a repayment o f  Tax relating to the period after the Transfer Date, against a liability to Tax o f  any m em ber o f  the 
Setter's Group pursuant to articte 24 o f  the Tax Coltection Act ! 990 (/nvorJenng.sw e; /  990);

9. ! 4. in addition and without derogating from Section 9 .! . ! ,  any Tax liability which is primarily the liability o f  a third party not being a Purchased Company, one o f  the 
Subsidiaries, PPHE Hotel, PPHE Hotding Subsidiary, Buyer and/or any Affiliate o f  PPHE Hotet, PPHE Holding Subsidiary and Buyer, for which a  Selter Company is



9. !.4.!. any such !iabitity pursuant to sections 34 and 3$ o f  the !990 Tax CoHection A c t( /w v o r^ e r /^ w e r  /PPO); or 

9. ! 4.2. any such !iabi!ity pursuant to a tax indemnity or tax sharing arrangement; and

This indemnity a!so covers any financia! !oss to Amatfa and Victory Enterprises resuhing from the joint and severa! !iabi!ity with Se!!er for fisca! unity corporate income tax and 
VAT !iabi!ities;

(a!! the above, co!!ective!y, "C!aim").
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Within ten Business Days (and, in any event, in the case o f  a Claim which requires an appeat to be made against it or o ther action to be taken within a specified period o f  time, 
within three Business Days) from Buyer's aforementioned notice, Setter shatt notify Buyer whether it etects to pay the Tax due, negotiate or chattenge it. Shoutd Setter etect to 
negotiate a setttement with the Tax authorities or to initiate tegat proceedings to chattenge it (e.g., appeat or take other tegat action against it; a "Tax Dispute"), the fottowing

9.4. t. The Parties shatt appoint KPMG (the "Tax Advisor"; and if  KPMG witt be unabte or shatt not agree to be the Tax Advisor, than such other Person(s) as KPMG shat!
recommend out o f  which the Buyer sha!! e!ect the Tax Advisor to be nominated according to this Section 9) to handle and m anage the care o f  the Tax Dispute.

o fth e  Tax Advisor and !aw firm so appointed.

9.4.2. The Parties sha!! fu!!y cooperate and coordinate any decision required to be taken in the management and sett!ement o f  the Tax Dispute, bona-fide and in good faith.

9.4.3. In any event o f  dispute w ith respect to the handling or management o f  the Tax Dispute or a fai!ure by the Parties to reach a mutua! decision, position or strategy

o f  third party expert (and not arbitrator). The Tax Advisor sha!! prepare and submit its decision in writing to both Parties within 30 days from its appointm ent (or 
tonger period i f  so agreed by both Parties, such agreement shatt not be unreasonabty denied or withheld). The Tax Advisor's decision sha!! be fina! and binding 
upon the Parties, except in the case o f  fraudu!ent act or wi!!fu! misconduct.
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9.4.3. Neither the Buyer, PPHE Hotet, nor the Setter Companies shatt be obtiged to take any action !n accordance with this Section 9.4, or make any setttement or 
compromise: (!) which is tikety, in the opinion o f  the Buyer or the Setter Companies, to have a materiat adverse effect on the Tax tiabitity o f  the Purchased Companies 
or invotve or may resutt with any criminal or administrative indictment, sanction or penatty by any govemmenta) body, (ii) untess where an appeat cannot be made 
without the Tax the subject o f  the C)aim being paid to the retevant Tax authority, the SeUer pays such amount to the app)icabte Tax authority, (iii) if  the Setter is 
unabte to pay its debts as they fat) due, starts negotiations with creditors with a view to the genera! readjustm ent or rescheduting its indebtedness or o ther steps are 
taken or !ega! proceedings are started for its bankruptcy; or (iv) where action wou!d constitute or invo!ve providing any incorrect or misteading information or 
information which the Buyer or the Setter Companies consider, acting reasonabty, after having consutted with the Setter and having had due regard to the comments 
o f the Setter in retation to such correspondence, to be incorrect or misteading, in which case the Buyer shatt be free to act at its discretion, acting reasonabty, and the 
Setter shatt be tiabte to indemnity the Buyer in accordance with this Section 9 and the provisions o f Sections 9.4.! t09.4.3 sha!! not appty.

9.5. The Setter or its duty authorised agent is responsibte for the preparing, submitting, negotiating and agreeing with the retevant Tax authority, att Tax returns o f  each Setter
Company for each accounting period ending on or before the Ctosing Date (the "Pre-C losing A ccounting Periods").

9.6. )n retation to any action as is referred to in Section 9.4 above, the Setter shatt:

9.6.!. keep Buyer and PPHE Hote! fu!ty informed o f  a!! matters re!ating thereto and de!iver to the Buyer copies o f  a!! correspondence with Tax authorities re!ating thereto;

9.6.2. submit to Buyer and PPHE Hote! for approva! (which approva! sha!! not be unreasonabty withhe!d or de!ayed) a!! correspondence and documents which it intends to 
submit to a Tax authority and take into account at! such reasonable comments as the Buyer may make;
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documents unti! ninety (90) days after the expiration o f any applicabte statute o f !imitations or extensions thereof 

!0. Limitation of Liability

10.1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, each Party (inciuding PPHE Hote! as guarantor o f  Buyer and E!bit as guarantor o f  Seiier) shall be iiab!e soieiy and 

!!.!. Closing

Subject to the satisfaction or waiver o f each o f the Closing Conditions set forth in Sections ! i.2 (the waiver o f  which sha!! be at a mutua! agreement by a!! Parties), ! ! 3 (the 
waiver o f which shai! be at Setter's sote discretion) and ! i.4  (the waiver o f which shati be at Buyer and PPHE G roups sote discretion), the acts and deeds set forth in Section 
t ! .6 shatt take place on a date which is two Business Days after the date o f the satisfaction or waiver o f  any and all o f the Closing Conditions or such other date agreed by the 
Parties (the "Ctosing D ate"), which, subject to Section !4 .! ,  is targeted to occur by no !ater than March 3 ! ,  20 !2 , at such time and p!ace as shai! be mutua!!y agreed. Each Party 
sha!! use its best efforts to cause the satisfaction o f the C tosing Conditions appiicabie to such Party prior to M arch 3 ! ,  20! 2.
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).2. Both P a rtie s ' C onditions for Ctosing

Buyer hereunder, and that the Reorganization shatt be executed and perform with effect immediately prior to the Ctosing. 

t t.2.t.6. Bank Hapoatim Retease and Consent. Setter, Buyer and PPHE Hotet shatt have received the Bank Hapoatim Retease and Consent.
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Setter's Conations fpr C!c$ingtt.3 .

S ette r,o n o rb efo re th eresp ec tiv eC to sin g D ate :

t!.3 .t .! . Detivery ofD ocum ents. Att o f  the documents and items to be detivered to Buyer and PPHE Hotet pursuant to Sections t t .6 .t  and 11.6.2 shat! have been
detivered in a form and substance reasonabty satisfactory to Setter.

PPHE Hote! and Buyer Ctosine Conditions

The ctosing and consummation o f  the transactions set forth in Section !! .6 at the Ctosing, and the obtigations o f  PPHE Hotet and Buyer to consumm ate the Ctosing are subject

CWjK ration

tt.4.

tt.5.
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).6.

deemed to have been completed or any document dctivercd unti! a!) such acts and deeds have been compieted and a!! required documents have been detivered:

!!.6 .!. At the Ctosing. the Parties shat!:

!!.6 .!.) . Assienm ent and Assumption Agreem ent. Procure the duty execution o f  the Assignment and Assumption Agreement in the form set forth on 
Schedule 3.2.2;

! !.6.!.2. Termination o f Interna) Reimbursement Agreements. The Parties sha!) cause the parties to the Intema! Reimbursement A greem ents to enter into the 
Interna! Reimbursement Termination A greements as set forth on Schedu!e 3.5.

substantially the form attached as S ch ed u !e !1 .6 .L 5 h ereo f(th e  "Notary Letter").

!1.6.!.6. Board and Shareholder Resolutions o f Parties Terminating the Intema! Reimbursement Agreements. Cause the parties terminating the Intema!
Reimbursement Agreements to duly and validly execute board and shareholder resolutions o f  each o f  such entities in the forms attached hereto
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Hotet's board comm ittee in the form attached hereto as Schedu!e H .6 .1 .8  authorizing, !nfcr 0//0 , the consum m ation o f  the Transaction by PPHE

! !.6.!. )0. PPHE Deed o f Guarantee. PPHE Hote! sha!! deliver to Se!!er the du!y executed PPHE Deed o f  Guarantee;

Section ! ! .6  ! ascontem p!atedhereby.

At the C!osin? Se!!er sha!!:!!.6.2.
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Consent. Buyer and PPHE Hote! sha!! have rcccived the Aarea! Bank Re!ease and Consent in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer and PPHE Hote! at their 
reasonab!e discretion; (ii) Evidence confirming the Retease o f Bank Hapoatim P!ed2es. Setter and PPHE Hote! sha!! have received evidence satisfactory to each o f 
them that the Bank Hapoatim Ptedges have been fu!!y and finaHy reteased (subject to the Continuing Encumbrances which as and from the Transfer Date shat! app!y 
to Buyer); (iii) Bank Hapoatim Retease o f the Etbit VM Guarantees, the Bank Hapoatim Re!ease o f the E!bit VM Guarantees that has been received by Se!!er, is 
satisfactory to Buyer and PPHE Hote! at their reasonabte discretion; (iv) the Ctosing shatt have occurred; and (v) Legat Action. There shatt not have been any taw,

Section !2 .! .4 !2 .! .4 hereof.

!2. !2 .

!2.!.3.
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A! !he Transfer Date PPHE Hotet and/or the Buver sha)[:!2.t.4.

P u rch ased S h aresto th eB u y er.

tssuance o f  PPH Shares. Simuttaneousty with the Cash Payment in accordance with ctause !2. t .4 .t ,  PPHE Hotet shatt issue and attot to Setter the PPH 
Shares credited as futty paid up and shatt: (i) procure that Capita registers the PPH Shares on that date in uncertificated form at the CREST system (i.e. 
in an etectronic registration through Capita as PPHE Hotet's CREST registration agent) to the CREST nominee account designated by Setter in writing

Setter on that date with a w ritten confirmation that att o f  the PPH Shares have been aHotted and issued to Setter credited as futty paid up, pari passu 
with the other ordinary shares o f  PPH and registered in the name o f  the Setter Nom inee Account (through CREST) and that Adm ission has taken 
ptace, in accordance with the provisions o f this Agreement.

Detivery o f  Financiat Statements.

!2 .1 !. For the purpose o f  preparing E!bit's consotidated financia! statements, no tater than 45 days as from the Ctosing Date, PPHE Hotet and Buyer shatt detiver to Setter 
reviewed financia! statements o f  Victoria M onument and each o f  the Subsidiaries for the financiat quarter ending as o f  March 3 ! ,  20! 2.

t2 .t.4 .t.

!2. !.4.2.

!2.2.

!2.3.
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!2.4. Dctivcrv of Books and Records.
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!4.5. No rich! to rescind or nuttifv Agreement fo!)owing the Transfer Date

To the extent permitted by !aw, the Parties hereby waive their rights, if any, upon the comp!etion o f the acts and deeds set forth in Section !2.!hereof at the Transfer Date and 
subject to their occurrence, to annu!, rescind or nu!!ify, in who!e or in part (ge/!e/? Jan w e/ p o rn e /c  en vern/ez/g/ng), or to demand in !ega! proceedings the

!5.!. Further A sst!r.anqss



S u ccg3s3.!־.s,an(l A s$ ig n $ ; A$$tRnm<;nt)3.3.

EntinA&rsgm?nn A.me.ndm^.a.nd.Waiv5r)5.4.
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)5.3.

T o  PPH E H ot? ) and Buys.!-;

PPHE Hote! Croup Ltd.

Les Ruettes Brayes 
St. Peter Port 
Guernsey GY! !EW

W ith a coov to :

Mr. Boris Ivesha, President & CEO

W !U 6EG ,U K

And

Mr. Chen M oravsky, CFO

!082 MD Amsterdam 
The Netherlands

To SeHer: B.E.A. Hote!s, N.V.

theN ether!ands

W !i!3a .c.aDyta:

E!b!t !maging Ltd.
2 Weitzman Street,

Te! Aviv 64239, Israe!

Te!No.:03-60860!9 ^
Fax No.: 03-6086030
Email: zvitTHSietbitimagipg.wni

Mr. Doron Moshe, CFO 

!5.6. P ?)9ys <?rQmi$sion§
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S e v e r a b ility!5.7.

!5.8.
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)3.9.
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[N W !TNESS W H E R EO F the parties have signed this Share Purchase Agreement as of the date first hereinabove set forth: 

B.E.A. Hotels N.V.

Title:__________________________
Signature: /s /  Doron M oshe

T itlf: ' ^ ________________
Signature: /s/ Zvi M aavan

PPHE Hote] G roup Limited

By: N isei Jones 
T itle:/s/D irector 
Signature: / s / . ^ e ) j m ? s

B v:K.M cAuliffe

Signature: /s/K . McAutiffe

PPHE N etheriands B.V.

B v :E uroSeaH otelsN .V .
Title:Director
Signature:^/.C tKtl C srls.: M crsvslty

B y :________________________ __
T itle :__________________________
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Exhibit A

S6!!?r'3 $har&hRM!n^ !n PHr!has$^ Companies
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Exhibit B
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S c h e d u l e d

PPHE Deed of Guarantee



C9V<?ming Law Jurisd ic tion . This Guarantee shai) be governed by and construed according to the taws o f  the Netheriands. Uniess expticitty agreed otherwise, any dispute arising out o f  
or in connection with this Guarantee, induding any question regarding its existence, va!idity or termination, shat! be referred to and finatly resolved by arbitration under the LC!A Rutes, which 
Rutes are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this ctause. The number o f  arbitrators shat! be one. The seat, or tega! p!ace, o f  arbitration shat) be Am sterdam, the Nethertands. The 
tanguage to be used in the arbitra! proceedings shatt be the Engtish !anguage. The governing taw o f  the Guarantee shatt be the substantive taw o f the Nethertands. The parties shatt be bound by 
the decision o f  the arbitrator, whose decision shatt be finat and enforceabte in any court o f  competent jurisdiction. The arbitrator shatt be bound by Section )0 (Limitation o f  Liabitity) o f the 
Agreement and accordingty, shat! not be empowered to award punitive or consequentiat damages to either party, as set forth therein. The arbitrator's judgm ent shat! be surrendered in writing in 
Engtish and the arbitrator sha!! have to reason his/her award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if  Guarantor is a!!eged to have breached this Guarantee, and the alteged breach is !ikety to resu!t in 
irreparab!e injury and/or continuing damage to the Setter for which there wi!! be no other adequate remedy at !aw, then the Setter sha!! be entit!ed to seek injunctive retief or any other interim

heirs, executors, and administrators o f  the parties hereto. None o f  the rights, priviteges, or ob!igations set forth in, arising under, or created by this Guarantee may be assigned or transferred 
without the prior consent in w riting of each party to this Guarantee, with the exception o f  assignments and transfers from Se!!er to any of its Affitiates permitted under the Agreement.

Amendment and W aiver. Any term o f this Guarantee may be amended and the observance o f any term hereof may be waived (either prospective!y or retroactive!y and either genera!!y or

Notices. Att notices and other communications required or permitted hereunder to be given to a party to this Guarantee shatt be in writing in the Engtish or Hebrew !anguages and sha!! 
be mai!ed by registered mai!, by fax or otherwise de!ivered by hand or by m essenger, and sha!! be addressed to the respective party as fo!!ows (or at such other address as the Party sha!! notify 
each other Party in writing as herein provided):

l o PPHE H.Qts!:

St. Peter Port, Guernsey G Y ! ! EW, Channe! !stands

W ith a copy to:

Mr. Boris !vesha, President & CEO, )2 David Mews, London,W !U 6EG ,U K

And Mr. Chen Moravsky, CFO, Vinoty Tower, 5th floor, Ctaudc Debussylaan !4, !082 MD Amsterdam, The Nethertands

To Sclter:

B E.A. Hotels, N .V . , Kcizersgracht 241, E A ! 0! 6 Amsterdam, the Nethertands

E!bit !maging Ltd., 2 Weitzman Street, Te! Aviv 64239, !srae!

Attention: Mr. Zvi Maayan, Adv., Te! No.: 03-60860!9, Fax No.: 03-6086050, Emai!: zvim@elbitimaging.com



[NAME OF AUTHORISED SIGNATORY] and ^ [NAME OF
AUTHORISED SIGNATORY]



S c h e d u te  4 .3

irrevocably and unconditionally executing this deed and hereby guarantees to PPH E Netherlands B.V., its successors and assigns ("B uyer"), the fulfillment o f  B.E.A. Hotels N.V.'s ("S e ller" )  
representations, warranties, obligations and undertakings under the above Share Purchase Agreement dated March 30, 2012, entered into by  all such parties in connection with the sale and 
transfer o f  all o f  Seller's shareholdings to  Buyer in Victory Enterprises, Amalfa and Victoria M onument, and the transfer and assignm ent o f  the Intercom pany Loan (which share purchase 
agreement shall include all Ancillary Agreements relating hereto, including, without limitation, the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, as defined in such agreement, as m ay be amended by

Guarantor consents and agrees that: ( ! )  this Guarantee is a direct and immediate liability o f  Guarantor; (2) this liability will not be contingent or conditioned upon Buyer's pursuit o f  any 
remedies against Seller or any other party; (3) unless expressly specified otherwise in writing, this liability will not be diminished, relieved, or otherwise affected by any extension o f  time, credit, or 
other indulgence which Buyer may from time to time grant to Seller or to any other party, including, without limitation, the acceptance o f any partial payment or performance or the compromise or

interest in the Agreement or Seller in accordance with the Agreement, ! f  and in the event that the Transfer Conditions shall not be satisfied or waived at or before the Long Stop Date, and 
consequently, the acts and deeds set forth in Section !2.1.4 o f  the Agreement shall not take place as o f  such date and the Agreement is terminated by either party thereto, than this Deed o f  
Guarantee shall automatically be terminated and b e  deemed not to have been entered into; and (5) Guarantor waives notice o f  any and all renewals, extensions, modifications, amendments, or



Governing L?w; Jgrisd 'dipp, This Guarantee shai! be governed by and construed according to the !aws o f  the Nethertands. Untess expticitty agreed otherwise, any dispute arising out o f 
or in connection with this Guarantee, inctuding any question regarding its existence, vatidity or termination, shat) be referred to and flna!!y resotved by arbitration under the LCIA Rutes which 
Rutes are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this ctause. The number o f  arbitrators shat! be one. The seat, or tegat ptace, o f  arbitration shatt be A m sterdam , the Nethertands. The 
tanguage to be used in the arbitra! proceedings shat! be the Engtish tanguage. The governing taw o f the Guarantee shatt be the substantive taw o f the Nethertands. The parties shatt be bound by 
the decision o f the arbitrator, whose decision shatt be flna! and enforceabte in any court o f  competent jurisdiction. The arbitrator shat! be bound by Section tO (Limitation of Liabi!ity) o f the 
Agreement and accordingty, shat! not be empowered to award punitive or consequentia) damages to either party, as set forth therein. The arbitrator's judgm ent shat! be surrendered in writing in 
Engtish and the arbitrator shat! have to reason his/her award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if  Guarantor is a!!eged to have breached this Guarantee, and the a!!eged breach is !ikety to resutt in 
irreparabte injury and/or continuing damage to the Buyer for which there wi!! be no other adequate remedy at !aw, then the Buyer sha!! be entitted to seek injunctive re!ief or any other interim

T.SJLPHL.H?!.?,!:

St. Peter Port, Guernsey GY! !EW , Channe! !stands

Mr. Boris !vesha, President & CEO, !2 David Mews, London,W !U 6EG.UK

And Mr. Chen Moravsky, CFO, V!no!y Tower, 5th floor, C!aude Debussytaan !4, !082 MD Amsterdam, The Nethertands

laJkM sr:

B.E.A. Hote!s, N.V., Keizersgracht 24 !, E A ! 0! 6 Amsterdam, the Nethertands

E!bit Imaging Ltd., 2 Weitzman Street, Te! Aviv 64239, Israe!

Attention: Mr. Zvi M aayan, Adv., Te! No.: 03-60860!9, Fax No.: 03-6086050, Emai!: zvim@e!bitimaging.com

And to the attention of: Mr. Doron M oshe, CFO,
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EXHIBIT S.!

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

NAME OF COMPANY COUNTRY O F ORGANIZATION DIRECT/INDIRECT OWNERSHIP PERCENTAGE

BEA Hotels N.V. The Netherlands 100%

Elbit M edical Technologies Ltd. Israel 89.97%(')

InSightec Ltd. Israel 65,9% P)

Gamida Cel! Ltd. Israel 31.6% (3)

Elbit Plaza India Real Estate Holdings Limited Cyprus 50%(<)P)

Elbit Plaza USA, L.P. USA 100% (6)

Elbit USA, LLC USA 100% (?)

Elbit USA 11, LLC USA 100% (7)

Plaza US A, LLC USA . 100% (8)

EPN GP, LLC USA 43.3% (9)

EPN EDT Holding H, LLC USA 47.3% W

Elbit Fashion Ltd. Israel 100%

Elbit Ultrasound (Luxembourg) B.V. /  S.a.r,l. Luxembourg 100%

Plaza Centers N.V. The Netherlands 62.52% C0)

(!)  93.47% on a fully diluted basis.

Held through Elbit Medical.
(3) He!d through Elbit Medica).

(6) We ho!d 50% in Elbit P!aza USA direct!y, and an additional 50% through PC.
(7) We hold 50% in Elbit USA, LLC and Elbit USA II, LLC directly and an additional 50% indirectly through PC (although all o f the risks and benefits with respect to those entities are

(9) Indirectly held through PC, Elbit Plaza USA., Etbit USA, LLC, Elbit USA II, LLC and Plaza USA, LLC, provided that only 21.64% is owned by us and the remaining 21.64% is owned by 
PC.



Date: Apri!25,20!2

B y :/s /D u d !M a c h !u f



EXHIBIT 12.2

Date: April 25,2012

Title: Co-Chief Executive Officer



4. The registrant's other certifying officers and 1 are responsible for establishing and m aintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15(e) and 15d15־  
(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15(f) and 15d-l 5(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that m aterial inform ation 

Date: April 25,2012



Date: A pri)25,20!2

By: /s/D u d iM ach tu f

EXHIBIT !3 !

Tit!e: Co-Chief Executive OfHcer



connection with the Annua! Report o ח! f  E!bit !maging Ltd. (the "Company") on Form 20-F for the year ended December 3 ! , 2 0 !! , as f!!ed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on the date hereof (the "Report"), !, Ran Shtarkman, co-Chief Executive Officer o f the Company, certify, pursuant to !8 U.S.C. Section !350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 o f  the Sarbanes- 
Ox!ey Act o f  2002 that, to the best o f my know!edge:

(!) the Report fu!!y comp!ies with the requirements o f  Section !3(a) or !5(d) o f  the Securities Exchange Act o f !934 as amended; and 

Date: A pri!25,20!2



Section 906 Certification bv P rincipal Financia! Officer

!n connection with the Annua! Report o f  Etbit Imaging Ltd. (the "Com pany") on form  20-F for the year ended December 3 !, 2 0 !! , as flted with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on the date hereof (the "R ep o rt" ) ,!, Doron M oshe, Chief Financia! Officer o f the Company, certify, pursuant to ! 8 U.S.C. Section ! 330, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 o f the Sarbanes-Oxtey 
Act o f 2002 that, to the best o f my knowledge:

Date: A pri!23,20!2

EXHIBIT 13.3



Exhibit 15.2

De!oitte.Brightman Alma^or Zohar
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Te!-Aviv, Israel

We have audited the accompanying consolidated ba!ance sheets o f  Elbit Imaging Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as o f  D ecember 3 ! , 20 !! and 20!0 , and the related consolidated 
statements o f  income, statements o f comprehensive income, sharehotders' equity and cash flows for each o f the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011. These financia! statements 
are the responsibility o f the Company's management. Our responsibi!ity is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We did not audit the financial statements o f  an associate accounted for by the equity method, the Com pany's investments in which as o f December 3 !, 2 0 !! and 20!0  amounted toN IS  !6 miltion 
and N!S 2! miltion, respectively, and the Company's share in its losses amounted toN IS  6 million, N!S 4 miHion and N1S 4.9 mi!!ion for each o f the three years in the period ended December 3!, 
2 0 ! ! ,  respectively. The financia! statements o f that associate were audited by other auditors, and our opinion, insofar as it re!atcs to the amounts relating thereto, is based on the reports o f the 
other auditors on the financia! statements o f  the associate, which were furnished to us.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards o f  the Pub!ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we p!an and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonab!e assurance about whether the financia! statements arc free o f  materia! misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and

financia! statements presentation. We be!ieve that our audits and the reports o f  the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports o f  the other auditors, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in a!! materia! respects, the financia! position o f 
E!bit Imaging Ltd. and its subsidiaries as o f  December 31, 20! 1 and 20! 0, and the consolidated results of their operations, other comprehensive income, and their cash flows for each o f the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 201!, in accordance with Internationa! Financia! Reporting Standards as issued by the !ntemationa! Accounting Standards Board.



Detoitte.
Brightman Â magor Zohar

As discussed in Note 23B, d a im s have been Hied against Group com panies for some o f which petitions have been appiied to certify as d a s s  actions suits.

We have atso audited, in accordance with the standards o f  the Pubtic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company's interna] contro] over financia! reporting as o f  
December 3 ! , 2 0 ! ! ,  based on the criteria estabtished in /Mferna/ Confro/—/nfegro feJ FraHieworA issued by the Committee o f  Sponsoring Organizations o f  the Treadway Com mission, and our

/s/ Brjshtman A!mag0r Zohar & Co.

March 29 ,20! 2



Exhibit !5.3

De!oitte
Brightman A!magor Zohar
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM



Detoitte.
8 r!ghtman Aimagor Zohar

March 2 9 ,20  !2



UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D C. 20549

FORM 6-K

REPORT OF FOREIGN PRIVATE ISSUER 
PURSUANTTO RULE I3a-!6 OR !5d-!6 OF 
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF !934

For !he month of M arch 20!3

Commission FiteNumber000-28996

ELBIT IM AGING LTD.

2 WEMZMAN STREET, TEL AVIV 64239, !SRAEL 

Form 2&-F B  Form 40-F ם



EXHtBtT 99 t OF TH!S REPORT ON FORM 6-K tS HEREBY tNCORPORATED BY REFERENCE tNTO ELB!T !MAG!NG LTD S REG!STRAT!ON STATEMENT ON FORM F  ON(REG!STRAT) ־3
STATEMENT NO 333-!72!22) AND REG!STRAT!ON STATEMENTS ON FORM S-8 (REGISTRATION STATEMENTS NOS 333 ! )7509. 33336! -30832. 333! ־ hX4 AND 333 ! 52X20). AND TO BE A PART 
THEREOF FROM THE DATE ON WH)CH TH)S REPORT !S SUBM)TTED. TO THE EXTENT NOT SUPERSEDED BY DOCUMENTS OR REPORTS SUBSEQUENTLY F)LED OR FURNiSHED

CONTENTS

99.) Annua) Conso!idated Fmancia) Statements for the years ended December 3). 20)2 ,20)) and 20)0
99.2 Operating and Financia) Review and Prospects for the year ended December 3). 20)2

99.3 Consent of Brightman A )magor Zohar & Co.
99.4 Tabte of advisors retied upon in the consotidated financia! statements for the years ended December 3 1. 20 !2 .2 0 )!  and 20! 0
99.3 Consent ofCoHiers !nternationa)
99.6 Consent of Financta) !mmunities Ltd.
99.7 Consent of Financta) !mmunittes Ltd.

99.X Consent of Financia) !mmunities Ltd.
999 Consent of Financta) )mmunities Deating Room Ltd.
99 H) Consent of Fmancia! !mmunmes Deahng Room Ltd
99 t] Consent ofFinancia! !mmunittes Deating Room Ltd

99 )2 Consent of G tza Zinger Even

99 )3 Consent of Jones Lang LaSatte Kft

99. )4 Consent o f Giza Zinger Even

99. !5 Consent o f Giza Zinger Even

99. )6 Consent of Giza Zinger Even

99. )7 Consent of Giza Zinger Even

99. )8 Consent of Giza Zinger Even

99. )9 Consent o f Giza Zinger Even

99.20 Consent of De-Kato Ben-Yehuda

99.2) Consent ofFinanciat !mmunities Deating Room Ltd.



StC N A TU RE

ELB tT  ]M ACtNC LTD. 
(Regtstran!)

Date March 2 i. 20)3 B y : .sShim onYitzhak[__________
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Exhibit No.

99! Annuat Consotidated Financia! Statements for the years ended December 3 t , 20!2. 20t t and 20 tO

99.2 Operating and Financia! Review and Prospects for the year ended December 3!. 20! 2

99.3 Consent of Brightman Atmagor Zohar & Co.

994 Tabte of advisors retied upon in the consotidated financia) statements for the years ended December 3 t .  20!2. 2 0 t ) and 20t0

99.3 Consent o f Cottiers !ntemationa)

99.6 Consent ofFinanciat !mmunities Ltd.
99.7 Consent ofFinanciat !mmunities Ltd.

99 X Consent ofFinanciat !mmuntties Ltd.

99.9 Consent ofFinancia! !mmunities Deating Room Ltd.

99. tO Consent ofFinanciat !mmunities Deating Room Ltd.

99. tt Consent ofFinanciat !mmunities Deating Room Ltd.

99. )2 Consent of Giza Zinger Even

99. )3 Consent of Jones Lang LaSatte Kit

99. )4 Consent of Giza Zinger Even

99.15 Consent o f  Giza Zinger Even

99.16 Consent o f  Giza Zinger Even
99.ן 7 Consent of Giza Zinger Even

99 tX Consent o f  Giza Zinger Even

99.19 Consent of Giza Zinger Even
99 20 Consent of De-Kato Ben-Yehuda

99.21 Consent of Ftnancta) !mmunittes Deating Room Ltd.
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Detoitte
Brightman Almagor Zohar

As discussed in Notes 23B and 3 1D. claims have been nied against Croup companies for some of which petitions have been applied to certify as class actions suits, and one of whtch was certified as a 

Tel-Aviv. Israel March 20. 20 !3
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ELB)T [MAC]HC LTD. 
COMSOLIDATEO BALANCE SHEETS

Note

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! ! 2 0 ! 2

t ra n s itio n  
(note 2D) 
U.S.S'OOO

535.070 602.292 !43.335
(4) 327.830 409.338 87,8!9
(5) 47.528 72.049 !2.732
(6) !36,276 )0),S66 36,506
(7) 246.850 262.86) 66. )26

!4,6)6 48,043 3,9)5
(H) 4.)98,705 4.556,6)6 t.t 24.754

5,506,875 6,052,765 !,475, !87

(9) 55.) !6 380,077 !4,765
(!0) !64.025 )0.556 43.939
(!2) !,!85,485 ),) 67.646 3 !7,569
" 3 ) )23.723 2.672.57) 33.)43
(!4) )2,469 )3,037 3.340
t'5 ) 46,7)8 74.4)5 !2,5)5

),587,536 4,3)8,302 425,27!

7,094,4)) !0,3 7 !,067 ),900,458

F-4



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

2 0 !  2 2 0 1 ! 2 0 ! 2
Convenience
tra n s itio n
(Note 2D)

Note (in thousand N!S) U.S.S'000

C urren t Liabilities
Short-term credits (!6) !.!95,063 ),079,736 320.!35
Borrowings re!ating to trading property (!6) !,2! 2,32! ),!24,03! 324,758
Supptiers and service providers 75.887 2)9.229 20.329
Payabtes and other credit batances C7) !35,689 26 !.744 36,348
Other ))abihties (t8) !!6,275 !60,085 3!,!47

2,735,235 2,844,825 732,7 !7

Non-Current LiabHities
Borrowings ('9) 2.796,337 5.650. !70 749.086
Other financia) liabilities (20) !4,02! 2!5,752 3,756
Other tiabitities (2t) !4.330 !2,808 3.853
Deferred taxes (22) !!3,309 !08,642 30,353

2.938.047 5.987.372 787,048

Commitments. Contingencies. Liens and Collaterals (23)

Sharehotders' Equity (24)
Share capita! and share premium 902,870 902.870 24 !,862
Reserves (502.593) (605.!32) (!34,635)
Retained eamings 77,850 230,4)3 20,855
Treasurv stock (!63,52!) (!68,52!) (45.!44)
Attributabte to equity hotders of the Company 309,606 359,630 82,938
Non controthng interest !,!!!.523 !.!79,240 297.755

!,42!,!29 !,538,870 380,693

7,094,4!! !0,37 !,067 !,900,458

Chief Financia! Officer CEO

F-5



ELB!T !MACING LTD.

2 0 : 2

2D)  ̂
U.S.S'OOO

(26A) 302,262 ))5,270 )02,895 K0.970
(26B) 222,828 286,548 403,822 59,692

)45,996 )85,082 )74,8)7 39, )09
67 ),086 586,900 68 ),534 )79,77)

9,369 2,5)0
53,875 )98,777 )4,432

734,330 586.900 880,3 H )96,7)3

(26C) 272,8)0 )59.626 )56.745 73.08)
(26D) 202, )58 240,784 34 ),29) 54,)54
(26E) )55.772 2) ).743 )97.574 4 ).728
(26F) 48,886 6 ),857 65,292 )3,096

8.726 7.568 8,275 2,337
(26G) )75,778 )64,00) 3)6,706 47,088
(26H) !3 ).083) !65.57)) (40.927) (8.327)

(26!) 50,229 (275,537) 53,0)6 )3,455
(26J) 4 )).625 290,276 83,660 t) 0,267

),294,90) 794,747 !,!8),632 346,879

(560,57!) (207,847) (30 ),32)) ()50, )66)

(22) ()0,248) 63,283 3,992 (2,745)

(550,323) (27),)30) (305,3)3) ()47,42))

(29) 94,823 24, !0! 378,838 25,40)

(455,500) (247,029) 73,525 ^)22,020)

F-6



CONSOL!D.\TED STATEMENTS OF !NCOME

December j !
2 0 ) 2 2 0 ! ) 2 0 ! 0 2 0 ! 2

2D) *
u .s .$ ׳000

(Except for per-share data)

(293,390) (264,9)9) 6 ).998 (78.647)
(!61,9)0) )7,890 )),327 (43,373)
(433,300) (247,029) 73,325 ()22,020)

(39 ),947) (284,6)0) (308,924) ()04,995)
()38,376) )3,480 3,6)) (42,426)
(330,323) (27),)30) (305,3)3) ()47,42))

98,337 )9,69) 370,922 26,348
(3.334) 4,4)0 7,9)6 (947)
94,823 24,)0) 378,838 25,40)

C3.73) ()).44) (!2.2)) (4.22)
3 95 079 )4.67 !.06

()).80) ()0.65) 2.45 (3.!6)

(!3.75) ()).44) (!2.2!) (4.22)
3.95 079 !4.4) !.06

()).80) (!0.65) 2.!3 (3.!6)

Note

F-7



CON$OUDATEP STATEMENTS QF CQMPREHENS!VR tMCQME

December 3!
2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! ) 2 0 ! 0 2 0 ! 2

(in thousand N!S)
2D) * 

U.S.S'000

(433,500) (247,029) 73,325 (!22,020)

(6 !,346) 4 ),726 (39!,583) (!6,487)
()3.893) (4 ).377) 37.44) (3,722)
)3,)64 (6.346) (864) 3,526

470,832 !26,284
43.090 !!.39!
37,97) !0,!72

()02,033) (34,29)) (27.333)
(!06,243) C.480) 24,093 (28,46!)
28 !,360 (7,677) (365,204) 75,370

(!74, !40) (254,706) (29),679) (46.650)

(49,837) (264,434) (!28,992) (!3,35!)
(!24,303) 9,748 ()62,687) (33,299)
(!74, !40) (254,706) (29 ),679) (46,650)

partoHhe Hnancia! statements.

F-K



STATEMENT OF CHANCES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Stock-based currency ho!ders of Non Tota!
Share Share O ther compensation tran s itio n Retained Cross T reasury the Contro!!ing sharehotders'
capita! premmm reserves reserve reserve earntngs amount stock interest equity

(in thousand N!S)

Ba!ance -  Jan u ary  1, 2010 38.038 835.269 (36,458) 57,090 (242,304) 433,334 !,084,969 (!38,5!9) 946,450 !,20 !,72! 2,!48,!7!
Profit for the year 6!.998 6 !.998 6 !.998 !!.527 73.525

38.699 (229,689) (!90,990) (!90,990) (!74,2!4) (365,204)

!" su a n c ^ fsh a re s .o  non con,rotting
(30.002) (30.002) (30.002)

(36, !45) (36,!45) (36,!45) 22,43!
!49.093

(!3.7!4)
!49.093

!3 2.473 (2.486)
!82.843 !82,843

Emptoyee stocks expired 6.832 (6.832)
9,429 9,429 9,429 23.380 32,809

Ba!ance - December 31,2010 38,05! 844,574 (33,904) 57,20! (47 !,993) 495,332 929,26! (!68,52!) 760,740 !,4 !6,78! 2,!77,52!

F 9 ־



STATEMENT OF CHANCES !N SHAREHOLDERS' EOU!TY

Share Share
Other

(*)
tran s itio n Retained Cross Treasury the

Non Tota!

(in thousand N!S)
38.05t 844,574 (33,904) 57,20! (47!,993) 495,332 929,26! (!68,52!) 760,740 !,4 !6.78! 2,! 77,52!

(264.9 !9) !264.9 !9) (264.9)9) !7,890 (247.029)
(42,4!!) 42,876 465 465 (8,!42) (7.677)

(56.529) (56.529)

(!55,!02) (!55,!02) (!55,!02) (226,634) (38 !,736)

7.74! 7.74! 7,74! (!2.!70) (4.429)
- !!,766 !!,766

8 20.237 (20,245)
!0,705 !0,705 !0,705 36,278 46,983

38.059 864.8!! (223.676) 47,66! (429,! !7) 230,4 !3 528.!5! (!68,52!) 359,630 !,!79.240 !,538,870Batance-D ecem ber 3!. 20!!



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

:,r2״E!r..

F- n



E !,B !T  !M A G !N C  LTD.
STATEMENT OF CHANCES tN SHAREHOLDERS' EOmTY

Shart Othtr t.mptP!.!ion T״nur, C.r.Ui., ihifthotdfrt'

. . . ,4, 4. , , , 44, 96 33! 3H896 4 ,,,4(7X.647, (43.373)
)0.0741.370 703

).!27 ).927 ).927 ).927

m,M6 ״s״״ 13.350 n48.6̂ H.762 !28.080 ,4S.,44, __ 82.938 297.755 380.693

F־ !2



ELBIT !MACING LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2 0 12 2 0 11 2 0 10 2 0 12

(in thousand NIS)
2D)  ̂

U.S.S'000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(330.323) (27!.!30) (305.3)3) ()47.42))
Income tax expenses (tax benefit) recognized in profit and loss (!0.248) 63,283 3,992 (2.745)
Finance expenses (income) recognized in profit and toss !94.924 (!77.!07) 328.795 52.2)6
Income tax paid in cash (3.376) (1.555) .
Depreciation and amortization (inctuding impairment) 46 !.368 339,4)2 ) )4,539 )23.645
Gain from fair vatue adjustment o f investment property (9.930) (19,700) (2.324) (2,660)
Profit from reatization of investments in subsidiaries (Appendix B) (62.608) ()98,777) 06.77))

8,726 7,568 8,275 2,338
Profit from reatization of assets and tiabitities (5,739)
Stock based compensation expenses !8,497 39,69) 27,632 4,955
Other 2.737 ().949) )2.4)6 733
Trade accounts receivables (9,112) (7,662) 3.1 !3 (2,44))
Receivabtes and other debu batances 7,79! ()2.630) 67,585 2.087
tnventories 7,287 (8,240) (!,664) ),952
Trading property and payment on account ottradtng property (I!3.t33) (403.624) (349,7!4) (30.307)
Suppliers and service providers (105,691) 106,503 (33,6! 0) (28,3)3)
Payabtes and other credit batances 42,989 69,397 (3 ),829) !!,5!6
Net cash used in operating activities o f continuing operations (! !6,528) (279,564) (364,!78) (3 !,216)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operating activities (32,096) 38,675 3!,!67 (8,598)
Net cash used in operating activities (!48,624) (240,889) (333,0!!) (39,8!4)
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ELPrr !MAGtNG_L1a
CONSOHDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! ! 2 0 ! 0 2 0 ! 2

CASH FLOWS FROM !NVESTING A C T Ivm E S
(2, )97) (5,)73)

2D)  ̂
U.S.S'OOO

Purchase of property p!ant and equipment, investment property and other assets (24,227) (34,4 !0) (72,925) (6,490)
Proceeds from reatization of property ptant and equtpment 2,000 ).0)8 3 ).282 536
Proceeds from reatization of investments in subsidiaries (Appendix B) )39,827 (2 ).349) 37,457
tnvestments tn associates and other companies (tt.567) (2,59)) (3.099)
Proceed from reatization of tong-term deposits and tong-term toans 277,436 33,43! ))9,489 74,320
tnvestment in tong-term deposits and tong-term toans (29) 46.!33 ()),925) (8)
interest received in cash 37,542 65,375 57,239 )0,057
tnvestments in debt security (39.206)
Proceeds from repayment o f debt security - 47,207
Proceed from sate of avaitabte for sate marketabte securities )54,943 45.05! 50.576 4 ).506
Purchase of avaitabte for sate marketabte securities (82,239) (46,325) ()08,692) (22,030)
Loans granted to a former subsidiary (54.444) (62,43!)
Short-term deposits and marketabte securities, net 62,5!! 333,!36 (!70,4 !5) )6,746
Net cash provided by (used in) continued investing activities 556,)97 386,768 (!88,9)4) )48,995
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued investing activities ),289,83) (6!,4!6) (!78,463) 345,52)
Me, ,ash provided by (used in) investing activities ),846,028 325,352 (367,377) 494,5)6

CASH FLOWS FROM F!NANC!NC ACT!V!T!ES
58,080 )5,559

(56,772)
Repurchase of debentures and treasury stock ()84,342) (202,439) (30,002) (49.382)
!nterest patd tn cash (348,946) (390.442) (328.559) (93.476)
Proceeds from tong-term borrowings 52,895 !,!!6,030 !,379,556 )4,)70
Repayment of !ong-term borrowings (770,898) ().226, )02) (923,753) (206.509)
Proceeds from setting derivatives 59,040 222.543 45,834 )5,8)6
Proceeds from transactions with non-controtting interests, net !2!.2)8
Proceed from short-term credit 203,990 4) ),484 275,2 !8 54.645
Repayment of short-term credit (255,)75) ()57,850) ()3).)60) (68.357)

Net cash provided by (used in) continued financing activities (),)85,356) (283,548) 408,352 (3)7,534)
Net cash used in discontinued financing activities (584,789) (297,092) (39,99)) ()56.654)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (),770, !45) (580,640) 368,36) (474, )88)

Decrease in cash and cash equivaients (72,74)) (457,538) (332.027) ()9,486)
Cash and cash equivatents at the beginning of the year 602,292 ).040,797 ).508.30) )6),343
Net effect on cash due to currency exchange rate changes 5,5)9 57,672 0  35,477) ),478

Cash and cash equivatents at the end of the year 535,070 602,292 ),040,797 )43,335
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KLB!T !MACING LTD.
CONSOHPATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2 0 ! 2  2 0 1 ! 2 0 1 0 2 0 ! 2

( in th o u s a n d N ! S )

2D ) * 

U.S.S'OOO

-----------------------------------{E xcepl Tor g e r - s h a r c  d a ta ) ------

),114,321 122,338 298,539

804 8,339 213

(25,431) (90,387) (6,812)
382,344 456.102 102.423

(7,529) (104,205) (2,017)
(272.165) (470,628) (72.908)

- (11,008)
62.608 198,777 16.771

139,827 (21.349) 37.457

(134) (1.539)

(8.265)
25,341

77.223
(70,420)

(91)
(2,736)

(12,009)

2.197 5,173
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KI.BIT !MACING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERALN O TE!-
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FI.B!T!MAC!NGLTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOL!DATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As o f December 3 ) ,2 0 )2 .an associate (48%) operating in the fietd o f devetopment. manufacturing and marketing of medica) treatment systems 
(see note !OB).

EPN GP. LLC. and EPN ED I Ho!dings !! and their affi)iatesjoint)y ventures (45%). the Croup's U S. rea) estate investment funds.

Europe !srae) (M.M.S.) Ltd. CE)L").

PC

Etbi! Medica)

GENERAL (CONT.)N O T E ! -



S!CN!F!CANT ACCOUNTING POHC!ES 

Standards Board ("!ASB").

ELm T i MAC!NC .I<Tp,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 -

F- !S



E L B tT  !M A 6 ! .K 6  LT D,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S!CiN!F!CAHT ACCOUNUNC POL!C!ES (CONT.)NOTE 2 ־
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N O T E 2 -  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(CONT)

P20 ־



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)NOTE 2 -

F-2!



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FtNANCtAL STATEMENTS

(ii) Financia) statements of foreign operations (con!.):

On the disposa) of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposa) of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposa) invotvmg ioss o f  contro) over a substdtary that 
inctudes a foreign operation, a disposa[ invotving !oss o f joint controi over a jointty controtted entity that indudes a foretgn operation, or a disposai invotvmg !oss of 
significant influence over an associate that indudes a foreign operation), att o f  the exchange differences accumutated in the equity reserve in respect o f  that operation 
attributabte to the owners o f the Company are redassified to profit or toss.

)n the case o f a partiat dtsposa) that does not resuit in toss o f contro) by the Group over a substdiary that inctudes a foreign operation, the proportionate share o f accumutated 
exchange differences are re-attributed to non־contro))ing interests and are not recognized in prottt or )oss. For att other partta) dtsposats (t e reductions in the Groups

NOTE 2 ־ StGN!F!CANTACCOUNT)NGPOL!C!ES(CONT.)

2 0 ! 2  2 0 ! !

U .S.D dtar(I) 3 733 3.82)
EURO(€) 4 9 2 ' 4938
Romanian New Lei (RON) י H 39
tndianRupee(tNR) 0.068 0.072

2 0 !  2 2 0 ! !  2 0 ) 0

U.S.D0))ar($) (2) 8 (6)
EURO (6) (OJ) 4 ()3)
RomanianNewLei(RON) (3) 3 (2)
)ndtanRupee(tNR) (3) 6

Cash equivatents inctude unrestricted readity convertibte to a known amount o f cash, maturity period o) which, as at the date ot investments therein, does not exceed three months.

F- 22



ELB.IL1MACMG LTD,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

S!GN!F!CANT ACCOUNT!NG POL!C!ES (CONT.)NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATEO HNANCIAL STATEMENTS

StGN!F!CANT ACCOUNTING POHC!ES (CONT.)NOTE 2 -
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ELB!T !MACING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SICN!F!CANT ACCOUNT!NC POUCtES (CONT.)NOTE2 ־
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a ^m i l M ACiPC LTD:
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)NOTE 2
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ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

_______%_____________

Hotets ' 4 ־
Other buttdings 2.0-2.5
Building operating systems 7.0 (average)
Others(*) 6.0 33 0

(*) Conststs ma!nty motor vehictes. ofHce furniture and equipment, machinery and equipment, e lectrons equtpment. computers and pertpherat equipment.

tnvestmen! property is reai estate (!and or a  buitding or both) he!d by the Group in order to eam renta! income or tor capita! appreciation or both, rather than use for administrative 
purposes or sate in the ordinary course o f business (hereafter: "investment property"). The Group indudes in the framework of investment property, among others, reat estate o f the

.  Land acquired with no defined and finat designation. When the fina! use of a tand is determined and it is evidenced by commencement o f activities to get it ready for its 
intended use. the Group transfers the retevant part of the investment in the tand to investment property and/or property ptan! and equipment and/or to trading property as the

Investment property is initiatty recognized at acquisition cost, which inctudes the direct transaction costs, such as tees o! tegat and economic advisors and purchase taxes, !n 
periods subsequent to initiat recognition, investment property is measured at fair vatue. Gains or tosses derived from adjustments o f fair vatue o f the investment property are

The costs o f  reatizing investment property are charged to the statement o f income as o f the date on which the property is sotd. The difference between the consideration received 
from the reatizauon o f the investment property and the fair vatue as inctuded in the tatest financia) statements (inctuding interim financia! statements) is recorded as o f the date of 
ctostng the transaction to the statement o f  income and is presented as gain or toss from reatization of investment property. The direct costs o f  reatizing the investment property are

The fatr vatue of investment property is the price at which the property coutd be exchanged between knowtedgeabte. witting parties in an arm's tength transaction A "witting setter" 
is neither a forced setter nor one prepared to sett at a price not considered reasonabte in the current market. The fair vatue is determined regardtess o f  transaction costs, which might

NOTE 2

F- 27



P. Lease:

Lease payments under finance tease are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the tease obtigation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining

H,B!T jMAC!PC LTD,
NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

S!GN!F!CANT ACCOUNUNG POHC!ES (CON T.)NOTE 2 -

F- 28



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)NOTE 2 ־
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S!GN!F!CANT ACCOUNTING POL!C!ES (CONT.)NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S!CN!F!C\NT ACCOUNTING POL!C!ES (Con! )

The components o f convertib)e notes are ctassified separatety as financia) [iabitities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractua) arrangement.

M f/w anc/o/ a/

)sraet!C P!in20t2w as).4% (20H ־ increaseof2.3% ;20)0-increaseof2'3% ).

NOTE 2

F 3 ־ )



6LB!T !MAC tUG LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCtAL STATEMENTS

SK;N!F!CANT ACCOUNUNC POLiC!ES (Con!.)NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con! )NOTE 2 ־
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X. Grants from the Office of Chief Scientist ("OCS "):

ELB!TtMAC!NGLTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

S!CN!F!C\NT ACCOUNUNG POL!C!ES (Com.)NOTE 2 ־

P- 34



NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S!CN!F!CANT ACCOUNUNG POL!C!ES (Com.)

Equity-settted share-based payments to emptoyees and others providing simitar services are measured at the fair vatue of the equity instrument at the grant date. The Fair vatue is 
measured using the Btack and Schotes ("B&S") modet except for capped-Stock Appreciation Rights ("SAR") for which the Croup is using the binomiat mode). The expected tife used 
in the B&S modet has been adjusted, based on management s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferabitity, exercise restrictions and behaviorat considerations. The fair vatue

NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCtAL STATEMENTS

S!GN!F!CAMT ACCOUNUNC POUCIES (Con! )NOTE 2 -
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E L M im A G IR G lT P ,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(iii) (Cont.)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con!.)NOTE 2 ־
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con!.)NOTE 2 -
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ELB!T iMAG!NC LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S!GNtF!CANT ACCOUNT!NC POL!C!ES (Cont.)NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOL!DATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S!CN!F!CANT ACCOUNT!NC POL!C!ES(C0n! )NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con! )NOTE 2 -

F 42



The Group endeavors to determine an objective fair vatue to the extent possibte. however, the process of evatuating the fair vatue o f investment property and hotets 
atso invotves subjective factors, derived from, among other things, the past experience of the Group's management, and its understanding of the anticipated 
devetopment in the reat estate markets as o f  the date on which the estimate o f  the fair vatue is being determined. For sensitivity anatyses. see note 12 H.

ELBH !MAC:HC LTD-
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

S!CN!F!CANT ACCOUNT!NG POL!C!ES (Cont.)NOTE 2 -
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(I) Use of estimates (Con!.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S!GN)F!CANT ACCOUNUNC POL!C!ES (Con! )NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S!GN!F!CAN T A CCO U N U N G  P O H C !E S  (C&nt.) 

sate.

NOTE 2
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ELB!T !MACtHC LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOt.!DATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

S!CN!F!CANT ACCOUNT!NC POL!C!ES (Cont.)NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cent.)NOTE 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

S!GN!F!CANT ACCOUNUNG POL!C!ES (Con! )NOTE 2 -
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)FRS )3 estabtishes a singte source ot guidance for fair vatue measurements and disctosures about fair vatue measurements. The Standard defines fair vatue. estabtishes a 
framework for measuring fair vatue. and requires disctosures about fair vatue measurements. The scope of tFRS 13 is broad; it appties to both financia) instrument items and 
non-financia) instrument items for which other tFRSs require or permit fair vatue measurements and disctosures about fair vatue measurements, except in specified 
circumstances, !n genera). the disctosure requirements in !FRS t3 are more extensive than those required in the current standards. For exampte. quantitative and quatitative 
disctosures based on the three-teve) fair vatue hierarchy currentty required for financia) instruments onty under tFRS 7 Financia) )nstruments: Disctosures witt be extended by

The amendments to !AS ! require additiona! disctosures to be made in the other comprehensive income section such that items o f other comprehensive income are grouped 
into two categories: (a) items that wit! not be redassified subsequentty to profit or toss; and (b) items that witt be rectassified subsequentty to profit or toss when speofic

The amendments to !AS t are effective for annuat periods beginning on or after t Juty 20)2. The presentation of items of other comprehensive income wi)) he modified

NOTES TO THE C O ^ U D  ATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

S!GN!F!C\NT ACCOUNUNC POL!C!ES (Com.)NOTE 2 -
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* AnnuaI!mprovemen!s 2009-20II(M ay20!2)

The amendment is effective for annua! periods beginning on or after I January 2013, with earlier application permitted. The amendments wilt be implemented retrospectivety in

* Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS !2 and IAS 27, Investment Entitles Amends IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
and IAS 27 Separate Fm ancialStatements to:

o provide 'investment entities' (as defined) an exemption from the consolidation o f  particular subsidiaries and instead require that an investment entity measure the 
investment in each etigibte subsidiary a! fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 Financiat Instruments or !AS 39 Finanoa) tnstruments: Recognition

o require additionat disclosure about why the entity is considered an investment entity, detaits of the entity's unconsotidated subsidiaries, and the nature of retationship

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con! )N O T E 2 -

F 5 ־ !



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

repayment schedutes o f the Company's Series ) and Series A to Series G debentures (cottectivety, the "Notes"), the Company is required to repay the Note hotders principat and 
interest in the aggregate amount o f NIS 399 miition for the period commencing February ! .2 0 )3  unti) February ), 20)4. In addition, as o f December 3!, 20)2. the Company faited to 
compty with certain financia) covenants under Israeti )ong-term bank toans in the tota) amount as o f such date of NIS 290 mittion. Accordingty, said amount is presented as short-term

(2) During 20)2 and 20)). the Company recorded toss in the amount of N)S 456 mittion and N)S 247 mittion. respectivety. out of which an amount o f  N)S 406 mittion and N)S 37! mithon, 
respective)y. is attributabte to non-cash write downs of Pta2a's trading properties, mainty in the CEE.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTIONNOTE 3 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - F!NANC!AL POS!T!ON AND CO!NC CONCERN ASSUMPTtON (Con!.)

(7) On February 27. -0J3. a summary of principte terms was reached among the Company. York Capita) Management Ooba) Advisors. LLC' ("York") and Davidson Kempner Captta) 
Management LLC ("DK". and co))ective)y with York, !he "Funds"). The summary of principtes outtines a proposed restructure retating to at! the Notes (the "Proposed Restructuring") 
The Funds hotd. in the aggregate, approxim ate^ 35% of the outstandmgbatance o f  the No!es (as defined betow).

Pursuant to an arrangement under Sections 350-35! of the tsraeti Companies Law. the outstanding batance under the Company's Notes and any other unsecured toans of the Companv 
(which together, as of February 26. 20)3. equated approxtma!e)y N)S 2.464 mtHion (approximate^ $660 m.Hion) (princ.pat and interest) woutd be converted mto (a) Ordinary Shares of 
!he Company, representing .mmedtatety fottowmg such converston 86% of the tota) share capita) of the Company on a futty dduted basis (exctuding any new warrants to purchase 
Ordinary Shares ^hat may be tssued to !he Company's current controtting party and CEO) and (b) new notes (the "New Notes") wtth an aggregate face amount of N!S 300 mittion 
)approximatety $80 mittion) hearing interest at the rate ot 8% per annum payabte on a semt-annua! basis, with prtnctpa! repayabte in a s!ng)e payment at the end o f five years

The Ordtnary Shares and New Notes to he issued wou)d he aHocated among !he various series of the Notes in proportion to the outstanding batance (pari) under each such series 
The new Ordinary Shares woutd be tmed for tradtng on both the Te) Aviv Stock Exchange and !he NASDAQ G!oba! Setect Market free of any restncnons or )imttauons on trade and 
the New Notes !0 he .ssued woutd be ttsted for trading on the l e t  Av.v Stock Exchange onty. The New Notes woutd be secured by a negative ptedge and woutd mctude mandatory 
prepayment provtstons tn the event the Company secures corporate-tevet financing (using onty the proceeds of such new financing), and may be prepaid at any time without penatty.

Under !he summary 0! terms. the Funds woutd offer to purchase Notes from those Note hotders who wish !0 se)!, tmmediatety prior to the ctosing of the Restructuring, for an aggregate 
amount of $75 mittion in cash (the *Cash-Out"). The structure, terms and conditions o f the Cash-out have ye! !0 be determined

The^participation^of the^Funds in. and the terms of, the Cash-Ou! woutd be condi!ioned on !he sa!isfac!ory ou!come of a due ditigence revtew o f the Company, as we!! as other

The Proposed Restructuring contemptates that the secured debt owed by the Company to an tsraeti bank !he batance o f which as of December 3). 20)2 amounted to N!S 238 mittion

(8) The Company's abdity to mee! att i!s obtigaiions in !he toreseeabte fu!ure is highty dependent !he Company's abitity !0 res!ruc!ure its deb! as above mentioned. The aforesaid, together 
with the above described matters and the profound comptextty associated with the nego!ia!ion process !0 reach !he deb! res!ruc!uring raise substan!ia! doub! about !he Company's 
abitity !0 continue as a going concern. The financiat s!a!emen!s do no! inctude any adjus!men!s !ha! migh! resut! from !he ou!come o f !his uncer!ain!y.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS AND !NVESTMENTS

2 0 12 2 0 ! 1
Interest

rate
% (in thousand NIS)

see(i)betow  )22.744 )30.200
see(ii)betow  46,937 86,0)7
see(iii)betow  )).937 9.034 

43.306
_____________ S. !69 ____________ )7.899
___________230.) )3 ___________243,)70

____________ )0,673 ____________ 2 ),466
____________ !0.673 ____________ 2 !,466

see (iv) be)ow __________87,042 _________ )44,702

327,830 _________409,338

(i) As of December 3 ). 20)2. deposits in a totat amount ofNIS 34 miHionare restricted in respect of bank facitities requirements, which bear interest of 0%. An additiona) NIS 34 
mittion are restricted in respect o f  tax and wind up payments expected fottowing the US transaction, and bears annua) interest o f 0.3%.

As o f December 3 1 2 0 1). an amount o f NIS 3) .9 mittion is restricted due to bank facitity agreements signed to finance investment property in USA.

An amount o f NIS 33.9 mittion and NIS 20.3 mittion as o f December 3). 20)2 and 2 0 )). respectivety, is restricted due to bank facitity agreements. (Refer to note )9). This 
amount carries an annua! interest rate approximate^ !. t%-0.6%. An amount ofNIS 75 mittion as o f December 3 1, 20! 2 carries an annua! interest rate approximate^ o f 0.98%.

(ii) An amount ofN IS  32 mittion and NIS 20.2 mittion as o f  December 3 !, 2012 and 20) t. respectivety, is restricted due to bank facitity agreements signed to finance projects in 
Eastern Europe. These amounts carry an annuat interest rate ranging between 0% and overnight LIBOR. An amount o fN IS tO mittion and NtS )0.3 mittion as o f December 3). 
20)2 and 201), respectivety. is restricted in respect of !RS transaction. This amount is carrying fixed interest rate o f 3.2% An amount o f N!S 48 miHion as o f December 3 1! 
2 0 t ! is ptedged as security for derivative and financia) instrument transactions with banks and financia) institutions which bears an interest o f ) month Euribor.

U.S. Dottar(i)
EURO(ii)
NtS (hi)
Credit tinked note (see Note t9 E (3 )) 
Others restricted deposits

Shares

NOTE 4 -
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ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHORT TERM DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

A. Composition (cont.):

(iv) interest-bearing avai!ab)e-for-sa)e financia[ assets with a face vatue ofNIS 58 mittion and NtS )23 mittion are outstanding as of December 3 1. 20 12 and 2 0 ) ! , respecuvety. The 
avaitabte-for-sate financia) assets have stated interest rates of )% to )3%. As at December 3). 20)2. part of the AFS Portfotio in the amount of N)S 3 miMion ts ptedged

TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

2 0 12 2 0 ) 1
(in thousand NIS)

57,66! 88,)75
(tO.)33) t)6.)26)
47,528 72,049

December 31
2 0 12 2 0 1 !

(in thousand NIS)

7,320 5,800
!).754 32,485
5,7)5 6,!5!

65.0)3 38.595
37,454

9,020 !8,535
)36,276 !0!,566

NOTE 6 - OTHER RECEIVABLES

Other
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2 0 ! 2 2 0 ) t

Prepaid expenses ___________ 9,765 __________ !6,824
246,850 _________262,86)

(!) tnctude mainty advances in the amount o fN fS 2)9 mittion (20) t : NtS 230 mittion) for the purchase o f ptots in tndia (see note 8D).

TRADtNC PROPERTY

E L B !I MMA C m G  LTP.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

2 0 ) 2  2 0 ! t  
(in thousand N!S)

Batance as of January ! 4,556,6t6 4,t92,24t
Acquisition andconstruction costs )39,664 422,241
Disposat during the year (108,629)
Capitatized borrowing costs )34,288 )92,993
Write-down to net reatizabte vatue (see C, C betow and note 26J) (453,835) (272,990)
Foreign currency transition  adjustments (69,399) 22,t3)
3 a !3 n c e M .f0 .c tm b tr3 )( l) 4,)98,705 4,556,6t6

N O T E 7 -

N O T E 8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRAD!NC PROPERTY (Com.)

2 0 12  _____2 0 ! I
(in thousand NIS)

Accumulated write-down to net realizable value 993,633 34 !,800

S n d e ^ p e r a n u l r f י "  " " " ) ,434.693 !.006.443
Under construction 90,24) 608,688
Under planning and design 2,633.77! 2,94!,485
Total 4,!98,703 4,556,6 !6

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! !
(in thousand NIS)_________

3,0! !.393 3,290,3)8
!.)H7,!!2 ________! .266,098
4, !98,703 4,336,6)6

NOTE 8 -
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Fire a! !he shopping center of the Company's subsidiary in India

tn June 20 !2. a fire event occurred at a shopping center o f the PC's subsidiary in Pune. !ndia. which resutted in a temporary ciose-down of the shopping center.

The subsidiary maintains comprehensive genera) )iabitity and property insurance, inctuding business interruption insurance, with toss )imits that the PC's subsidiary is o f the 
opinion wit) entitte it with substantia) and broad coverage for the currentty foreseeabte tosses arising from this event.

As a resutt o f the ftre event, the Company recorded an impairment ofNIS 50 mittion to its trading property asset. Based on the insurance company's vatuator report, management of 
the Company determined that it is virruaity certain that the subsidiary wuutd be reimbursed by the insurance company. Accordingty, the Croup recorded a rcceivab!e in the amount 
0fN!S 37 mittion (see note 6).

Disppsa! of a p ro jec ts in B u tparia  and  H ungary

tn Juty 20)2, PC so)d its stake (5)% ) in a ptot o f )and tocated in Softa, Butgaria for a tota) consideration 0fN !S  0.3 mittion. According to the terms o f the transaction, bank toans and 
other tiabitities in a tota) amount ofNIS 65 mittion were assumed by the buyer. No gain or toss was recorded as a resutt o f this transaction.

tn October 20)2, PC, through its jointty he)d subsidiary in Hungary, disposed o f  a p)0! o f  )and adjacent to its Dream !stand property ptot in Budapest, Hungary. As part o f the 
transaction, a toan in the amount o f EUR 5.9 mittion (NIS 29 mittion) (Company portion) was assigned to the buyer, and the ptot in a tota! book vatue of EUR 4.5 mittion (N)S 22 
miHion) was dtsposed of. As a resutt o f this transaction a gain of EUR !4  mittion (N!S 7 mittion) was inctuded in 2 0 12 income statement.

The fottowing tabte summarises genera! information regarding PC's significant trading property projects (exc)uding trading property projects in !ndia which are hetd joint!y by PC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADING PROPERTY (Com.)NOTE 8
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A so fD ecem b er3 !,2 0 I2

Status of
P urchase / R ateofow nershipbyPC  registration 

Project Location transactiondate (% )___________  Nature of rights____________ of)and S ta tusofthepro ject

ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8 - TRADINC PROPERTY (Cont.)

Suwatki Ptaza Potand Jun-06 too Ownership Compteted Operationat

Zgorzetec Ptaza Potand Dec-06 )00 Ownership Competed Opprationat

TorunPtaza Potand Feb-07 too Ownership Compteted Operationat

L<iJ'<r,s,der,nal Potand Sep 0! too
O w ^ h , p P , r p e , ^ ,

C . p k . n i

Lodz-ptaza Potand Sep-09 too Perpetuat usufruct Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Ktetce Ptaza Potand Jan-08 too Perpetuat usufruct Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

LesnzoPtaza Potand Jun-08 too Perpetuat usufruct Compteted ptanning and devetopment stage

Liberec Ptaza Czech Repubtic Jun-06 :00 Ownership Compteted Operationat

Roztoky Czech Repubtic May-07 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Riga Ptaza Latvia Feb-04 50 Ownership Compteted Operationat

KoregaonPark tndia 0ct-06 too Ownership Compteted Operationat

Kharadi tndia Feb-07 50 Ownership Compteted Under construction

Trivandrum tndia Jun-07 50 Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Casa Radio Romania Feb-07 75 Leasing for 49 years Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Timisoara P!aza Romania Mar-07 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Mtercurea Csiki Ptaza Romania Jut-07 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

tasi Ptaza Romania Jut-07 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Statina Ptaza Romanta Aug-07 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Targu Mures Ptaza Romania Mar-08 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Hunedoara Ptaza Romania Feb-08 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Constanta Ptaza Romania Juty-09 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Betgrade Ptaza Serbta Aug-07 too Ownership Compteted Ptanntng and devetopment stage

Kragujevac Ptaza Serbia 0ct-07 too Lease for 99 years Compteted Operationat

Sport-Star Ptaza Serbia Dec-07 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Shumen Ptaza Butgaria Nov-07 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Dream tstand Hungary Sep-03 43.5 Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Arena Ptaza Extension Hungary Nov-05 too Land use rights Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Uj Udvar Hungary Sep-07 35 Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage

Hetios Ptaza Greece May-02 too Ownership Compteted Ptanning and devetopment stage
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fottowing information retates to trading property he!d by Etbit-Ptaza !ndia Rea! Estate Hotding Limited ( "EP!"). the tota) amount o f  which as o f December 3!. 20)2 amounts to N)S 
6)4 miHion. EP) is jointty controtted by the Company and PC (see note ) t D)

!n December 2007, EP! executed agreements for the estabtishment o f a speciat purpose vehicte ("Chennai Project SPV") together with one o f the teading reat estate devetopers 
in Chennai ( "Locat Partner"). Subject to the futflttment o f  certain conditions, the Chennai Project SPV undertook to acquire the ownership and devetopment rights in and up 
to )35 acres o f tand situated in the Sipcot Hi-Tech Park in the Siruseri District of Chennai, tndia. Under the agreement. EP!'s investment in the Chennai Project SPV witt be a 
combination o f investment in shares and computsory convertibte debentures. Due to changes in market conditions. EP! and Chennai Project SPV tater decided to timit the

Under these agreements. EP! is to hotd 80% of the equity and voting rights in the Chennai Project SPV. white the Locat Partner witt retain the remaining 20%. The project tand 
is to be acqutred by the SPV in stages subject to such tand comptying with certain regutatory requirements and the due ditigence requirements o f EPt. Through December 3 t .
2012 the Chennai Project SPV has compteted the purchase of approximatety 75 acres out of the tota) K3.4 acres for consideration of a tota) o f !NR 2.367 mi!!ion fNIS !6) mittion) 
(EP! share) )n addition, as of such date. EP! paid advances in the amount of !NR 364 mi!!ion (N!S 38 miHion) in order to secure acquisition o f an additiona) 8.4 acres.

The parties have entered into a shareho)ders' agreement in respect o f the management o f the Chennai Project SPV. which provides, among other matters, for a five member 
board of directors, with one member appointed by the Setter for so tong as it maintains a !0% hotding in the Chennai Project SPV and four members appointed by EP). The 
sharehotders' agreement atso mctudes pre-emptive rights and certain restrictions pertaining to transferring of securities in the Chennai Project SPV. Profit distributions 
dectared by the Chennai Project SPV witt be distributed in accordance with the parties' proportionate sharehotdings. subject to EPI's entittement to receive certain preferentiat 
payments out ot the Chennai Project SPV's cash flow, as determined in the agreements.

The consummation o f the agreements w!!! be accomptished in stages, and is subject to the fu!₪ m ent o f certain regutatory requirements, as wett as to the Company's 
satisfactory due ditigence investigations, in respect o f each stage. However. EP! is currency negotiating certain changes in the project's imptementation ptan and hotding 
structure, which woutd require changes atso in the respective agreements. Among other things, shoutd those changes be accepted. EP! sha!! not be required to advance more 
tlnancing to the project in addition to the amounts mentioned above and sha!! hotd att the issued and outstanding share capita) o f the SPV. Further. EP! is currentty operating 
to secure a joint devetopment agreement with tocat devetoper(s) for the devetopment of the project tand. in accordance with the aforementioned guidetines.

TRADING PROPERTY (Com.)NOTES -

F-60



NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADING PROPERTY (Con!.)

!n March, 2008 EP! entered into an amended and reinstated share subscription and framework agreement (the "Amended Framework Agreement"), with a third party (the 
"Partner"), and a whotty owned !ndian subsidiary o f EP) ("SPV"), to acquire, through the SPV. up to 440 acres o f )and in Bangatore, !ndia (the "Project Land") in certain 
phases as set forth in the agreement. As of December 3 ! . 20! 2. the Partner has surrendered !and transfer deeds in favour o f  the SPV to a trustee nominated by the parties for 
approximate^ $4 acres for a tota) aggregate consideration o f  approximate^ INR 2,843 miHion (N!S !94 miHion), presented in the statement o f financia) position as o f December
3 ! . 20! 2 and 20 !! as trading property Upon the actua! transfer of tit!e o f such 54 acres, the Partner wi!) be entitled to receive 5 0%  o f the sharehotdings in the SPV.

!n addition, the SPV has paid to the Partner advances o f approximate^ !NR 2.536 mittion (N!S )73 miHion) on account o f future acquisitions by the SPV o f a further 5) .6 acres. 
Such amount is presented in the statement o f !mancia! position as o) December 3 ! . 20! 2 and 20!! as other receivabtes. as prepayment and other assets (refer to note 7).

As detaited betow. on Juty 22. 20)0. EPI. the SPV and the Partner entered into a new framework agreement which has not yet come into force (the "New Framework 
Agreement"). The New Framework Agreement provides that in case it does not eventuaHy come into fu)) force and effect, the terms of the Amended Framework Agreement 
wi!) govern, according to which the Group's additiona) investments in the Project Land may reach up to )NR )0,500 miHion (NIS 7!6 miHion) Nonethetess. a!though certain 
conditions precedent under the New Framework Agreement has not been met, EP!, the SPV and the Partner are actuatty pursuing the project in accordance with the 
provisions o f  the New Framework Agreement (for a description o f  the New Framework Agreement, ptease see the next paragraph)

NOTES ־
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADINC PROPERTY (Con! )NOTES -
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(2) Bangatore, !ndia (cont.)

Fottowing !he Discharge Date. EP! wi!! not be entit!ed to receive any additiona! profits from the Project and it wi!! transfer !0 the Partner the entire sharehotdings tn the SPV for 
no consideration, !n addition, the Partner has a cat! option, subject to app!icab!e !aw and regutations. to acquire !he entire sharehotdings o f the SPV. at any time, in 
consideration for EPt's !nvestment ptus the !RR catcutated on the retevant date o f acquisition.

The terms of the New Framework Agreement wi!! enter into futt force and effect upon execution o f  certain ancittary agreements as set forth therein, however, EP!. the SPV and 
the Partner are actua!!y pursuing the project in accordance with the New Framework Agreement.

As o f December 3 !, 20! 2 and 2 0 !! , the SPV operations are proportionate^ ($0%) consotidated with those of the Company, since significant decisions in respect o f the Project 
Land require the consent o fbothE P ! and the Partner.

tn January 20t t, the Partner has submitted the devetopment ptans pertaining to approximate^ 84 acres inctuded in the scope o f the new project of !65 acres to the !ocat 
ptanning authority, the Bangatore Devetopment Au!hority ("BDA"). !n October 2 0 !!, the BDA had notified the Partner that the devetopment ptans cannot be considered due 
to a future eminent domain proceedings with respect to the tands on which the new project is proposed to be situated (among other tands in the same area). The government 
has not yet pubtished any notice in that respect, as required by taw in order to vatidate such eminent domatn ptan.

tn January 2012. the Partner appiied to the State High Court, requesting to issue a court order directing the BDA to consider the devetopment ptans. !n March 20 !2, the court 
awarded a judgement pertaining to approximatety 49 Acres, ordering the BDA to consider the devetopment ptan retating to such 49 Acres ("Devetopment Ptari"). white 
ignoring any future eminent domain program that may be considered by the state authorities, !n December 20!2, the BDA decided to submit the devetopment ptans pertaining 
to aforementioned 49 acres to the Sensitive Zone Sub-Committee of the BDA and in January 20 !3. the Sensitive Zone Sub-Committee o f  the BDA granted its approva! to the 
aforementioned Devetopment Ptan. As o f the approvat date of the financia! statements, the Group awaits the court's judgement with respect to the remaining 35 acres.

E. As o! December 3 !, 20!2 the Group p)edged trading property in the amount 0fN !S !.6!3 miHion in order to secure borrowings provided to the Group by financia! institutions in the

NOTES TO THE CONSOL!DATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

TRADtNG PROPERTY (Con! )NOTES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- TRADING PROPERTY (Cont.)

Retail Offices______________
2 0 12 2 0 11 2 0 12 2 0 1 1

Romania 6-24 )0-30 )0.3 tt
Czech Republic N/A 10-t3 N/A !3
Serbia )6-34 )0־ 24 t4 )4
Latvia N/A !6 N/A N/A
Potand 8-t8 9-20 N/A N/A
Greece 27 27 N/A N/A
Hungary )5 823 tt-H .75 U.73
India 3 )9 8-22 N/A N/A

Romania 8-9.73 8.00-8.75 8.5 8.50
Czech Repubtic 8.35-8.66 7.25 N/A 7.25
Serbia 99.75 9.00-9.75 9.25 9.25
Latvia 8.75 8.40 N/A N/A
Potand 7.58.5 7.25-8.00 N/A N/A
Greece 8.5 8.25 N/A N/A
Hungary 7.3-9 8.25-8 75 8.5 8.50
India !2 tt N/A N/A

NOTE 8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DEPOSITS, LOANS AND OTHER LONG TERM BALANCES

(in thousand NIS)

Deposits at banks and financia! institutions (i) 7 ),532 57,5)9
Hetd to maturity financia) instruments )ii) )87,648
Financia) instruments designated at FVTPL (iii) 62,70)
Derivative measured at FVTPL (iv) 22.934 )5,)48
Loans to third parties (v) 46,057 60,296
Loans to associates 3,)26
Others 3,956 6,843

)44.479 393,28!
Less ־ current maturity (89,363) (!3,204)

55.) )6 380,077

(v)

NOTE 9 -
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- INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

E L P !T  W A G I N G  L T D .
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 0 12 ____ 20  1 I
(in thousand NIS)

Cost 75,330 82,058
Accumutated tosses, net (55,768) (54.576)
tnitia) recognition ofinvestm entin associate due to toss ofcontro toverasubsid iary(ii) ]50,752

(!!.097)
Foreign currency transition  adjustments (6,289) (3,829)
Totat(!) !64,025 !0.556
(i) tndudm gg..dw i!! )8,795 )9,85!

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ) 1
(in thousand NIS)

Equity !nvestment 3)5,032 322,438
(522,008) (496,080)

)5,875
8,873 8,99)

116,406
Gain from )oss o f contro! over a subsidiary 2)6,574

Investments in associates are comprised of

130,752 ()64,632)

)nstghtec(48%)(ii) )30,752
Gamida(3!%) !8,864 !6,085
Other (3,39!) (5,329)

and there can be no assurance that these applications wi!) be successful. InSightec is continuing research and devetopment tor additiona) apptications for such products. 

As o f December 3 1 ,20! t. the Group hetd 65.9% in tnSightec and 53.05% on a tidty dituted basis.

NOTE tO
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B. InSightec Ltd. ("InSightec") (cont.)

During 20! 2 !he Croup has entered in!o a share purchase agreemen! wt!h GE and cer!ain o!her sharehotders of InSigh:ec ("0!her Inves!ors*) and an tnvestment agreement 
w.!h GE pursuant to which GE and the Other !nvestors invested a tota) amount of approximate^ US$ 44 miHion in !nSightec. The main terms of the Transactton are as fottows:

(i) GEjnvested USI 27.6 mittion in cash in exchange for tnStghtec's series C preferred shares. Simuttaneousty. Other )nvestors invested approximated USX 3.3 miHion in

(n) GE and the^Group converted att outstanding sharehotder toans which have been granted to tnSightec. into !nSightec's series B-t preferred shares in accordance with

(in) The Transaction reflects a post money vatuation of InSightec of approximatety USS t03.9 mittion (or pre money vatuation of USX 73 mittion and foHowing the

(iv) As part of the !nvestment Agreement GE and InSightec signed a Technotogy. Co-operation and Distribution Agreement. This agreement reptaced the 2003 Gtobat 
Dtstribu!ion Agreement and two other prior agreements between )nSightec and GE. According to the agreement. GE was awarded wortd-wide distribuuon rtghts for 
marketing and sates of !nSightec's products. The Agreement atso requires that the !nSightec's products be compattbte wuh GE imagtng equipment fur a period of five 
years oreartier upon the occurrence of certain events. Th!s Agreement atso provides GE with: (i) a right of first negottation for exdusive distribuuon of new !nStghtec's 
products: (ti) a first priority righ! !0 quo!e and set! !0 new GE customers; and (iii) a first prtority right to quote and set! new products to extsting CE customers. The 
agreement atso sets up a framework pursuant to which tnStghtec and GE witt cooperate regarding mutuat !echnotogy atignment and devetopment

tv) As tor December 3 t. 20t2 !he Group hotdings in !nStgh!ec reduced !0 approximatety 48%. and 4!%  on a fuHy di!u!ed hasts.

Upon the ctosrng 0! !he Transactton tn December 20!2. !he Group wit) no tonger have !he righ! !0 appoint the majority of )nSightec's directors and therefore Group 
<.eased to present tts investments in )nSightec on a fuHy consohda!ed basis bu! rather the investments theretn are presented tn !hese financia) s!a!emen!s based on !he 
equtty method of accounttng )n addition, upon !he ctosing of !he Transac!ion !he Group recorded based on externa) tndependen! va)ua!or a gain in !he amoun! of N!S

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 10 - !NVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont.)
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C. Gamida Ce!! Ltd. ( "Gamida"):

Gamida ts engaged in the devetopment of stem cett therapeutics based on its proprietary technotogies for stem cetts expansion. As of December 3 1, 20t2 . the Group hotds 30 8% tn 

tn the frame of the tnvestment Round, the Company invested in Gamida an amount o f approximatety $3 mittion. in order to preserve its ownership percentage in Gamida.

! ־ ( 0 2 2 ! 0 2 ! ! 0 2 2 !0 2
(in thousand NIS)______ ______(in thousand NIS)_____

29,930 3 !.947 106,928 24,940
(!6,687) (34,831) (8 !,368) (284,79!)
!3,263 (2,904) 25,560 (239,85!)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

!NVESTMENTS !N ASSOCIATES (Cont.)

Gamida Insightec
Year ended December 3!

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! ! 2 0 ! 0 2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! ! 2 0 ! 0
(in thousand N!S) (in thousand NIS)

Revenues ־ - 69,437 56,602 33,62!
Loss (26,364) (33,252) (26,9 !7) (59,9 !4) (!0!,9!3) (77,032)

NOTE !0 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE ! I - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AS TO INVESTMENTS IN MATERIAL SUBSIDIARIES AND CHANGES THEREOF

A. E!b!!Mcdica!Techno)ogies:

tn November 20)0. the Company dosed a transactton !0 restructure its hotdtngs in the medica) compantes )nSightec Ltd. )"!nSightec") and Gamtda Cet) Ltd. ("Gamtda"). under Etbu 
Medica) Technotogtes Ltd.. an !sraet) company traded on the TASE ("Etbu Medtcat"). tn constderatton for the Group's hotdings tn tnStghtec representtng as of the ctosing date of 
the transactton 69.3% of tnStghtec's outstandtng share capita) (see note ( tO B above) hetow) and the Groups shares of Gamtda representing as o f the ctosing date of the transaction 
3t 6% of Gamida's outstanding share capuat (see note )0 C above), the Company was issued with Etbu Medicat shares representtng a 90% interest in Etbu Medtcat and was granted 
opuons a! zero exercise price to acqutre shares of Ethu Medicat. which together with the aforesaid shares constttute as of the ctosing date of the transactton 97 9% of E)bit Medicat's 
share capttat (on a futty dituted basis) As for December 3). 20)2. the Company hotds 95.63% of Etbit Medtcat on a fu)iy dttuted basts.

in addttton. in December 20t0. Etbit Medicat issued shares in a prtvate ptacemen! in the aggregate amount ofN tS t9 mittion (approximated $4.8 mtttion). tnctuding a !wo year optton 
toinves!anaddittona)aggregateamoun!o!־N!St9mittion(approxima!etyS4.8mittion).

B. Ptaza Cen!er N.V. ("PC"):

(!) PC conduc!s i!s ac!ivi!ies in !he ftetd of es!ab)ishing, setting and opera!ing (un!it !heir sate) shopping and en!er!ainmen! cen!ers, as wett as o!her mixed use projec!s (retait. 
office, residen!iat) in Cen!rat and Eas!em Europe, and India. As o f December 3), 20t2 !he Group hotds 62.52% in PC (56.24% on a futty ditu!ed basis).

(2) PC share repurchase proeram

In August 20)0. the Company sotd )5 mittion shares of PC in considera!ion for approximate^ NIS 98 mittion. The difference between !he book vatue o f !he shares sotd and 
!he consideration received resuhed in a toss of approxima!ety NIS 48 mittion which was recognized !0 !he equi!y hotders o f  !he Company.

Durtng 2 0 )). :he Company purchased 788J00 o f  PC shares represcn!ing approxima!e)y 0.3% of PCs share capi!a) for !he !0!a) amoun! o f NIS 2.6 mittion. The difference 
between the consideration and book vatue ot !he shares (resuhed in a gain) is approxima!ety NIS 5.3 mittion recognized !0 !he equi!y hotders o f !he Company.

tn Sep!ember 20! ).^PC dis!ribu!ed an in!erim dividend payment !0 i:s sharehotders o f €30 mittion (NIS !48 mittion). O f !his. !he Company and its whotty owned subsidiary
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE !! - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AS TO INVESTMENTS !N SUBSIDIARIES AND CHANGES THEREOF (Cont.)

B. Ptaza Center N.Y. ("PC"): (Cont.)

The agreement, which was approved by vast majority of PC's Bondhotders. ptaces certain covenants and conditions on dividend payments by PC during 20 !2-20 )3 A 

The tota! dividend wi!) be capped at €30 miHion (NIS !4H mittion) per annum for each of the years 20! 2 and 20!3.

Distribution of dividends witt be made onty from the net cash flows derived from the reatization of assets and witt be capped at $0% o f  net cash flows received.

Shoutd a dividend be distributed while the average market yietd o f PC's series A and B bonds exceeds a certain threshotd. PC sha!! retain, for a period o f !2 months 
foHowing the dividend payment, a sum o f not !ess than €70 miHion (NIS 346 miHion) in reserve accounts, of which a sum equa! to the dividend payment can be used 
so!e!y for the repurchase o f bonds and / or making principa! and interest payments to PC's bondho!ders.

Shou!d a dividend be paid white the average market yietd o f PC's series A and B bonds is betow a certain threshotd. PC shai) be emitted to distribute dividends o f up 
to €50 mittion (NIS 247 mittion) per annum. Should this occur, the sum of the dividend exceeding €30 mittion (NIS !48 miHion) wi!! be he!d in a reserve account, to be 
used so!e!y for the repurchase o f bonds a n d o r  making principa! and interest payments to PC 's bondho!ders.

C. BEA Hotets N.V.("BH"):

As of December 3!. 20! 2 the Group, through its whotty owned subsidiary. Bea Hotets N.V ("BH"), hotds the rights tn the foHowing hotets:

(1) 100% 0! the voting and equity rights in a company that hotds and operates the Radisson Astrid and Park Inn hotets in Antwerp. Betgium.

(2) Approximatety 77% of S ( Bucuresti Turism S.A. ("Bucuresti") which owns the Radisson hotet comptex consisting o f the Radisson hotet and the Centnvtte hotet (an 
apartment hotet). tocated in Bucharest. Romania. Bucuresti was purchased through a privatization tender pubtished by the State Ownership Fund of the Romanian 
government, which was approved by the supreme court o f Romania
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ADD!T!ONAL INFORMAT!ON AS TO !NVESTMENTS !N SUBS!D!AR!ES AND CHANGES THEREOF (Cont.)

D. E!bit- P!axa !nd!a Rea! Estate Hotding Ltd. ("EP!"):

tn August 2008. the Company has entered into a join! venture agreement wi!h PC (!he "EP! Agreement"), under which, inter atia. PC was atto!!ed 47.5% of the shares of !he 
Company's subsidiary Etbit Ptaza !ndia Reat Estate Hotdings Limited ("EP!"). As of the ctosing date EP! he!d p!ots in Banga!ore and Chennai, !ndia (see note 8D). As of the time of 
the execution of the EPt Agreement, !he Kochi !stand was (and stitt is) hetd though an SPV other than EP!. i! was agreed !ha! !he 50% of !he hotding righ!s in !he Kocht !stand 
project witt be hetd in favor of PC. The Company undertook and guaranteed to transfer !he hotdings in !he Kochi projec! !0 EP! or PC within !2 months foMowing the execution of the 
EP! Agreement, orahemativety to repay the consideration paid by PC for the rights in this project. The remaining 5% equity rights are hetd by the Company's former Executive Vice 
Chatrman of the Board (see note 27B (5). The Company and PC each have the rtgh! to appoint 50% of the board members of EP!.

!n addiuon. under the EP! Agreement. PC had paid the Company approximatety S t26 mittion. reflecting 50% of att toans and ftnancing invested by the Company in the Bangatore. 
Chennat and Kocht projects as of such date (see note)3B). The Company witt hotd in trust 50% of the rights in the Kochi ts!and in favor of PC. The Company provided PC with a 
guarantee, whtch shatt be exercised in the event the Company faits to transfer att i!s rights in the Kochi !stand to EP! (or atternanvety to transfer 50% of the said rights to PC). The

E. E!bi! Fashion

Etbi! Fashion L:d. is whotty owned by !he Company and is the franchisee of !he MANGO in !sraet.

tn January 20t2, the Company and Etbit Trade & Retait Ltd ("Etbit Trade") previousty whotty owned by the Company, entered into an agreement with Gottex Modets Ltd. ("Gottex"). 
for the sate of at! its shares in Etbi! Trade and att !heir in terest in GB Brands. Limited Partnership ("GB Brands"), which is !he franchisee of !he CAPTM brand in !sraet. The sate 
transaction was dosed in Aprit 20t2. The purchase price paid by Gottex under the agreement was N!S 25 mittion. ptus the agreed vatue of the GAP inventory as o f the ctosing date 
and adjustm ent based on !he agreed vatue o f !he working capi!a! a!!ribu!ed !0 the GAP ac!ivi!y as o f !he ctosing da!e. The Company recorded a gain in !he amount o f  N!S 9.4 mittion.

F. Varcode

Varcode ts a start-up company engaged in the research, devetopment and manufacturing of the F r e s h C o d e ^ :  smart TT! (Time Temperature !ndicator) barcode tabets. designed to 
monttor the cotd chain of temperature sensitive products such as food and pharmaceu!icat. Durtng 20! t. !he Company gained controt over Varcode (56%). foHowing the minority's 
waiver on us veto right. The said waiver was approved in the frame of an agreement for future contro! and investment, which was signed between the Company. Varcode and !he

ELB!T !MAG!NG LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N O T E ! ! -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 11 ־ ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AS TO INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND CHANGES THEREOF (Cont.)

The fottowing is summarized data outtining the items of the proportionate))? consotidated companies' financtat statements as inctuded in the Company's consotidated financia) 
statements based on the Company's share. For the effect of !FRS )) in force commencing January ) .2 0 )3 . which wit) resutt in the cessation of the proportionate^ consotidated 
method in the Company's financtat statements, see note 2AG.

2 0 12
(in thousand NIS) 

2 0 11 2 0 10

C r r e ״ =ne,s

־ ' ................... ־

t,037,067 t^!5 ,!40 t,25 !.942
Non-currentassets 57.8)0 2.850.) 95 2.401.327
Current tiabdittes (329.854) (673,06)) (629,941)
Non-current ttabdities (3.7)0) (),706,270) (t,555,770)

Net assets 76t,3!3 !,686,004 ),467,558

Revenues 8t,883 475,593 808,060
Expenses (t90,80t) (454,0tt) (364,716)
Net profit (toss) ^!08,9 !8) 2t,582 443,344

U .K hoe)sin20)0 (seeno te t2C ).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE )2 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Rea! es!a!e
Hotets a! revatuation mode! (*)(**) A! cost mode)

Under
Operating construction Other Other f!xed assets Tota!

(in thousand NIS)

t.t 54.523 !07.708 33.505 )74.390 ).470, )28
(t96,!30) ()96, )30)

)4.76) !.294 6.373 22.428
470,832 - 470,832
50.396 50.396

(3!!) - (6,399) (6,7)0)
(359.537) (50.558) (54,620) (464.7 !5)
(30,395) )50 (" 9 ) (963) (3 !,327)

t.)04,)4) 58.594 33.386 !)8,78) !.3 !4.902

!79,957 5,204 85,735 270,896
(!79,957) (!79.957)

47,549 523 !2,577 60,649
(224) (4,8)0) (5,034)

(3,626) (35.6)3) (39,239)
(4, !80) ()9) (508) (4,707)
39,5 !9 5,708 57,38) !02,608

)6,!73 6.8)0 )6,243 39,226
(!6,!73) (!6,!73)

5 4, !05 4.H0
(30) (324) (354)

- 6,785 20,024 26,809

),064,622 58,594 20,893 4 !,376 !,!85,485

Cost:

(*) There may be restrtcnons on !he Company's abt!i!y !0 dts!ribute dividends !0 i!s sharehotders from !he reva)ua!ton reserve, since i! was no! charged !0 re!ained earnings through profit and toss.

(**) Had the Group continued to present the hotets based on !he cost modet. !hetr net hook vatue as o f December 3 ). 20)2 woutd have been NtS 680 mittion.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE !2 - PROPERTY. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT.)

December 31,2011

Operating construction Other at cos! To!a!
(in thousand NIS)

!.093.3)4 99.2 !3 32. !47 !63.202 ).388.076
20,876 6,588 4,5)0 3 !,974

462 462
(64)) - (8,684) (9,325)

40.776 !,907 ).358 )4,900 38.94!
),134,323 !07.708 33,505 !74,390 !.470, !28

)34.86) 4.)33 59.036 )98.030
40,729 9)9 !7,734 39,382

(4)3) (3.229) (5.642)
4,780 !52 !4,!94 )9,!26

!79.937 5.204 85.735 270,896

29.73! 7, !07 7.466 44,304
04.930! (602) 9.0)7 (6.5)5)

!,372 305 (240) !,437

!6,!73 6,8 !0 !6,243 39,226
7.640 7.640

938,395 !07,708 2 !.49! 80.052 ),)67.646

Cost:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE )2- PROPERTY. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT.)

2 0 1 2  2 0 11
(in thousand NIS)

Freehotd rights 1,084.347 1,02 ),614
Leasehotd rights 48,000 65.980
Net book value ),)32,347 ),087,594

C. Disposal of UK hotels:

In December 20t0 BH has entered tnto a Share Purchase Agreement and Loan Agreements with Park Ptaza Hotets Limited group ("Park  P !axa '), with regard to the sate o f  its 

28C(t)(ii).
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ELBtT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 12- PROPERTY.PLANTANDEQUIPMENT(CONT)

The tota! net consideration that was paid to the Company in May 20)2 was approximate^ 626.3 mittion. The consideration was paid in the fottowing manner: (i) €23 mittion in cash; 
(n) Park Ptaza issued and attotted to the Company 700.000 ordinary shares of Park Ptaza . with current market price as of the ctosing date of approximate)}- €t.7 mittion (NtS )0 mittion). 
based on the quotation o f such shares' price on the London Stock Exchange; and (iii) an addittona) payment in the aggregate amount of up €) .6 mittion that shatt be made on the 
tourth anniversary of the transfer date (March 20)6) and shatt be subject to certain adjustments, based on Park Ptaza shares' market price, as set forth in the Agreement Based on its 
terms. This additionat payment is ctassified as a derivative and its fair vatue a so f December 3 t .  20)2 amounted to N)S 8.

The tota) profit generated from the sate of the hotets. amounted to approxtmatety NtS !88 mittion. out of which NtS )34 mittion has been recognized in the sharehotders equtty of the 
Company fottowing the apptication of the revatuation mode) (see note 2N (i))and NtS 34 mittion has been recognized in the income statement for 20)2. hence the characteristic of the 
transaction is the sate of interest in the subsidianes that hetd the hotets in oppose to setting the assets hetd by them.

F As o f December 3 t. 20t2 the Group ptedged property ptant and equipment in the amount o f NIS 1,033 mittion in order to secure borrowings provided to the Group by financiat

G. Within the framework o f a tease agreement with the tsraeti Land Authority ("ILA") in respect of ptot tocated in. Tiberias Israet, the Company has undertaken to finatize the 
construction, as extended, in Juty 20)3. As for December 3t 2012. the Company betieves that an extension witt be obtained. Within the framework of the tease agreement the 
Company has provided the ILA with two bank guarantees in the aggregate amount 0fN )S !0 mittion tinked to the increase in the tsraeti consumer price index in order to secure the 
Company's undertakings under the !ease agreement, tn accordance with the !ease agreement, in case o f non-comptiance with its terms the contract can be canceted.

H. Operating Hotets vatuation sensitivity anatysis is detaited betow:

Change in Discount rate change in hotel FV
(NIS'000)

+03% (II,3I6)-(!6,33t)
-03% t2.792-t6.974
+!% (2t,648)(32.668)־
3(27.332-32.9 % ־'
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ELBM tMAG!HG LTP=
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANCL\L STATEMENTS

NOTE !3 - !NVESTMENT PROPERTY

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! !

At f .ir  m u t
(in thousand N!S)

Ba!ance as of January ! 2.672.57! 2.232.322
Additions during the year 20.492 59,! !6
Addittons due to increase tn hotding rate !!!.932
Net gain (toss) from fair vatue adjustments (see note 29) (!0,937) !00,8!9
Dtsposa! during the year (see note 29) (2.623.673)
Foreign currency transition  adjustments 65,270 !68,382

!23.723 2.672,57!

20! 2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOL!DATED FINANCtAL STATEMENTS

NOTE !4 - OTHER ASSETS AND DEFERRED EXPENSES

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! !

Cost
(in thousand N!S)

Prepaid !easehotd rights 8.747 !3.542
Other !2,647 9,778

Accumulated ,m ortizM i.n
2 ).394 23,320

Prepatd teasehotd rtghts 8.747 !0,!60
Other t78 !23

8,92$ !0,283
Amortized cost !2.469 !3,037

NO TEi5 - !NTANGtBLEASSETS

Cost

2 0 !  2 2 0 ! 
(in thousand N!S)

!

Goodwi!! (i) 4 !,242 6!,753
!ntangib!e assets - inte!!ectua! propeny and other !0,620 25,325
Distribution rights ),040 2,427

52,902 89,505
Accumutated amortization o f !ntangibte assets and impairment 6, !84 ! 5,090
Amortized cost 46,7 !8 74,4 !5
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ELBtT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 16 - SHORT TERM CREDITS AND BORROWING RELATING TO TRADING PROPERTY

2 0 12  2 0 11

% (in thousand NIS)

U.S. Dottar ],044
EURO Euribor + 0.4-5.5 2t2.787
NIS (i) Prime + t.5־ .!75 8,!24 !4,566

9.]68 227.353
Currentmaturities(*) t , !83,893 852,383

!.]95.063 !.079.736

The balance as of December 3!. 20!2 inctudes bank bans in the tota) amount of NtS 290 mittion that are presented as short-term tiab.tities due to incomptiance with financiat
c o v en an ts-see  note 23 E(3)).

Composition of borrowings retating to trading property:

EURO Euribor+!.855.5־ !,045,365 980,746
Others.matntytndianRup) !3.25-!5 )66.956 !43.285

t,2!2,32t !,!24,03!
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EL9!T IMAGING LTP-
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAYABLES AND OTHER CREDIT BALANCES

2 0 12 2 0 11 
(in thousand NIS)

Income taxes 3),658 !2,283
Other govemmenta) institutions 3.790 9.53)
Wages and fringe benefits !6,868 30,473
Accrued tnterest payabte 27.593 39.504
Rea! estate taxes payabte 25,02!
Derivative measured at fatr vatue through profit and toss (i) t6.335
Retated parties 763 2,900
Ltabt)itytn respect ofacqutsttionoftrading property M.863 7.!48
Loan from third parties 6,!27 39,52!
Accrued expenses, commissions and others(*) 23.692 95.363

!35,689 26 !,744

'! .00%*2. H %  and receive E U R IB O R  three months.

OTHER LIABILITIES

2 0 12 20  11 
_________ (in thousand NIS)_________

Liabi!ity in respect of construction services (i) 76,747 77,020
)ncome tn advance 39,528 80J24
other 2,94)

t )6,275 )60.085

NOTE 17

NOTE !8 -
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ELB!T !MAG!NG LTD.

2 0 ) 2  2 0 ! !  
_________ (in thousand N!S)

NOTE )9 - BORROWINGS (Con!.)

290,396 3 !8.50!
! !6.573 74,903
399,336 692,40!
______  ̂ _______ t .587.482
806,305 2,673,287

30.20)6.
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BORROWINGS (Cont.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Linkage Interest as a! December 3!,
Series basis rate Repayment terms 2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! !

% (in thousand NIS)

A(ii) Israeti CP! (i) 6.0 August 2009 !97,5)5 338, !42

Blti) U S Dottar Libor+265 August 2009 !5.366 28.083

C(ii) Israeti CPI (!) 5.3 260.064 342,22!

0(ii)(iii) !srae!i CP! (i) 50 78 !.293 858,804

E(ii) Israeti CPI (i) 6.3 59,575 73,243

F(") !srae!! CP! (i) 5.7 272,22! 37 !,224

G(ii) Israeti CPI (!) 5.08 commencing December 20 !4 464,292 468,34!
2,050,326 2,480,058

(i'i)

NOTE !9 

E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANC!AL STATEMENTS
.(BORROW !NGS(Cont 9 ־! NOTE

Series Par Vatue from trading

A !9,467,003 3,380,000
B !.747.463
C 58,289,688 3,6! !,497
D 92,395,506 4,9 !0,! 57
E 8,!46,80! !,8 !0,000
F 22.707.088 5.000.000
C !8,995,!30 5,000,0000
Convenibte debentures 3,642.56!

225,39 ],240 23,7! !,654
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(i) (Cont.)

note3)B

ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE ! 9 -  BORROWINGS (Com.)

Series 2 0 ! 2 ( i i ) 2 0 ! ! ( i i ) 2012( i i )  2011( i i )

A

(In thousand NIS) 

8,896

(In thousand NIS) 

13,601
B 920 I J I 0
C 23,446 - 55,828
D 42.705 )04.274
E 2,522 7,3)6
F ג2 !7 )7,063
C 5,031 - )5,033

90,732 2)4,225
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

!.(BORROWINGS (Con 9־! NOTE

Linkage Interest Repayment aso fD ecJm b lrS !, as o ^ c e m b e r  31,
Series basis rate terms 2 0  12(H) 2 0 l l ( i i ) 2 0 1 2(ii) 2 0 ! !(ii)

% (In thousand NIS) (In thousand NIS)

A

B

Israeti CPI(!) 

tsraetiCPt(i)

4.5 December 20 !0 

5 4 Juty20!t

!38.363

433.!47

!70.839

536.545

203,!24 

549.49!

266.986 

722.2 !2
37!.5!0 707.384 752,6 !5 989, !98
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F.LBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N O T E BORROWINGS (Con!.) ־(!!
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e ^ B r r  !M A G tN G  L I P ,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F. PC 'sdebentures(Cont-)

(3) Buyback plan of PC 's debentures

NOTE !9 ־ BORROWINGS (Com.)

t0,!6!,662
28.486.672

!00.236,973
)70.6M4.843
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! !
(!n thousand NIS)

24,827
2.4 !7

!!,250 24,860
2,771 !63,648

!4,02! 215,752

OTHER LONG-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

decrease of the Company'sho!dings in !nsightec.see note !OB.

(ii) a) As for December 3 i ,  20t t: Within the framework of a credit agreement executed in September 20!! (Sec iii betow) the Company granted to the Lender a 
warrant to purchase the Company's ordinary shares at an exercise price of $3.00 per share during a two-year period commencing on March 3), 20!2. The

interest [inked to the )sraet! CP). The swaps were measured at fair vatue. Changes in the fair vatue were charged to the statement of income. This swap was

c) tn respect to toan agreement drown by a subsidiary hotding the Radisson Btu. Bucharest ("BUTU") (see Note !9 D (ii)). BUTU entered into tRS transaction in 
which it wttt pay fixed interest rate of t .4% and receives three months Euribor on a quarterty basis starttng on January t . 2013 and ending on June 3 0 .2016.

(tti) As for December 20) t. DDR has originated a USD )4 mittion (N)S 49 miHion) )oan. !0 a subsidiary of CDT. at a fixed interest rate of )0%. The toan was assigned as part 
of setting the US operation (see note 29 B).

tn September. 2 0 !). the Group, entered into a toan agreement with Eastgate Property LLC,( "Lender"), pursuant to which the Group received a $30 Mittion (NtS ) )0 
MiHion) !oan. bearing interest at the rate o f !! .4% per annum. The effective interest of the toan. taking into account the cost of raising the toan as wett as the 
derivatives mention in note (ii) above was 25%. The toan was settted during 20) 2 as part of setting the U S  operation (see note 29 B).

NOTE 20 -
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ELB!T IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER LONG TERM L!AB!L!T!ES

2 0 1 2 2 0 ! !
(in thousand N!S)

Provisions 6^43 6,88!
Reurement benefit obligation(seeBbelow) 6.983 4,953
Other 1,!54 974

!4.380 12.808

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! !

PresentvalueoffundeddeHnedbenefitobligation !9,469 )4,965
Fairvaiueofplanassets _________ (!2,486) _________ (iO,Q]2)
Net liability arising from defined obligation ___________6,983 ___________4,953

2 0 !  2 2 0 ! !
% __ ___%

N O T E 2 ! -

F 9 0 ־



NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

!NCOME TAXES

2 0 !  2 2 0 ! !  2 0 ! 0  
(in thousand N!S)

Current 7,276 !,639 77!
Deferred (2 ).480) 6 ).038 3.3)2
!n respect o f  prior years 3^56 586 (9))

()0,248) 63,283 3,992

(!) !srae!

NOTE 22 ־
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAXES (Con! )NOTE 22 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAXES (Con!.)

(1) IsraeI(con!)

d. In Augus! 20)0, !he Israe)i Tax Au:hori:y approved !he reques: made by !he Company for res:ruc:uring (here!nfor:h - "res:ruc:uring approva). Wuhtn the framework of 

subsidiary o f :he Company, became :he owner of !he Croup's entire hotdings in InSightec and Camida.

(2) TheNether!ands

NOTE 22 -
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(3) !ndia

(4) Cyprus

(5) USA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

!NCOME TAXES (CONT.)NOTE 22 -
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ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAXES (CONT.)

2 0 12 2 0 11 2 0 10
(in thousand NIS)

Israeli company's statutory tax rat. (%) 25 24 25

Loss before income taxes (560,571) (207,847) (30 ),321)

^ f f e r J ^ s " 't a x \u r d e u iu  respect of:
(140,143) (49,883) (75,330)

Exempt income, net o f unrecognized expenses ).35) )7,646 163,335)
Prior-year losses for which deferred taxes had not previously been recorded, including utihzation 6,420 (29,295) ()0,))4)

T h ^ f f " , ^  ^ t ^ i p ^ l p p M  f o r T n i ^ i ^ t a t e ^ ^ L  those applied for
34,4)7 )30.652 )35.946

income tax purposes (including exchange differences) 45,0)0 (52,390) (43,036)
Dtfferences in tax rates on income of foreign subsidiaries 40.720 46,6)4 59.045
The Group's share in results of associated companies 2,)80 267 ).6)0
Taxes for prtor years 3.956 586 0.463)
Other differences, net (4,)59) (9)4) 669

()0,248) 63,283 3.992

NOTE 22 -
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5LBIT HUAGtWC LIP-
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOMETAXES(CONT)

2 0 1 2

NIS)

2013 109,073
2014 30.944
2013 88.91! 
20t6 94.2t3 
2017 and thereafter 2,347,747

2.720.890

NOTE 2 2 -
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NOTES.TQ THE CQN$0UPATEP^F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

!NCOME TAXES (CONT.)

Year ended December 3!, 20!2
Charged to Foreign out of

Ba!ance foreign currency currency consolidation/ B a in ce
as of Ja n u a ry !, Charge to profit tran s itio n Charge to AFS tra n s itio n Discontinued as of December

20!2 and !oss account reserve reserve adjustments operations 3 ! ,2 0 !2
(!n thousand NIS)

(79,832) 2,220 (39,072) (30) 32,359 (84,375)

״ S׳ E o t E: :
(20.802) 606 (!20) !.395 (!8.72!)

(77,838) 24,038 !,803 (3, !20) 73 534 (54.508)

73,224 (3,384) 3!7 (22,839) 45.3 !8
Net deferred taxes (!03,268) 2 !,480 (37,267) (3,!20) 240 3 !,649 (H 2,286)

NOTE 22 ־
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ELP!T !MACING LTD,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOMETAXES(CONT)

Charged to
Balance foreign Foreign

as of currency currency
profit and translation Chargeto translation Discontinued in the

201! loss account reserve A FSreserye adjustments operations tax rates 31,2011
(In thousand NIS)

(34,294) 2,480 (1.163) (46,875) (79,852)

(20,704) 545 (511) (!32) (20.H02)

(645) (76,212) (3.695) 2,215 499 (77,838)

3H.608 9,906 1,004 23,993 (237) 73,224
Net deferred taxes (17,035) (63,281) (3,695) 2,215 (171) (23,014) (287) (105,268)

NOTE 2 2 -
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ELB!T LTD,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

!NCOME TAXES (CONT.)

2 0 ! 2 2 0 1 !
(in thousand N!S)

Long-term !iabihties (!!3,309) (!08,642)
Long term receivabtes !.023 3,374

(!!2,286) (!05,268)

1 he Croup did not record deferred tax assets in respect of the foHowing items.

December 3!
2 0 !  2 2 0 ! !

(in thousand N!S)
Acceierated depreciation differences in respect o f property p!ant and equipment and investment property !3,044 (9,375)
Timing differences - income and expenses 88.98! 52,878

534,283 670,205
638,308 7 !3,708

NOTE 22 -
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ELBIT HHAGiHG L TP:
NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED F!NANCfAL STATEMENTS

!NCOMETAXES(CONT-)

With respect to tax assessments inspection o f the Company and other two !srae!i subsidiaries, according to which the !sraeti Tax Authority ctaims for additiona) tax payments of NtS 
2X7mittion.see note 23B(5).

N O T E ' 2 -
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COMM!TMENTS, CONT!NGENC!ES, L!ENS AND COLLATERALS

ELB!T !MACtNC LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED HMANC!AL STATEMENTS

20!2 27,567
20! 3 27.!84
2014 26,45!
20! 5 25,802
20!6 23,843
Thereafter !28,428

259,273

NOTE 23 -

P- !0!



ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(I ) The Company - application for 1999 class action

In November ) 999. a number of institutiona) and other investors (the "Plaintiffs"), hotding shares in Elscint. instituted a ctaim against the Company, Etscint. EIL, Contro) Centers 
Ltd, past and present officers in the said companies and others. Together with the daim  a motion was fited to certify the daim  as a ctass action on behatf o f everyone who was a

a breach of a tender offer made by the Company to purchase the minority share in Etscint and an agreement between the Company and the Company 's CEO for the sate o f the 
business of Etscint to the Company at a lower vatue The Ptaintiffs attege that the vatue o f Etscint's shares dropped during the period between February 24. 1999 and the date at 
which the ctaim was instituted from $13.25 per share to $7.23. The retief sought is an order for the Company to consummate the purchase offer for $ t4  per share, and 
attemativety. to purchase Etscint's shares hetd by the Ptaintiffs at a price to be set by the court. In January 2009, the district court dismissed the Ptaintiffs' motion to certify the

NOTE 23 - COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)

B. Claims: (Cont.)

NOTE 23 -

F- )03



B. Claims: (Cont.)

ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)NOTE 23 -
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ELB!T !MACING LTD.

COMMtTMENTS, CONT!NGENC!ES, HENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.) 

M ay3!.2006

NOTE 2 3 ־
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8. Claims: (Cont.)

MOTES TO THE CONSO U PATEP F1,N.\NC!AL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS. CONTINGENCIES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)NOTE 23 -

F )06



B. Claims: (Com.)

ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS. CONTINGENCIES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)NOTE 23 -

F107 ־



^ B r r J M A.QLN G  LTD ,
ROTES TO THE CONSOHDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

COMMtTMENTS. CONT!NCENC!ES, L!ENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)NOTE 2 3 ־
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.) 

(4) (Con!)

NOTE 23 -

F- )09



&LB!T iM A.G!NGLIR1
MQIES TO THE CQN$QH P AT BP  F!NAMC:AL .STA.TEMENTS

COMMUMENTS, CONT!NGENC!ES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)NOTE 1 3 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATE^HN^ANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS. CONTINGENCIES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)NOTE 23 ׳
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ELB!T!MAC!NCLTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED MNANCUL STATEMENTS

COMM!TMENTS, CON! !NCENC!ES, HENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)NOTE 2 3 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS. CONTINGENCIES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)NOTE 23 ־
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ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES. LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)NOTE 23 -
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ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 23 - COMMITMENTS. CONTINGENCIES, LIENS AND COLLATERALS (CONT.)

Financia) covenants
' " ־ " " " " ' °

C .M m tn.i
31,2012

(N!S
000)

N ISI.421 million

note3!C 238

0.93

Total Hnancial assets (solo) > $50 million $74 million

Ratio Net Debt / Cap < 85% 74%

PC's total financial assets> $80m i)!ion $134 million

Ratio Equity/Total Assets of PC > 25% 4 7 %

Hotels
LTV (loan to value) < 0.6 0.34

289
DSCR (debt service coverage ratio) > 1.2 1.82

LTV < 0.7 0.45 244

LTV < 0.7 0.69 160

LTV < 0.75 1.14 W aiver in place 106

LTV < 0.65 0.73 Under Negotiation 152

LTV < 0.85 0.72 105

LTV < 0.70 0.75 W aiver in place 157

f -H 5



ELNH MAGmC LTP,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE CAPITAL

December 3!
2 0 ! 2 2 0 1 1 2 0 10

Authorized share capita! 50,000,000 50,000,000 50.000,000
!ssued and outstanding!*) 24.885,833 24.885.833 24.885.69!

(*) December 3 !. 2 0 !2 .2 0 !! and 20!0 exc!uding 3,388.9!0 treasury shares hetd by the Company.

NOTE 24 -

F- !)6



ELB!T !MAC!NG LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ptan was increased to 2'300.000

OPHONS PLANS

Year ended December 3!
2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! ! 2 0 ! 0

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number of average exercise average exerc!se

prtce
(N!S) (N!S) IN'S)

Batance at the beginning of the year !.709,231 t8 2,t48,9!7 53 !,780,9t7 52
Granted 20.000 )0.25 399.500 55
Exercised (30,500) 53
Forfeited (439,666) 90 (t.000) 32

Balance . t  the end o f  the y e a r( ') t,729,23t !8 !,709,25! !8 2,t48,9t7 53

Options exercisable at the year end !,576,084 !7 !,399,9 !8 !9 !,43 !,583 57

')!nctudes options granted to other Company's
keypersonne! 185,000 32 557,500 !7.47 77t,000 54.9

NOTE 25 -

F 7 ! ! ־



LLm 1tM AG)NC L 1a
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

OPTIONS PLANS (CONT.)

2 0 ! ! 2 0 ! 0

R iskfreeinterestrate(% ) 3.75 3.59

Expectedvotati)ity(%) 67.8 6 )9 t 

Forfeited(%)
T ota!costofbenefit(N !S  thousand) 3,97! 9,756

Number of options
Year ended December 3!

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! ! 2 0 ! 0
Weighted Weighted Weighted

($) (!) ($)

B 3 im e . , , h .b .g in a i 3 E ,r , h ty n r 430,000 2 430,000 2 430,000 2

B a la n c d .th c c n d o f th c y c a r f ) 430,000 2 430,000 2 430,000 2

Options exercisabie at the year end 286,667 2 !43,000 2

( .)< K cM n sp ,i.n S E ran ״ d t ״ h<C.n-pany.s
keypersonne! 80,000 2 !80,000 2 !80,000 2

NOTE 25 -
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ELBtl (MACING LTD,
NOTES TQ THE CONSOLIDATED fIN ANC:AL ST . A i m m H

OPHONS PLANS (CONT.)

2 0)0־

Risk free interest rate (%) 3.)5

Expected vo!ati!ity(%) 75.86

Forfeited (%) 0-3
Tota! cost o f benefit (NIS thousand) t !,635

NOTE 25 -

F- !!9



ELBTT HHAC!NG LTD.

OPT!ONS PLANS (CONT.)

2 0 ! 2 2 0 !!
Weighted Weighted

Number of average exerctse Number of average exerctse
options(*) pnce options(*) prtce

(N!S) (N!S)

Batance at the beginning of the year !30,233.500 0.4
Granted 29,07 !.000 0.!3 !30,483.500 0.4
Exercised - (250,000) 0

Batance at the end of the year (*) !59.304,500 0.!4 !30,233,500 0.4

2 0 ! 2 20!!

Riskfree interest rate (%) 3 4.83

Contractua! term 5 5
Expected vo)ati!ity (%) 54.5 53!
Expected dividend yie!d
Forfeited (%) 0 0
Tota! cost 0fbeneH t(N!S thousand) 6,!27 !9.924

NOTE 25 -

F- !20



NOTES TO THE CO!sSQL:PAT&D.fiNANi:L\L.SIAI£M ^ T S

OPTIONS PLANS (CONT.)

be granted under the 2nd ESOP is fourteen mi!!ion( !4.000,000) and a cap of GBP 2.

NOTE 25 -

P- !2!



ELBIT !MACING LIP..
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPT!ONS PLANS (CONT.)

Number of options
Year ended December 3!

2 0 12 2 0 1 ! 2 0 ! 0
Weighted Weighted Weighted

average exerctse average exerctse average exerctse

(GBP) (GBP) (GBP)
Batance at the beginning o f  the year 26,905,132 0.46 24,889,225 0.6) 26,255,482 0.532

Granted ()08,335) 0.42 6, )69,000 0.46 2,789,000 )23
Exercised (2,989,557) 0.96 (95 ),564) 0.53 (3,954,541) 0.52
Forfeited ),)90,000 0.47 (3,20),529) ).4 (200,7)6) 0.52

B a la n ce a tth e c n d o fth e y e ar(* ) 24,997,240 0.43 26,905, )32 0.43 24,889,225 0.6!

Options exercisab!e at the year end 12,47) ,556 0.43 19,380,778 0.438 15,279,330 0.527
ל  !nctudes:

Options granted to the Company's CEO &
Execut!ve President 3,907,895 0.43 3,907,895 0.43 3,907,895 0.52
Options granted to other Company's key

personne) 2,) )6,54) 0.43 )4,566,9)7 0.43 !4,566,9)7 0.64

The , p ״ ons ou.s.anding a. 3, December 20.2 have an exercise phce in the range o f  GBP 0.39 to GBP ) .32 and have we.ghted average remaining con.racuaU ife o f !0.3 vears.
The wetghted average share prtce at the date o f exercise tor share options exercised in 20! 2 was GBP 0.48 (20)! GBP 0.88)

NOTE 2$ -

F- !22



NOTESI.QTH E.<:0NSOM OATEP FlNANC1AL.$TA.T.EME.NTg

OPTIONS PLANS (CONT.)

B. Options plan adopted by PC: (Cont.)

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! I (i) 2 0 ! 0

Risk free interest rate (%) 0.24-4.13 0.46-5.49 0.55-5.65
Expected life of options (years) 9-10 7 )0 5-7
Expected volatility (%) (ii) 40-60 33-52 40-58
Expected divtdend yield
Forfeited (%) 2.5-59 2.5-59 2.5-59
Suboptimai exercise multiple 1.5-2 !5-2 1.3-2

Total cost o f benefit for options granted (or modified) during the year (NiS thousands) 3.783 11.897 7.164

NOTE 25 -
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RLB!T !MAGtNC LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANC!AL STATEMENTS

OPTIONS PLANS (CONT.)

Year ended December 3!
20!2 20!!

Number of
Weighted 

average exercise Number of
Weighted

p r׳ce
(USD) (USD)

488,750 !2.74
Granted tt,250 )2.74 488,750 )7
Exercised (*) (500,000) !9
Batance at the end of the year (**) 488,750 )2.74

Options exercisabte at the year end

'!!nO udesoptm ns granted to the Company's key personne. 300.000 !2.74

Risk free interest rate (%) 0.48
Exercise coefficient
Contractuat term 3.5
Expected votatitity (%) 5t.t
Expected dividend yietd
Forfeited (%) 0
Totat cost of benefit (USD thousand) 8,060

NOTE 25 -

F- !24



ELB!T IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPTIONS PLANS (CONT.)NOTE 25 -
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EL.B ! T ! M A G !P G L TP.
NOTES TO THE CONSODDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS 

ADDmONAL DETA!LS CONCERN!NG !NCOME STATEMENT

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ) !
(in thousand N!S)

2 0 ! 0

Sate o f trading property )27. )09 3.525 4.345
Rentat income and management fees !4),02$ 76,300 6 ),260
Other 34.) 28 35,445 37,290

R e,e.t,es from h.te) operations and management

302,262 ))5,270 )02,895

Rooms )37,)46 )79,396 259,894
Food, beverage and other services 69.370 92.009 )29. )95
Rentat of commerciat space )6,3)2 )5,)43 )4,733

C°'<°r<om m erei.< tenters

222,828 286,548 403,822

)09,628 3,203 5,)85
)0,34) 9,089 )0,0)9

Attowance for doubtfut debts 3.223
Energy costs 22,250 )8,676 )8,375
Taxes and insurance )0,28) 6.595 5.)68
Maintenance of property and other expenses 29,627 26,4)8 23,672

O ther operating expenses:
)82,)27 63,98) 65,642

Wages and fringe benefits 22,952 24,086 25,380
Stock-based compensation expenses 7,755 )9,000 )3,366
Professionat services 23.933 )9,756 )7.830
Advertising 20,063 )2,93) )4,637
Other )2.705 )4.845 )3,845

87,408 90,6)8 85,058
O .p r .d . ti .n  andam ortha ti.n 3,275 5.027 6,045

272.8)0 )59,626 )56,745

NOTE 26 -

F )26



ELBIT IMAGiNC L IP ,
MQTE3 TQ.i.HE.c0.^SQ.iJPATEP FINANCIAL STA .Tm .EJiIS

ADDITIONAL DETAILS CONCERNING INCOME STATEMENT (Cont.)

c ° - f " ° ' ' ' - p - . i ° - n d - - , a n a 6 e m e n ,

2 0 12 2 0 ! !
(in thousand NIS)

2 0 1 0

53.375 77.8)4 )07.574
Food and beverages )7,235 22,483 28.806
Other 36.669 67.8)4 95.352

O ther operating expenses:
)29,479 )68,))) 231,732

Wages and fringe benefits 373 834 499
Management fees and reimbursement expenses )2.677 )5,232 2).884
Business taxes, insurance and [ease payments 8,592 11,838 25,536
Other 3,8)9 3,432 7,746

25,66! 3),356 55,665
Depreciation and amortization 47,0)8 4),3)7 53.894

Cos, offashion merchandise
202,)58 240,784 34 ),29)

36,)40 28.504 26.652
Purchases 6),620 tOt,550 78,222
Less disposat during the year )9.9X2
Less - inventories ctosing batance !0,676 36,!40 28,330

Other operating expenses:
67J02 93,9)4 76,544

Wages and fringe expenses 32.562 38.4)7 38.5)2
Renta!, management fee and shops' maintenance 39,28t 56,485 54,899
Advertising 5.397 )).788 t4.398
Depreciation and amortization 6,064 7,379 8,520
Other 5,366 3,760 4.701

88,670 H 7,829 !21,030

C e.era l and administrative expenses

!55,772 2t[,743 !97,574

Wages and fringe benefits 24,7 !8 24,262 30,274
Stock-based compensation expenses It.853 22.644 !3.980
Depreciation and amortization 1,752 [,852 !,990
Other to,563 )3,099 )9,048

48,886 6!,857 63,292

NOTE 26 -
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&LB1.T IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 0 12 2 0 1 ! 2 0 10
(in thousand NIS)

393,94) 463.500 4 !7,539
())2,857) (64. U0)
28),084 399,390 4 !7.539

2 ),483 (42.754) 55.45!
7,507 4,968 7,954

3)0.074 36 !.604 480.944
(!34,296) (!97,603) (!64,238)
)75.778 !64.00! 3 !6.706

7.3% 8.0% 7.2%

27,974 65,0)7 59, )69
3.!09 554 ()8,242)

3 !,083 65,57) 40,927

98,798
(57,888)

9,3)9

2,!58 
(353.368) 

60,857 
!4,8)6

9, )46 
236.837 

(!73,8)3) 
(!9,)54)

50,229 (275,537) 53,0!6

4)3.564 263.720 44.446
)5,454 22,)59 37,832

(!7.393) 397 !.382
4!),625 286,276 83,660

ADDITIONAL DETAILS CONCERNING INCOME STATEMENT (Cont.)

Sub Tota!

20!0. In addition interest on debentures measured at FVTPL in the amount ofNIS 6) miHion, NIS 56 miHion 
and NIS 5! for the years ended December 3 ! ,2 0 !2 ,20)) and 20 !0, respectivety.

NOTE 26 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! !  2 0 ! 0 
_______________ (in thousand NIS)______________

K. Earnings p er share

ADDITIONAL DETAILS CONCERNING INCOME STATEMENT (Con!.)

Loss from con:inuing operations (39!,947) (284,6!0) (308,924)
Profit from discontinued operation 98,357 !9,69! 370.922

n u .b e r  ofo rd .n .ry  shares used ,n ,he ealeulat.on of ,he d,luted earn.n.s ״ ״e״

24,886 24,883 25,29!

Profit (!oss) from continuing operations (39!,947) (284,6!0) (308,924)
Profit from discontinued operation 98,357 !9.69! 370.922
Weighted average number o f shares used in computing di!uted earnings per share (thousands) 24,886 24,883 25,737

(diluted opt,ons on the number o f shares [thousands.!־ Effect

RELATED PARTIES

NOTE 26 -

NOTE 27 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOL!DATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

(!) (Cont.)

a. (Cont.)

RELATED PART!ES (Con! )NOTE 27 -

F !30



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED P.\RT!ES (Cont.)NOTE 27 ־
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On November ), 2007 !he Company's sharehotders approved an annua! bonus payment for the CEO & Executive President which wit! be catcutated as foHows: (i) 0% o f the first 
NIS )00 miHion of Profits (as defined be)ow):(ii) 2.5% of Profits between NIS !00 mittion and NIS )25 mittion; (iii) 3% of Profits between NIS )25 mittion and NIS )50 miHion; and 
(iv) 3.5% o f Profits exceeding NIS ! 50 miHion. The annua) bonus is payab)e for so )ong as the CEO & Executive President serves as a director or officer o f the Company or any of

ELB!T IMAGING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTIES (CONT.)NOTE 27 -

F- )32



ELB!I !MAC!KG LTD,

RELATED PARTIES (CONT.)

(i) 0.75% of the first N!S )25 mittion of Profits (as defined betow); (ii) 0.875% of Profits between NIS t25 mittion and NIS )50 mittion; and (iii) !% of Profits exceeding NIS !50

NOTE 2 7 -
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6!,e!T !MAGmc  LTD,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTIES (CONT.)NOTE 27 -

F- )34



RELATED PART!ES (CONT.)NOTE 2 7 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTtES (CONT.)

(7) (cont.)

! 2 0 !0 ־־־ ! 0 2 2 !0 2
_________________ (in thousand N!S)_________________

9.927 !3.038 !3.48$
!86 !,26) 2,833

!9.234 __________22.083 ________ )3.720
29,347 __________36,384 ________ 34,060

b. Project expenses (coordination, supervision and aviation services) - charged, main)y to cost o f trading property
and property p)ant and equipment (see note 27 A ())) 4 4 ^ 2

NOTE 27 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTIES (CONT.)

Year ended
December3!

2 0 ! 2  2 0 ! !
--------------(in thoosa.d N]S)

Assets:
Receivabtes and other debit accounts 3.7!5 6,!3!
Deposit, !oans and other !ong-term receivab!es !,082 !,082

6.797 7.233

Liabilities:
Payables and other credit accounts 739 2,900

Benefits payabte to former key management personne! 3,332 3,84!
4.09! 8,74!

SEGMENTS REPORTtNC

NOTE 2 7 ־

NOTE 28
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K Q T ES I Q . I H E CONSQ U D A I.E P  R N A N C !A L  STAT E M E N TS

SEGMENTS REPORTING (con! )NOTE 28 -
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ELB!T tMACtNG LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(48 ,886) 
(80 ,428) 
3!,0 8 3

(50 ,229)

(5 6 0 ,5 7 !)
!0.248

(550 ,323)
94,823

(455 ,500)

!4 8 .! !6

56 .6 !0

!,7 5 2

3 89,869

6,303

396,172

6 ,!9 5 ,9 3 0

!64 .024

734,456

7,094 ,41!

!.657,338

4 ,0 !5 ,9 4 4

Centers (i)(ii) Hotets
in d " tr ie f* n d Fashion O therac th ities

Tota!
(in thousand NiS)

300,541 276,703 69,457
216.574

t,622 !52,470 (66,463)
(2)6.574)

734,330

734,330

(378,419) 81,396 !74,793 (8,135) (3.302) (174,370) (308,037)

(57,861) (35,966) (!,369) 48 (95,348)

(427) (8,299) (8,726)

3,275 47,0)8 6.064 253

406,249 (8,223) (8, !57)

3,436,990 !,267,4!2 !06,928 !,046,965 47,339 290,296

(5,680) )8,952 150,752

!,!58,!85 434,5)0 8),368 ),753 38,0)) (56,489)

NOTE 28 - SEGMENTS REPORUNC (CONT.)

FVTPL

D e c e m h e r3 ! .2 0 !2 :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

NOTE 28 ־ SEGMENTS REPORT!NC (CONT.)

(6),857)
(89,330)
65.37!

275,537
(207.847)

63,283
(27).)30) 

24,)0)
(247.029)
452,4)6

Hote)s Residentia) A׳ ^ ) andY tbcationJ Tota)
()0 thousand N!S)

))),726 286,548 53,324 3,544 )83,552 (5).794) 586,900

(320.949) 58.8)2 () )2.807) ()2.579) (29.532) )0).326 (3)5.529)

(34.058) (37.045) 654 (3.294) (728) (74.47))

(743) (6,)30) (695) (7,568)

5,027 4),3)7 ),273 7,379 ).242

58, )23 
5)0,539 

56.238

274,563 (!3,048) ),34) (2,377)

),852
58,090

260,479

3,357,6)2 ),227,) 94 39,873 ),06 ),866 99,888 )50,73)

7.638 
268,) )7

5.937, )64

(5,657) ]6,2)3 )0.556

),248,294 745,624 )) 5,435 956 70,026 (89,042)

4,423,347 
)0.37 ],067 

2,09 ),293

FVTPL 

December 3t. 30)):
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NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 28 - SEGMENTS REPORTING (CONT.)

Hote)s '" "* d ev i 'jr" " Residentia! A ^ r d andYtbcations Tota!
(in thousand NIS)

!02,895 602,599 33,63! 174,8!7 (33,63!) 880,3!!

(97,536) 276,369 (88,856) (!9,480) (28,08!) 58,625 !0!,04!

(!9,490) (87,7!5) (t,073) (3,482) !,073 (HO,687)
(!.899) (6.376) (8,275)

FVTPL ________ (53.0)6)

Purchase cost of segment assets ________375,554 ________ 99,965 _________ 3.379 ________ 66,607 _________) ).605

6,044 53,894 628 8,520 (628)

2,44),795 
3,0)6.087 

68,458

43,686 (!5,06!) 5,466 3,580

2,6)8 
7!,076 
37,67!
5,833

43,504

4,07!,426 
(4,697)

),204,!59 43,!4t !,046,!46 95,873 39,377

29,824
6.500J22 

25,!27

),726,3!5 622,775 6!,596 ),069 75,870 (54,485)

4J77.465
)0,702,7)4
2.433J40

Una))ocated provision for impairment 

December3),20!0:

UnaHocated tiabitities ______ 6,092,052
8,525.t92

F׳ t4t



ELB!T 1MAG!HG LIP,

2 0 1 2 2 0 ! !  2 0 !  0

SEGMENTS REPORT!NG (CONT.)

(in thousand N!S)

East and central Europe(!, 400,325 246,860 232,044
Wes! Europe (ti) 169.3 )9 )7).359 484.6! 7
!sraet )52,470 )83,552 !7!,275
Other and attocations )2.2)6 04.87!) (7.625)

734,330 586,900 880,3!!

(i) The foUowim table provides an additional information in respect of the revenues in east and central Europe per countries:

Year ended December 3!
2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! ! 2 0 ! 0

(in thousand N!S)

Hungary 42, )52 8.638 6,993
Potand 89.852 66.!34 56.345
Czech Repubtic )8,)78 !4,305 !8,32!
Romanta )36.473 !36. !03 )26.050
Latvia 23,947 !9,372 !5.245
Serbta 2),228
Butgaria 68,495 2,308 9,090

400.325 246.K60 _________232.044

2 0 !  2 2 0 ! !  2 0 ! 0  
__________________ (in thousand N!S)______________

Engtand ־ ־ 338,944
73.404 635!. 8 69.849 Nether!and
64.200 72,352 72,002 Be)gium

069^___________ 7,372!__________ 27.468__________ Other
!69,3 !9 !7 ),359 _________484,6 !7

NOTE 28 ־
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ELB!T !MAG)NC LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

SEGMENTS REPORTtNC (CONT.)

2 0 12  2 0 ) !  
_________ (in thousand N!S)

East and centra! Europe 4,3 !0,458 3,736,362
West Europe 330.376 583,)80

446, !83 247,624
!ndia !.43 ).76! ).4)4.232
Other ()40,537) (33,675)

6,378.24) 5.947.723

D!SCONT!NUED OPERAT!ON

NOTE 28-

NOTE 29 ־
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ELB!T LMACtNC LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

D!SCONT!NUED OPERATIONNOTE 29 ־

F !44



ELBIT IMAGING LTD.
! ^ T E i T O  T H E .C O ^ S O H P A T E P  F I N A N C I A L .S T A T E M E N TS

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONN O T E 2 9 -

F t 4 5



NOU S  1 0 . THE CQNSQL iD M E ^ N  ANC1AL STATEMENTS

SEGMENTS REPORT!NC (CONT.)

2 0 ! 2 2 0 ! ! 2 0 !0 2 0 ! 2
Convenience

tra n s itio n  (Note
2D)

(in thousand N!S) u .s .$ ׳000
(Except for per-share data)

397.082
2 !6,374 ! 5,450 58.0 !6

8!.!!8 42.550
!33,640 254,806 !22,462 35,800
69.90! 53.324 33.63! )8.725

420,! )5 404,698 595,725 !!2,54!

38,063 !!2,262 50.57! !5,554
76. !04 20.387
67,742 !0!,498 63,973 !8,!47
44.!92 58.776 58.5 !4 !!.838
85,367 94,! 83 47,327 22,922

(452) (9.39!) (4.426) <!2t)
33 !,2) 6 357,328 2 !5,959 88,727

88,899 47.370 379,766 23,8!4
(5,924) 23,269 928 C.587)
94,823 24,!0! 378,838 25,40!

3.95 0.79 !4.67 !.06
3.95 0.79 !4.4! !06

NOTE 28 -
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NOTES I Q THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

D!SCONT!NUED OPERAT!ON (CONT.)

2 0 ! 2 2 0 1 ! 2 0 ! 0 2 0 ! 2

(in thousand N!S) U.S.S'000

Operating activities (32,096) 38,675 3!,!67 (8,598)
Proceeds from sa!e of investment property !.36!.965 364,844
Other investment activities (72, !34) (6!,4!6) (!78,463) (!9.323)
Repayment o f investment property !oans (397.953) (!60.!80)
Other financing activities !3,!64 (297,092) (39.99!) 3,526
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations 672,946 (397,!83) (!87.287) !80,269

NOTE 2 9 -
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EL8)T !MAG!NG LTD,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F)NANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2 0 12 2 0 11
(in thousand NIS)

Cash and cash equivatents 333.070 602.292
Loans and receivabtes 429,499 493.668
Financia) assets hetd for trading )0.673 2 ).466
Avai)ab)e for sate financiat instruments 87,044 )44.702
Hetd to maturity financtat instruments )87.648
Financiat assets designated at fair vatue through profit and )oss . 62,70)
Dertvative financia) assets at fatr vatue through profit and toss 22.934 )3.)48

).083,222 ),327,623

F , n a n ' ! ! u ' ^
27.3H5 27.277

and toss 662,242 732,2)2
Ftnanciat tiabitities at amortized cost 4.704.044 7,747.286

3,393,87) 8,506,773

NIS !33 mittion.

NOTE 30 -

F- )48



(mainty the EURO, Indian Rupee, U.S. DoHar and the RON) In addition part of the Company's tong term toans (mainty U S. Dottar) were used to hedge the exposure o f  the 

seeC.(4)betow.

ELBiT tMACtNC LTD,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F1NANOAL.SIATEMENT.S

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)NOTE JO ־
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6L&!T !MAGtNG.LI.B,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31,2012:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

Functional currency Linkage currency rate  (% ) Profit (loss)
!n thousand NIS

NtS U.S. Dottar + )0% 24.306
EURO PLN +!0% 1,966

NtS EURO + 10% 1.002
EURO N!S +to% 2,3)2

Avaitabte for sate assets EURO U.S. Dottar + !0% !7.264

Financiat tiabtities

EURO CBP +10% 4,606
51,436

Loans at amortized cost NtS U.S. Dottar + to% (29.032)
Loans at amortized cost EURO N!S + 10% (8,496)
Debentures at amortized cos! NtS U.S. Dottar + 10% (!.537)
Debentures at amortized cost (i) EURO N!S +10% (36,016)
Loans at amorttzed cos! EURO U.S. Dottar + 10% (!.368)
Loans at amortized cost RON EURO + 10% (28,878)

()05,327)

NOTE 30 -
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ELBWiMAmNCLIR,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

As of December 31,2011:

Functionalcurrency Linkage currency ra!e (% ) Profit (loss)

A iists

In thousand NIS

NIS U.S. Dottar +to% )3.603
Cash and deposits EURO PLN + !0% 5,!27
Cash and deposits NIS EURO +to% 7)3
Cash and deposits EURO NIS +to% 308

EURO U.S. Dottar +to% ).930
Loan to thtrd party EURO GBP +to% 3,942

27,843

NIS U.S. Dottar +to% (3 ).873)
EURO NIS +to% (6,000)

Debentures at amortized cost NtS U.S. Dottar + to% (2,8)2)
Debentures at amortized cost (ii) EURO NIS +10% (62,232)
Loans at amortized cost EURO U.S. Dottar + to% (3.247)
Loan at amortized cost EURO GBP +to% (337)
Loans at amortized cost RON EURO + to% (30.246)

(136,747)

NOTE 3 0 -
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NOTES 10 IRE COM.SOUDAI EP F!NAN(][AL STATEMENTS

F!NANC)AL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

Functiona! currency Linkage currency rate  (% ) Profit (!oss)

A ^ e ti

!n thousand N!S

Cash and depostts N!S U.S.Dottar + !0% 9.744
Cash and deposits EURO PLN +to% 3,984
Cash and deposits N)S EURO +to% 6.996
Cash and dep .st.s EURO U.S. DoHar + !0% ),5)0

22.234

Loans at amortized cost N)S U.S. DoHar + !0% ()3.702)
Loans at amortized cost (i) N!S EURO + !0% (20.349)
Debentures at amortized cost N!S U S. Dottar + )0% (3.648)
Debentures at amortized cost (it) EURO NIS +!0% (49, )84)
Loans at amortized cost EURO U.S. Dottar + !0% 0.463)
Loans at amortized cost RON EURO +!0% ()8,707)

()09,035)

NOTE 30 ־
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NOTE 30 - F!NANC!AL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)
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(2) P r ic e r isk (C o n t)

2 0 1 0 ! ־ 2 0 1 2 2 0! % ^ ־
__________________ (in thousand NIS)__________________

+10% 1,067 2,!47 !5,576
+10% (2,!92) (!.!59)

+5% - (3!8) (200)

+ !0% _______________- ___________ ^442 _______________-
(!,125) 2,!!? 15,376

ELB!T !MACING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)NOTE 30 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

(3) C redit risk

NOTE 30 ־
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ELBtT !MA.G.1NC LTD,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

price change Year ended December 3!
% 2 0 ! 2 (*)2 0 1 ! 2 0 ) 0

(inthousandN IS)
Devaluation o f the NIS against the EURO (i) 57,151 70,738 101,789
Change in the Israeti CPI (") (!2.573) (!3,562) (23,055)
Change in the market interest rate +1% 8,036 10,646 20,804

(i) December 3), 20)2,20!) and 20)0:+)0%:
tii) D ecem ber3).20)2and20)I: ^2.2% ,December3).20)0+3%

NOTE 30 -
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Ft B!T tMA(HNG LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

F!NANC!AL !NSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

Profit (!oss)
Year ended December 3!

2 0 ! 2 (*)2 0 ! ! 2 0 ! 0
(in thousand NtS)

644
227

3.007
(6.390) (!2.48!) (9.7 !0)

(28,636) (32,703) (44.328)
(!.839) (!.498) (!,034)

(36,24!) (4 !,448) (33,072)

Ci)

NOTE 30 -
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ELS!T iMAGiNC LTD,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)NOTE JO ־
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ELB!T IMAGING LTD.

3,349 3,448 3,348 3,248 3,!47 2 !,509 38,249
60,954 57,568 H8.522

366,737 349,845 332,938 44,285 42,460 !,!36,285
329.874 486,4)6 444,646 328,657 339,784 588,765 2,7 )8, )42
96!,134 897,277 780,932 376, !90 385,39! 6)0,274 4,0! !,!98

!88,774 360,2 !4 !98,275 345,355 349,276 480,752 !,922,646
79.482 79.482

)00,846 !00,846
3!0.527 !2,907 323,434

!0,657 5,260 !5,9!7
690,286 378,38! !98,275 345.355 349,276 480.752 2,442,325
!84,486 3,274 503 9,740 )98,003

!,835,906 !,278,932 979,7 !0 731,285 734,667 !,09 !,026 6,651,526

535,064 535,064
327,830 327,830
!83,804 )83,804

23,493 22,934 5,329 2,760 54,5)6
!,046,698 23,493 22,934 5,329 2,760 ),)0),2)4

A sofD ecem ber3I,20I2 :

NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

Loans linked to the EURO
Debenture !inked to :he EURO 
Loans !inked to the NIS

F-159



ELB)T fMAClNC LTD.
N^TERJHl.IH.E CONSOHPATBD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL !NSTRUMENTS(CONT)

(in thousand N!S)

Financia! !iabitities
Borrowing with fixed interest rate
Loans !inked to EURO 20,335 20,003 )80,94) 6,52! 6,4 !6 93,576 327,792
Loans Linked to U.S. Dottar (ii) 28t.860 370,988 7t.09t 523.207 209,772 286.630 !,743.548
Convertibte Debentures 7,000 63,003 59,503 !29.506
PC's debentures tinked to the tsraeti CP! 406,870 389.083 371,296 353.509 59,553 57.099 !.637,4 !0
Debentures !inked to the tsraeti CP! 4 !7,662 509,)48 468,974 430,352 3 !8,624 90 ),892 3,046,652

!,!33.727 ).352,225 t.!5),805 !,3 !3,589 594.365 ),339,)97 6,884,908
Borrowing with variab!e interest rate
Loans !inked to !he EURO 892.0!3 )3).674 9 ).695 88.2)9 385.567 35 ).435 ).940.603
Debenture !inked to the EURO 5,220 79,982 85,202
Loans !inked totheN !S 35.6)2 )8,372 )7,25) )6J25 87.360
Loans tinked to the U.S. Dottar (ii) 46,258 34 ),389 8 ),966 65.956 70,847 82,686 689, )02
Debentures tinked to the U S. Dottar )2.) 06 )),763 5,796 29,665

99 ),209 583,)80 )96,708 !70,300 456,4)4 434,!2! 2,83 ),932
Supphers. payabte and other credit batances 429,63) 6,608 2,865 2.729 2,599 !6,670 46).)02

T ..a )n .a ,c i ,n ia b n i , ie s 2,554.567 ).942.0)3 t,35).378 !.486.6 !8 ).053,378 !.789.988 )0.) 77.942

Financia! a$$?ts
Cash and cash equivaten! (i) 602.292 602.292
Short term deposits (i) 409,338 409,338
Trade reccivabtes and other receivabtes )73.6)5 )73.6)5
Long term deposits, toans and investments 9).3)8 7,252 !,764 )6,9)2 262,83! 380,077
Tota! financia) assets ).)85.245 9t,3tX 7,252 !,764 )6.9)2 262.83! ),565.322

NOTE 30 -
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(6) Consumer Price !ndex ("C P!") risk

A significant par! of the Group borrowings consist o f debentures ratsed by the Company in the Te! Aviv Stock Exchange (exctudmg PC s debentures tor which PC has executed

(7) CoHaterais

0־ 7 1 2 2 ! 2 0

EL B n ! MAG!N6 H P .
KOIES IQ THE CONSOHDAl^P HNAMC!AL STATEMENTS

HNANC1AL tNSTRUMENTS(CONT.)

(in thousand N!S)

L o .g .enn  borrowings 39י62 33,845
Short term credits 66,374 )2).)33
Guarantees provided by the Group !9,805 29,375
interest rate swap transactions )4.762 29.)35
Liabiiities in respect o f sate o f  !nvestment property 55.!!!

)95.3)4 2)3.538

NOTE JO -

f־ !6)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)NOTE 30 ־
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ELBM !MAG!NG LTD.

2 0 !  2 2 0 ! )  

___________________________(!n thousands N!S)___________________________

F!NANC!AL !NSTRUMENTS(CONT.)

Financia) Notes hetd to maturity !87,648 !32,875
Long- term toans at fixed interest rate (30.337) (30.537) ( t,550,990) (!.579.736)
Debentures (2,4)0,489) (),098,999) (3,!66,!08) (!,448,648)

(2.44 ).026) (!.)29.536) (4,529.450) (2,895.509)

NOTE 30 -
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ELB!T !MACING LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED F!NANC!AL STATEMENTS

F!N ANC!AL !NSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

D ecem ber3!,20!2
Leve!! Leve! 2 Leve! 3 Tota!

(!n thousands N!S)

Marketable securities !0,675 !0.675
AFS financial assets 87.044 H7.044
Financial notes 45.796 45,796
Option measured at FVTPL 22,934 22.934

97,719 45,796 22,934 _________ !66,449

______________________ December 3 ! , 20!!______________________

(!n thousands N!S)

Marketable securities 21,466 21,466 - ־
APS financial assets 144.702 144.702
Financia! note and option measured at FVTPL (i) _- ______________ - ______________ 77,849  77,849

!66.16X - 77.849  244,017

NOTE 30 -
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December 31, 2012 
Level I Level 2 Level 3 (i) Total

(In thousands NIS)

ELBIT t!HAG!N G.LID,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

571,510 - - 571,510
90,733 - - 90.733

______  __________27,586 ___________2^058 __________29,644
662.243 27.586 _____________ 2^058 _________69 ).887

______________________ December 31, 201!______________________
Leve! I Level 2 Leve! 3 (i) Tota! 

_______________________(In thousands NIS)

707,384 - - 707,384
2.4!7 2,4!7

24,827 24,827
______־ __________)7.584 ___________767̂ __________24,860

759,488_________ 34,520__________ 7,584!__________ 707,384

Liabihty to the Office of Chtef Scientist N!S ! 2 mi)!ion. 

(ti) See note 20(A)(!).

NOTE 30 ־
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ELB!T !MAC!NC LTD,
NOTES.TO THE CONSQ.LiDAlED FjNA^ClAL STATEMENTS

SUBSEQUENT EVENTSNOTE 3! -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FtNANCfAL STATEMENTS

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Cont.)

D. Notice from Bank Leumi

On March 20)3. the Company received a )etter from Bank Leumi te-!sraet B.M. demanding repayment within ten days of the outstanding batance of approxtmatety $ t4 .t mittion 
(approximatety NtS $2 mittion) due primarity under the toans made by the bank to the Company (the "Loans"). The bank stated that it was taking this action in tight o f the Company's 
current financiat condition and the Company having informed the bank that it woutd not be making the upcoming payment to the Bank on March 29. 2 0 13 o f principa) and interest due

NOTE 3! -

P- )67



E L P 1 T  !M A G 1 N C  L m
NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Cont.)

amount o f $75 million in cash (the "Cash-Out"). The structure, terms and conditions o f the Cash-out have yet to be determined.

Continuing Rote o f the Chief Executive Officer
The Funds have expressed their betief that the continued invotvement o f Mr. Zisser, the Chief Executive Officer, Executive President and a director o f the Company and its controtting

NOTE 31 -

F־ th8



EL3!T !MAG{NC LTP,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Con! )NOTE 31 -

F- !69



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Con!.)NOTE 3! -

F70( ־



SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Con! )

securities o f the Company and/or the Controtted Entities hetd, directly or indirectly, by the Controtting Sharehotder. In additton. there may not be any change in the Controtting 
Sharehotder's holdings (directty or indirectly) in any of the Company's securities, provided that such undertaking wit! not apply in case of any conflict between this undertaking and 
any previous undertaking of the Controtting Shareholder towards Bank Hapoatim B.M .. if and to the extent any such other undertaking exists.

ELB!T !MACtMG.LID.
NOTES TO THE CONSOHDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 31 -

F- !7!



\bbreviated name

BEA ThcN uhtrH nds )00%
Etbit Medicat !sraet 90%
!nSightec Israet 48% <')
Gamtda Israet 28.8%")
EPI Cyprus 50%
Etbi! Ptaza USA USA )00%
EPN Group USA !00% (S'
EPN Group USA s׳ 00%( ׳
Etbit Trade Israet 100%
EUBV Luxemburg )00%
PC The Nethertands 62.5%

BEA Hotets NV

E!bn Ptaza USA. L.P 
EPN CP, LLC
EPN ED I Hotding !1. LLC 
Etbit Trade & Retai! Ltd.
Etbit Uttrasound (Luxemburg) BV/SA R.L 
Ptaza Centers N.V.

( t) Hetd through Etbit Medicat.

(2) The Company hotds 47.5% o f the shares in EP! directty, and an additiona! 47.5% through PC.

(3) For detaits as to the grant o f  5% of EP!'s equity to the Company's former Executive Vice Chairman of the board o f directors, see note 27 B.(5)& (6).

(4) The Company hotds 50% in Etbit Ptaza USA directty, and an additiona) 50% through PC.

!ndirectty hetd through Etbit Ptaza USA.(5)



Exhibit 99.2
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2 0 !2

.  On December 6. 20!2. )nSightec compteted us issuance of Series C preferred shares for an aggregate amount of $30.9 mittion. which inctuded $27.6 mittion invested by CE and $3.9 mtttion 
tnvested by o th ^  mvestors^ Acco^ding^o the te r^ s  of the tr^ GE and the Company^converted a)) the existing sharehotders toans that had^been granted^ t̂ o )nSightec into^tnStghtec's

# tn November 20t 2. PC's board of directors approved the extension of the repurchase of its series A through B Notes in an amount of up to NtS 750 mittion (approximatety $201 mittion). to be 
made unttt December 3 t. 20!4 During 20t2. PC purchased a totat of NtS 27t mittion par vatue of its debentures (approximatety $72.0 mittion). for a totat constderatton of NtS 247 mittton

* tn August 20t2 Etbit Financing entered into a N!S 75 mittion bond structured transaction with the Counterpart, pursuant to which Etbit Fmancing purchased a NtS denominated zero-coupon 
credit !inked note due to mature on October 2. 20t3 (the "CLN") from the Counterparty or its afHtiate. The CLN referenced a portfotio of the Company's bonds (havtng a market vatue of NtS 
75 mittion). The bond portfotio was purchased by Etbit Financing under the Company's bond repurchase program that was announced on May 23. 2 0 tt  and in the framework of the

tn addmon. in November 20t2 Etbu Financing entered into a NtS )50 mtttion bond structured transactton with the Counterparty pursuant to which Etbit Ftnancing recetved a N!S 75 mi!)ion 
credit )tne for the purchase of a portfotio of the Company's bonds having an aggregate market yatue of up to NtS )50 mittion E)btt Ftnancing was permitted to purchase the bond portfotio 
wtthin a )0-week utitization pertod commencing at the effective date of the transaction, tn the framework of the transactton. Etbu Ftnanctng had the rtght to set) to the Counterparty bonds that





a series of agreements with )nSightec and GEHC pursuant to which, among other things, upon Etbit Medicat obtaining the approvat o f  its sharehotders the financing granted to tnSightec by 

!



On Juty )4, 20) t, we conctuded the off-marke! takeover bid made by EPN ED I Hotdings !!, LLC ("EPN Hotdings") in March 2 0 )), for a)) of the units in E D I no! already he)d by EPN Hotdings







2 0 ) 2  2 0  t ) 2 0  t 0 20  t 2
Conventence
T ransition

(in NtS thousands) (in $ thousands)
(except for per share data)

302,262 !)5,270 !02.895 80.970
Hotets operations and management 222,828 286,548 403,822 59,692
Sate o f fashion merchandise and other [45,996 !85.082 !74.8)7 39. )09
Tota) revenues 67 !,086 586,900 68 !,534 !79,77!
Cain from changes ofsharehotdtng in investees 9,369 2.5 !0
Cain from sate of reat estate assets 53,875 - !98,777 !4,432

734,330 586,900 880,3)! !96,7)3

272,8 tO !59,626 )56,745 73,08!
Hotets operations and management 202.t 58 240,784 34 !,29! 54.)54
Cost o f fashion merchandise and other !55,772 2! !,743 !97,574 4 ),728
Genera) and administrative expenses 48.886 6 !,857 65.292 )3.096
Share in tosses o f  associates, net 8,726 7,568 8,275 2337
Financiat expenses !75.778 !64,00! 3)6.706 47.088
Financiat income (3 !,083) (65,57!) (40,927) (8.327)
Change in fair vatue of financiat instruments measured at fair vatue through profit and toss 50,229 (275.537) 53.0)6 )3.455
Write-down, charges and other expenses, net 4 !!,625 290,276 83,660 ) )0,267

!.294.90! 794,747 ).)8).632 346.879

Loss before income taxes (560.57!) (207,847) (30).32)) ()50. )6b)

tncometax expenses (tax benetlt) (!0.248) 63.283 3.992 (2.745)

Loss from continuing operations (550.323) (27!.)30) (305.3)3) ()47.42))

Profit from disconttnued operations, net 94,823 24. )0! 378,838 25.40)

Profit (toss) for the year (455.500) (247,029) 73,525 ()22,020)



2 0 ! 2  2 0  ) ) 2 0 ) 0 20 ! 2
Convenience

transition
(in NtS thousands) (in $ thousands)
(except for per share data)

(293,590) (264.9)9) 6 !.998 (78.647)
(t6!,9!0) )7,890 !!,527 (43,373)
(455,500) (247.029) 73.525 (!22.020)

(391,947) (284,6)0) (308,924) (!04,995)
()58,376) )3.480 3,6!! (42,426)
(550,323) ^ 2 7  !,)30) (305,3 !3) (!47,42!)

98,357 !9,69! 370,922 26,348
(3,534) 4.4 !0 7.9 !6 (947)
94,823 24,!0! 378,838 25,40!

(!3.75) (!!.44) (!2.2!) (4.22)
3.95 0.79 !4.67 ).04

()!.80) (!0.65) 2.45 (3.16)

(!3.73) (!!.44) ()2.2)) (4.22)
3.95 0.79 )4.4) 1.06

(!!.80) (!0.65) 2.!3 (3.14)

Attributab!e to:
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20)2. of which six operated throughout the year, compared to the operation of five centers in 20) )1 four of which operated throughout the year, !n addition, in 20)2 we recognized 

($27 miHion).

(ii) Revenues from hote) operations and management decreased to NtS 223 miHion ($60 miHion) in 20)2 compared to NtS 286 miHion in 20)). The decrease was mainty attributab)e to the sate



(ii) Cost o f hote! operations and management decreased to NtS 202 miHion ($34 mtttion) in 20!2 compared to NtS 24! mittion in 20) t. The decrease was mamty attributabte to the sate o f  the

(tit) Cost o f fashion appare) and other decreased toN!S !56 mittion ($42 mittion) in 20)2 compared to NtS 2t t mittion in 20! t. The decrease resutted from the sate of the retai) activity o f GAP in 
Apri)20!2.

(v) Financiat expenses increased to N!S !76 mittion ($47 mittion) in 20)2 compared to NtS t64 mittion in 20! t. Such amount inctudes (a) interest and CPt-tinked borrowings in the amount of 
NtS 394 mittion in 20 !2 compared to NtS 464 mittion in 20t t: (b) toss from foreign currency transition differences and other in the amount o f  NtS 29 mittion in 20)2 compared to a gain in 
the amount of NtS 38 miHion in 20)): (c) gain from buy-back of debentures in the amount of NtS t !3 mittion in 20)2 compared to NtS 64 mittion in 20)); and (d) financiat expenses

Financiat income decreased to NtS 3! mittion ($8 mittion) in 20!2 compared to NtS 66 mittion in 20!! Such decrease was attributabte mainty to a decrease in interest on deposit and(vi)



N!S4X m iHton(S)3m tHion)in20!2com pared!o!ossintheamountofN!S77miHionin20!!

(VM!) Wrtte-down. charges and other expenses, net. increased to NtS 4 ! ! miHion (St !0 miHion) in 20!2 compared to NtS 290 mittion in 20t t. The tncrease was attributabte to the wrtte-down in 
PCs trading property in Eastern Europe in the amount o f NtS 406 mittion (St09 miHion) in 20! 2 compared to NtS 37! mittion in 20!!

As a resutt of the foregoing factors, we recognized toss before tncome tax in the tota) amount of NtS $6! mittton (St 50 mittion) in 20! 2 compared to NtS 20K mtHion in 20) t

Tax benefit amounted to NtS !0 miHton (S3 miHton) in 20!2 compared to tax expenses in the amount of NtS 63 mittion in 20H. The decrease tn tax expenses was attributabte mainty to timing differenc 
retated to PC's debentures measured at fatr vatue through profit and toss.

The above resutted in toss from continuing operations in the amount of NtS 550 mittion (St 47 mittion) in 20 !2 compared to NtS 27! miHion in 20!!.

Profit from discontinued operations, net, amounted to NtS 95 miHion (S25 mittion) in 20)2 compared to NtS 24 mtHion in 20!! Such amount inctudes (a) gain from toss ot contro! over our subsidta 
!nStghtec tn our medicat segment in December 20!2 in the amount o f N!S 2!6, offset by (b) toss from !nSightec's operations durtng 20t2 in the amount of NtS 64 miHton and (c) toss from setttng our U

The above resutted in a toss of NtS 456 miHion (S t22 mittion) in 20!2. of which a toss of NtS 293 miHion (S79 miHion) was anributabte to our equity ho!ders and NtS !62 mittton (S43 mittion) w 
attrtbutabk to the non-controtting interest. The toss in 20t t inctuded NtS 265 miHion attributabte to our equity hotders and profit tn the amount of NtS )7 miHton attrtbutab!e to the non-controihng tnterest.

2 0 / /  ?0 20 /0

Tota) revenues and gatns in 20!! amounted to NtS 5X7 miHion (S! 54 mtHion) compared to NtS 8X0 miHion in 20!0. The decrease is main!y attributabte to:

<i) Revenues from shopping and entertainment centers increased to NtS 115 miHion (S30 mittion) in 20! t compared to NtS !03 mittion in 20)0, as a resutt of the operation of five commercia! 
centers tn 20! t. four o f  which operated throughout the year, compared to the operation of four commercia! centers in 20 !0. two o f which operated throughout the year
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 שאייעו מהותיים גושאים
השגתי הדיה מפיסום

האהיין

CoCI&FB!ש<תי א!רי)ן חל חן בכר סישר



שאים החברה של הרבעוניים בדוחות מתוארים שאינם מהותיים נו
דירוג א.

ם להלן עדי :החברה של החוב אגרות דירוג הורד בהם המו

חברת
הדירוג קודם דירוג אחרון דירוג מועד

מידרוג "Baa3/Negative" credit rating. "Baa!/Negative" credit rating 20.8.12
מעלות "itBBB/Negative" credit rating. "i]BBB+/Negative" credit rating 12.9.12
מעלות "iiB/Negative" credit rating "HBBB/Negative" credit rating 27.12.12

מידרוג "B2" credit rating on credit 
watch "Baa3/Negative" credit rating 7.1.13

מעלות "Watch Negative" credit rating 
on credit watch. "i!B/Negative" credit rating 5.2.13

מעלות "D" credit rating "i]CC/Watch Negative" credit 
rating on credit watch

20.2.13

מידרוג on credit watch to "Ca 
/Negative" credit rating. "B2" credit rating 21.2.13

ארגוני מבנה שיגוי ב.

 של בכוונתה לתמוך היתר, בין נועדה, אשר חדשה הערכות על החברה הודיעה ,2012 ביולי 31 ביום

תור על מרכזי דגש לשים החברה ת, אי ם הזדמנויו ם והשבחת ייזו  שיתופי והרחבת כינון ועל נכסי

ם פעולה שה ההערכות במסגרת והודו. אירופה ארה״ב, בשוקי עסקיי טי מר כאמור, החד  זיסר, מו

הן אשר תו עד כי ה החברה, ונשיא כדירקטור מועד או ם ולמנהל החברה למנכ״ל גם מונ  ראשי עסקי

ה כמנכ״ל בתפקידו נשאר שטרקמן רן מר החברה; של  את ירכז הוא במסגרתו אשר סנטרס, פלאז

צה של הנדל״ן פעילות  מר ואילו ;ובהודו אירופה ובמרכז במזרח סנטרס( ופלאזה )אלביט הקבו

ט למנכ״ל מונה מחלוף דודי דו ובמסגרת ארה״ב, פלאזה אלבי ה הוא תפקי הי ראי י  הפעילות על אח

אי, בשוק ק אמרי מון פעילות על וכן אירופה, למערב המניב הנדל״ן פעילות הרחבת ה  המי

ת מי צה של הבינלאו ם ועל הקבו ם תחו הבנות, החברות מנכ״לי כי נקבע, עוד והרכישות. המיזוגי

מקדו מחלוף, ומר שטרקמן מר ת ת בניצול י ש ובהשבחה ובארה״ב באירופה הזדמנויו  נכסים, ומימו

ת וישקיעו חה במנועי מרצם כל א צה של הצמי ם הקבו הווי ת המ תרונות אחד א ם מהי חסיי  הי

ם ט של החשובי ה, אלבי ת במיוחד הדמי ת בתקופו  כאמור החדשה ההיערכות בשווקים. מאתגרו

ת לאפשר היתר, בין נועדה, ם שני הצבת א ת ובעלי הבכירים המנהלי ת, היכולו  באופן המוכחו

ם קבוע, שווקי ם ב מקד החברה רוצה בהם הרלוונטיי ת ם ואשר הקרובות בשנים לה  את מהווי

ת בו החברה. של הליבה חטי

ם, כסמנכ״ל מכהן אשר משה, דורון מר בנוסף, ם קשרי על לאחראי גם מונה הכספי שקיעי  של המ

ת החברה, א  סמנכ״ל מעין, צבי מר כן, כמו יצחקי. שמעון מר החברה, יו״ר עם פעולה בשיתוף וז

של נושאי על גם לאחראי מונה החברה, ויועמ״ש די הממ בחברה. התאגי

חדשה ייצוגית תביעה ג.

ריון חברי החברה, נגד הוגשו ,2013 באפריל 11 ביום ם המנכ״ל שלה, הדירקטו שליטה ובעל הקוד  ה

ת לאשר ובקשה תביעה כתב בה,  ע. אייזנברג 20835-04-13 ת״צ )תיק ייצוגית כתביעה התביעה א

ט נ׳ בע״מ וייעוץ ניהול ה אלבי שפט בבית ואח׳, בע״מ בדמי מחוזי המ  ידי על אביב-יפו(, בתל ה

ק חזי ת הפרה החברה כי נטען במסגרתה החברה, של ב׳ מסדרה חוב אגרות מ ה א תי בויו התחיי



קי חזי מ ת החוב אגרות ל ת שילמה שלא בכך ו-ב׳ א׳ מסדרו  עוד במועדם. והריבית הקרן תשלומי א

שיהם לכאורה, כי, נטען ם מע מחדליה ת להפרת גרמו אשר אלו הם הנתבעים של ו בו  ההתחיי

קי כלפי החברה עצמה על שנטלה חזי שקיפים היתר, בין שלה, החוב אגרות מ  וכי פרסמה, שזו בת

קת השנויה בהחלטה נעוצים כאמור החברה מחדלי ריון שקיבל במחלו  בדבר החברה דירקטו

ת ת לרכישה תוכני ם ש״ח. מיליון 150כ- של בהיקף החברה, של חוב אגרות של עצמי  בכתב הסכו

קי לכל הנדרש התביעה חזי ת מ ת הסדרו רו ליון 82כ- של בסך הינו האמו  טוען התובע כאשר ₪, מי

ם כי ק סכו חס יש אשר הנז ל באופן לו ליי שי)להבדי  ₪. 622,000כ- של סך על הינו מהקבוצה(, אי

ק התביעה עם זו בתביעה הדיון את לאחד בקשה התובעת הגישה 18.4.2013 ביום  47845- ת.צ. בתי

קי 02-13 ט נ׳ בע״מ שמש יו שה אלבי ק ב )ו אח׳ תה ייצוגית(, כתביעה זו תביעה לאשר ו ק מחי  של ו

ם לתגובת נקבעה זו בקשה האחרונה.  טרם החברה, ידיעת ולמיטב 29.4.2013 ליום עד הצדדי

בה. החלטה ניתנה

ב׳ טדיה אג״ה נאמן ידי על שהוגשה פייוק בקשת ד.
שת הוגשו 3.4.2013 ביום ט נגד פירוק בק  על-ידי זמני״ מפרק למינוי דחופה ״בקשה וכן אלבי

מני מפרק מינוי התבקש במסגרתה בי(, )סדרה החוב לאגרות כנאמן משמשת אשר משמרת,  ז

שת הגישה 7.5.2013 ביום לחברה. ת בקשה המבק ק חי  לפרטים זמני. מפרק למינוי הבקשה למ

ם ם ראו נוספי לבקשה. 85 ו- 84 סעיפי

הפועלים בנק עם ישראל אירופה של המשפטי ההלין בעגיין מיידי דייוח ה.
לבקשה. 89 סעיף ראו לפרטים

טנטרט פלאזה מחבית דיבידנד חלוקת מניעת ו.
לבקשה. 73 סעיף ראו לפרטים

בע״מ הפועלים בנק עם ההלוואה הסכם על-פי שוטפות חלויות הפקדת ז.
לבקשה. 134 סעיף ראו לפרטים



34 נספח

 משרה לנושאי בנוגע מידע
בתאגיד בכירה

0CC &FB!ש!ת׳ א!ריח חל ח! בבר סישר



 בתאגיד בכייה משרה לנושאי בנוגע מידע

שיאל אירופה לבין ההברה ביו הניהול דמי הסכם רי17עי פירוט להלן .1 ש.( י  )מ.מ.
החברה ונשיא מנכ״ל זיסר, מרדכי מר של ניהול שירותי עבור בע״מ,

 החברה בין התקשרות החברה, של המניות בעלי של הכללית האסיפה אישרה ,2006 במאי 31 ביום
 מרדכי מר של המלאה בבעלותו חברה ישראל״(, ״אירופה )להלן: בע״מ )מ.מ.ש.( ישראל אירופה לבין
 ניהול שירותי למתן בהסכם החברה, ונשיא דירקטור כמנכ״ל, כיום המכהן ״זיסר״( )להלן: זיסר

 שירותי את ישראל אירופה תספק הניהול, שירותי הסכם פי על הניהול״(. שירותי ״הסכם )להלן:
 ניהול לדמי בתמורה עמה, הקשורות לחברות ו/או החברה של פרטיות בנות ולחברות לחברה הניהול,

את מע״מ, בצירוף לחודש דולר 50,000 של בסך  במסגרת שיוצאו הישירות ההוצאות להחזר בנוסף וז
 זיסר מר של ומשרתו מעמדו את ההולם ישראל אירופה חברת לרשות רכב העמדת השירותים, מתן

 וכל התקנה עלויות לרבות ומודם, מדפסת מחשב, נייד, טלפון פקסימיליה, התקשרות)טלפון, ואמצעי
 שירותי כי עוד, נקבע הניהול שירותי בהסכם בהסכם. כמפורט לכך(, הקשורה אחרת סבירה הוצאה
 זיסר מר כי ישראל, אירופה של כעובד תפקידו מתוקף בלבד, זיסר מר על-ידי יינתנו על-פיו הניהול
ם קובע בנוסף, ההסכם. נשוא השירותים למתן מזמנו 80% לפחות יקדיש  כי, השירותים מתן הסכ

ישראל. אירופה חברת על בשליטה שינוי יחול לא ההסכם, תקופת במהלך

ם ה ישראל אירופה הניהול, שירותי הסכם לתנאי בהתא  לבין ובינו זיסר, של הבלעדית מעבידתו תהי
 או זכות סכום, כל בגין החברה את תפצה ישראל אירופה כאשר, ומעביד עובד יחסי יחולו לא החברה
ת זה ובכלל לזיסר, לשלם תידרש שהחברה הטבה קה כל עם בקשר משפטיות, הוצאו  הדין בית של פסי

או לעבודה סמכת ערכאה כל ו/  או היה זיסר בהסכם, הקבוע חרף כי ייקבע, במסגרתה אשר אחרת, מו
 ההסכם תקופת הניהול. שירותי הסכם על-פי השירותים מתן תקופת במהלך החברה של עובד חינו

ם החל שנים, חמש הינה ת לחובות אישית ערב זיסר מר .2005 באוגוסט 1 מיו בויו  אירופה והתחיי
הניהול. שירותי בהסכם ישראל
ת החברה של המניות בעלי של הכללית האסיפה אישרה ,2010 ספטמבר בחודש  ההסכם הארכת א
קון לאור זאת, עם .2010 אוגוסט מחודש החל נוספות, שנים לחמש  התשנ״ט- החברות, לחוק 16 תי
ם ,1999 ת בעלי אסיפת של מחדש אישור ידרוש זח הסכ  ממועד שנים שלוש בתום החברה של המניו

חידושו.
ת בעלי אסיפת אישרה ,2007 בנובמבר 1 ביום  החברה, ונשיא למנכ״ל בונוס תשלום החברה של המניו
 החברה מרווחי ii) 2.5%)ש״ח; מיליון 100 של לסך עד החברה מרווחי i) 0%)כדלקמן: יחושב אשר
 150ל- ש״ח מיליון 125 שבין בסך החברה מרווחי iii) 3%)ש״ח; מיליון 125ל- ש״ח מיליון 100 שבין

 כל ישולם השנתי הבונוס ש״ח. מיליון 150 של סך על העולים החברה מרווחי iv) 3.5%)ו- ;ש״ח מיליון
 הבת מחברות אחת או החברה של בכירה משרה בעל או כדירקטור משמש החברה ונשיא המנכ״ל עוד

שלה.
ם החברה ודירקטוריון הביקורת ועדת קביעת לפי  לצורך החברה״ ״רווחי המונח ,2008 במאי 29 מיו

 הכספיים בדוחות שמופיע כפי מס, לפני החברה של רווח - משמעו כאמור, השנתי הבונוס קביעת
ם חדי ם השנתיים המאו  מס לפני )הפסדים( הרווחים בניכוי השנה, לאותה החברה של המבוקרי
ם חסי ם ופחות המיעוט זכויות לבעלי המיו  )הפסדים( הרווחים של ניכוי ולאחר מס )לפני ההפסדי
ם חסי ם השנתיים הכספיים בדוחות שפורסמו כפי המיעוט( זכויות לבעלי המיו  השנים לכל המבוקרי

 למרות קודמות. שנים עבור זה מעין שנתי בונוס חישוב לצורך נוכו לא עדיין אשר ,2007 משנת החל
ש״ח. מיליון 18 של סך על יעלה לא החברה ונשיא למנכ״ל שיוענק השנתי הבונוס לעיל, האמור



קון לאור  בעלי אסיפת של מחדש לאישור כפוף הבונוס מנגנון ,1999התשנ״ט- החברות, לחוק 16 תי
החברה. של המניות

 ראש יישב שמעין. יצחקי מר לבין החברה ביו ההעסקה הסכם עיקרי פירוט להלן .2
החברה של הדירקטוריון

 מר 0ע העסקה בהסכם התקשרות החברה, של המניות בעלי אסיפת אישרה ,2002 דצמבר בחודש
 של בסך כוללת חודשית בעלות בחברה, ודירקטור* מנכ״ל כנשיא, בזמנו שימש אשר יצחקי, שמעון

ת כוללת זו עלות לצרכן. המחירים למדד צמוד ₪ 164,734  ברכב ושימוש מקובלות סוציאליות הטבו
ה ק  תפקידו מילוי במסגרת שיוצאו הוצאות להחזר זכאי יצחקי מר בנוסף, החברה. של מלאה באחז
תפקידו. למילוי מזמנו 90% לפחות יצחקי מר יקדיש ההסכם, פי על בחברה.
 בונוס תשלום החברה, של המניות בעלי של הכללית האסיפה אישרה ,2006 במאי 31 ביום בנוסף,
ם לשנת  עד החברה מרווחי i) 0.75%) :כדלקמן יחושב אשר החברה, דירקטוריון ליו״ר 2006 הכספי
ש״ח; מיליון 150ל- ש״ח מיליון 125 שבין בסך החברה מרווחי ii) 0.875%)ש״ח; מיליון 125 של לסך

ש״ח. מיליון 150 של סך על העולים החברה מרווחי iii) 1%)ו-
ם החברה ודירקטוריון הביקורת ועדת קביעת לפי  - משמעו החברה״ ״רווחי המונח 2008 במאי 29 מיו

ם השנתיים הכספיים בדוחות שמופיע כפי מס, לפני החברה של רווח חדי ם המאו  החברה של המבוקרי
ם מס לפני הרווחים)הפסדים( בניכוי השנה, לאותה חסי המיעוט. זכויות לבעלי המיו

בלבד. החברה דירקטוריון כיו״ר מכהן יצחקי מר ,2010 בינואר 1 מיום החל ^
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 הצפוי המזומנים תזרים
 שנתיים של לתקופה

ההסדר ממועד
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חדשים( <לים7ש )במיליוני 30.6.2015 - 30.6.2013 של ןופה7לת חזוי מזומנים תזרים

2015 שנת מחצית

138

101
13

2014 שנת

137

217
36

2013 שנת מחצית

171

86

מקורות
י" פתיחה יתרת

 מחדש"׳" ומימון ממימושיס תזרים
מלונות - שוטפת מפעילות תזרים

252 390 257 מקורות 3סה״

שימושים
42 41 48 מובטח"'' לבנק קרן תשלומי

4 12 15 מובטח לבנק ריבית תשלומי

12 24 12 חוב לאגרות ריבית תשלומי

20 140 25 השקעות

17 35 20 וכלליות הנהלה
95 252 120 שימושים סה״ב

157 138 137 סגירה יתרת שימושים

פלאזה. פארק של סחירים ני״ע וכן בנקאיות הלוואות ערבויות, בגין מוגבלים ו/או משועבדים מזומנים בניכוי (1)
 פעילות של מחדש ומימון בהודו החברה בפעילות למגורים דירות מכירת בלגיה, מלונות ממימוש תזרים כולל (2)

המלונות. חטיבת
 יימשך החוב הסדר ותהליך במידה .2013 ביוני 30 ליום עד יושלם בחברה החוב הסדר כי מניח האמור התזרים (3)

זו. בטבלה הכלולים המימושים ביצוע במועדי דחייה תיתכן זה, לתאריך מעבר
שלה. המקורי הסילוקין ללוח בהתאם הפועלים לבנק ההלוואה תשלום מניח המזומנים תזרים (4)
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 בשליש המזומנים תזרים
להסדר שקדמו השנים
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ELBiT t!V!AG!NG LTD.
CONSOHDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

December 31 

2  0  1 2  2 0  1 1  2 0  1 0  2  0  1 2

Convenience 

tran s ition  

(Note 2D)

(in thousand NtS) U.S.$'000

(550,323) (271,130) (305,313) (147,421)

(10,248) 63,283 3,992 (2,745)

194,924 (177,107) 328,795 52,216

- (3,376) (1.555) -

461,568 339,412 114,539 123,645

(9,930) (19,700) (2,324) (2,660)

(62,608) - (198,777) (16,771)

8,726 7,568 8,275 2,338

- - (5,739) -

18,497 39,691 27,632 4,955

2,737 (1,949) 12,416 733

(9,112) (7,662) 3,113 (2,441)

7,791 (12,630) 67,585 2,087

7,287 (8,240) (1,664) 1,952

(113,135) (403,624) (349,714) (30,307)

(105,691) 106,503 (33,610) (28,313)

42,989 69,397 (31,829) 11,516

(116,528) (279,564) (364,178) (31,216)

(32,096) 38,675 31,167 (8,598)

CASH  FLOW S FROM  OPERATtNG ACTtVUIES

Loss for the year from continued operations 
Income tax expenses (tax benefit) recognized in profit and loss 
Finance expenses (income) recognized in profit and loss 
Income tax paid in cash
Depreciation and amortization (including impairment)
Gain from fair value adjustment of investment property
Profit from realization of investments in subsidiaries (Appendix B)
Share in losses of associates, net
Profit from realization of assets and liabilities
Stock based compensation expenses
Other
Trade accounts receivables 
Receivables and other debit balances 
Inventories
Trading property and payment on account of trading property 
Suppliers and service providers 
Payables and other credit balances

Net cash used in operating activities of continuing operations 

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operating activities

(148,624) (240,889) (333,011) (39,814)Net cash used in operating activities



ELB!T !MAGtNG LTD.
CONSOLtDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

December 31 

2 0  1 2  2 0 1 1  2 0  1 0  2 0  1 2
Convenience  

translation 

(Note 2D)

(in thousand NIS) U.S.$'000

- (2,197) (5,173) -

(24,227) (34,410) (72,925) (6,490)

2,000 1,018 31,282 536

139,827 - (21,349) 37,457

(11,567) - (2,591) (3,099)

277,436 33,431 119,489 74,320

(29) 46,133 (11,925) (8)
37,542 65,375 57,239 10,057

- - (39,206) -
- - 47,207 -

154,943 45,051 50,576 41,506

(82,239) (46,325) (108,692) (22,030)

- (54,444) (62,431) -

62,511 333,136 (170,415) 16,746

556,197 386,768 (188,914) 148,995

1,289,831 (61,416) (178,463) 345,521

1,846,028 325,352 (367,377) 494,516

58,080 - - 15,559

- (56,772) - -

(184,342) (202,439) (30,002) (49,382)

(348,946) (390,442) (328,559) (93,476)

52,895 1,116,030 1,379,556 14,170

(770,898) (1,226,102) (923,753) (206,509)

59,040 222,543 45,834 15,816
- - 121,218 -

203,990 411,484 275,218 54,645

(255,175) (157,850) (131,160) (68,357)

(1,185,356) (283,548) 408,352 (317,534)

(584,789) (297,092) (39,991) (156,654)

(1,770,145) (580,640) 368,361 (474,188)

(72,741) (457,538) (332,027) (19,486)

602,292 1,040,797 1,508,301 161,343

5,519 57,672 (135,477) 1,478

CASH  FLO W S FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment in initially-consolidated subsidiaries (Appendix C) 
Purchase of property plant and equipment, investment property 

and other assets 
Proceeds from realization of property plant and equipment 
Proceeds from realization of investments in subsidiaries (Appendix 

B)
Investments in associates and other companies 
Proceed from realization of long-term deposits and long-term 

loans
Investment in long-term deposits and long-term loans
Interest received in cash
Investments in debt security
Proceeds from repayment of debt security
Proceed from sale of available for sale marketable securities
Purchase of available for sale marketable securities
Loans granted to a former subsidiary
Short-term deposits and marketable securities, net

Net cash provided by (used in) continued investing activities 

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued investing activities 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

CASH  FLOW S FROM FINANCING ACTiVITtES

Proceeds from re-issuance of debentures 
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest 
Repurchase of debentures and treasury stock 
Interest paid in cash 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 
Repayment of long-term borrowings 
Proceeds from selling derivatives
Proceeds from transactions with non-controlling interests, net 
Proceed from short-term credit 
Repayment of short-term credit

Net cash provided by (used in) continued financing activities 

Net cash used in discontinued financing activities 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Decrease in cash and cash equivatents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Net effect on cash due to currency exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 535,070 602,292 1,040,797



37 נספח

באשר דירקטוריון הסברי
 את שהביאו לנסיבות

הפיננסי למצב ההברה
הנובהי

C0&CFש!תי1 אח־׳!! !!ל חן בכר סישר B



הנוכחי הפיננסי למצבה החברה את שהביאו לנסיבות הדירקטוריוו הסברי

 תוך נכסיה, של ומימוש השבחה פיתוח, ייזום, של (Cycles) במעגלים מאופיינת אלביט קבוצת של פעילותה

ם כן, ועל ערך, הצפת ם תזרי מני מה על רבה, במידה מתבסס, החברה של המזו תא  מעגל השלמת עיתוי בין ה

ש ההשבחה קין. לוחות לבין והמימו הסילו

ם תזרים לייצר מנת על פעלה החברה ההסדר להצעת שקדמה בתקופה  תכניותיה פי על החוב לשירות מזומני

מי ביחס הן תכניותיה מרכיבי במרבית בהצלחה עמדה החברה פעילותה שנות במהלך העסקיות.  המימוש לסכו
כסדרם. לנושיה חובותיה כל את החברה פרעה ,2012 שנת סוף עד ואכן, למועדיהם. ביחס והן

ת: למצוקה אלביט נקלעה בשליטתה, שאינם ונסיבות, אירועים של הצטברות עקב ,2013 שנת בתחילת  תזרימי

ם השווקים מצב בשל הן כלכליים, בערכים נכסים לממש בקושי נתקלה החברה  עיכובים בשל והן הבינלאומיי

ת בקצב  בקבלת עיכובים ובכללן, נסיבות מצירוף כתוצאה השאר, בין נבע, זה קושי פרויקטים. התקדמו

ת ובמימוש היתרים מון מדיניות בהקשחת וכן תכנון, רשויות החלטו ם ידי על המי ת בנקי מוסדו ם ו  )הן פיננסיי

ם כלפי מי מון לגבי רוכשים( כלפי והן יז החברה. של פעילותה בתחום פרויקטים מי

ם נקטה החברה מה במסגרתם חוב, או הון לגיוס מהלכי מון השקעה גופי עם מגעים קיי מי  ומובילים. גדולים ו

ם מקורות לייצר החברה של אלו מהלכיה גם ברם, מיי ש ידי על בין חלופיים, תזרי ם מימו  של משמעותיים נכסי
בקשיים. נתקלו לחברה, חדש חוב או הון גיוס באמצעות ובין החברה

קי של התנגדותם בשל כי העובדה, נוספה לעיל הנזכרים לקשיים  חלוקת נמנעה סנטרס פלאזה של האג״ח מחזי

 אגרות של הדירוג הורדות בנוסף, אלביט(. )חלק ש״ח מיליון 100כ- של בסך לאלביט, סנטרס מפלאזה דיבידנד

ט של החוב ת, הדירוג חברות ידי על אלבי מיו  את עוד וצמצמו המימון, קשיי את הן אף החמירו המקו
החברה. של הפעולה אפשרויות

ם נקטה החברה לעיל, כאמור  את לממש מנת על יתממשו, שחלקם בכך היה שדי ומגוונים, רבים במהלכי

 גרמה בשליטתה, שאינם ונסיבות, אירועים של חריגה הצטברות ואולם, התחייבויותיה. את ולפרוע תכניותיה

ת למצוקה לחברה מי רי  הלך החברה תכניות שמימוש לכך הביאו אלה כל תכניותיה. של ולשיבוש קשה תז

קי ;אתגרי ונעשה ת הסכמה לכלל הבשילו לא החברה נקטה בהם שונים פעולה אפי  ;פרי הניבו ולא מסחרי

ם וקרבו, הלכו החברה חובות פירעון מועדי ומנגד,  סימני גילו לא החברה פועלת בהם הרלוונטיים והשווקי

 החברה את הביא זה מקביל תהליך התמונה. את לשנות כדי בו שיש מגמה שינוי על שיאותתו התאוששות

 טווח, ארוך משמעותי, עומק פתרון שיהווה חוב, הסדר לגיבוש עתה מלפעול מנוס אין כי מסקנה, לכלל

תה שאילו אפשר החברה, של נכסיה היקף נוכח אמנם, ולמצבה. החברה של לחובותיה  מציעה החברה הי

ה נכסים ת הנמוכים במחירים למכירה מנכסי תי  לעמוד לחברה לאפשר כדי בכך היה משוויים, מהו

בויותיה  אשר ערך, אבדן לחברה גורם היה שכזה מימוש נכסיה, מאפייני בשל ואולם, הקצר, בטווח בהתחיי
 הבינוני בטווח נושיה כלפי בהתחייבויותיה לעמוד ליכולתה והן לחברה הן חמור לנזק גורם דבר של בסופו היה

 ארגון תוך ומושכל, נכון בניהול אשר ממש, של ופוטנציאל שווי בעלי נכסים בידיה כי סבורה, החברה והארוך.

היה ניתן שלה, החוב מבנה של מחדש נושיה. כלל ולטובת לטובתה בהם, הגלום הפוטנציאל מלוא את לממש י



ם מעגל במסגרת כי יוזכר, זה בהקשר ם של שורה לאחר פעילותה, של הייזו שי ם מוצלחים, מימו מי  בידי קיי
ם החברה ם אלה נכסים רב. ערך פוטנציאל בעלי נכסי ם פיתוח בשלבי ברובם מצויי קדמי ם וחלקם מו  בני אינ

ם שבהן במדינות ואחרות רגולטוריות מגבלות עקב היתר, בין זה, בשלב ריאלי מימוש נכסים. אותם נמצאי

מאוזן, ראוי חוב הסדר גיבוש מחייבת ונושיה החברה טובת כי סבורה, החברה דבר, של כללו  להביא בו שיהא ו

ם ה ערך להציף יכולתה למקסו ת בפעילותה להמשיך לה ולאפשר מנכסי הארוך. בטווח העסקי



38 נספח

 נתתי על ההסדר השפעת
 לל33ו הכספיים הדוחות

העצמי וההון הרווה על זה

שרבכר Co&CFB!ש)תי אח־׳!! חל ח! סי



 הדמיה אלביט
31.12.2012

: החוב דר0לה המ)צע המתחה עיקרי להל[
ב כל (1 ת )דהיינו- החברה של מובטח הבלתי הפיננסי החו ב אגרו  ל: ׳!מר לאומי(, מבנק והלוואה החו

שר מניות ת מהון 86% יהוו א ה של והנפרע המונפק המניו ר חב ת ה ח הנ  להביא )מבלי מלא דילול ב
ת כמפורט שונות, אופציות בחשבו) תכני דר(.0הה ב

ת (2 ת חוב אגרו שו סף חד ת ריבית נושאות , ₪ מיליון 300 של ב תי  על שתשולם 8% של בשיעור שנ
ה ואשר שנתי, חצי 0י0ב דנ שלום לפירעון תעמו חד בת ם א עד שנים 5 בתו מו דר.0הה ביצוע מ

ת (3 ב ואגרות המניו ת החו שו ב בעלי כל בי[ יוקצו החד ב ליתרת י0יח באופן , מובטח הבלתי החו  )פארי( החו
שלהם.

( החברה של העצמי  ttnnt ׳ על המ)צע ההסדר השפעת הרחח על זה )!בכלל הכספיים הד)חות נתת

לי)ם יתרה
לאחר יתרה בדצמבר 31

דר0הה 2012

501,074

₪באלפי ₪באלפי
ת בו י חי ת לז״ק ה

 22,799 ^ אג״ח בגי[ לשלם ריבית
 הלוואת בגי[ לשלם ריבית

ת חלויות טפו  426,012 בגי[ שו
ק הלוואת 52,262 לאומי בנ

ת בו י חי ת לז״א ה
סדר אג״ח בה 1,818,243 לז״א ש
ח ה סדרה אג ש 300,000 _______- חד

300,000 1,818,243

עצמי הח

2,328,926 309,606 הרוב חלק עצמי הו[

עוט חלק עצמי ה!ן  1,115,023 המי

1,424,629 עצמי הו[ ה"כ0

1,115,023

3,443,949


		2013-05-09T17:12:18+0000
	IsaSig 4 Client




